




India enjoys dual distinction – it is both the world's largest milk producer and the world's largest milk consumer, with world's largest 

dairy herd, comprised of water buffalo and indigenous and crossbred cattles. India is attaining its past glory and is once again 

becoming DOODH KA SAGAR.

Kwality Limited is contributing considerable transformation of Indian Dairy System by application of scienti�c production 

techniques. Since Milk has become part of the food basket in the Indian economy, the demand for dairy products in India is growing 

signi�cantly, driven by more consumers, higher incomes and greater interest in nutrition, we have much to contribute. 

We are gearing up to tap and capture the market Consumption of processed and packaged dairy products, revamping itself to 

emerge as a best-in-class consumer-Dairy in India with rigorous International Standards and also contributing for alleviating the 

poverty and unemployment especially in the rural areas in the rain-fed and drought-prone regions. 

We are tuning our extended strategies to procure milk directly from Milk Producers to reduce dependency on the unorganised 
sector of milkmen and vendors, who currently handles around 65-70% of the national milk production. This way Kwality Limited is 
dedicated and contributing its due share in National Dairying Programme, reducing role of the unorganized sector - who specializes 
in selling sub-standard, unpasteurised milk more often than not adulterated with harmful chemicals.

We, being an organized Indian Dairy, are exploring to manufacture of new varieties of traditional Indian milk based sweets in near 
future, which are presently restricted to certain areas only but can go national. 

PROTEIN KI SHAKTI

KWALITY LIMITED - A FUTURE FULL OF PROMISES AND FULFILMENT
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COMPANY AT A GLANCE
Kwality Limited, a public limited company, was incorporated on August 21, 1992, under the Companies Act, 1956 with the name 
Kwality Dairy (India) Limited. The name of the Company was lateron changed to Kwality Limited. The Equity Shares are listed 
on BSE and NSE. 

Presently the Company is having owned & leased six milk processing units in UP, Haryana & Rajasthan with 29 fully operating milk 
chilling centres. The Softa manufacturing plant at Palwal (Haryana) is a state of Art plant, equipped with all modern techniques, 
dedicated primarily to the production and manufacture of value added Dairy Products.
 
The Company is having 4.3 Mn Litres/day Milk Handling Capacity across six plants. Our most modern Plant at Softa has a milk 
handling capacity of approx. 9 lakh litres per day for the production of various value added Dairy Products which includes 
Flavoured Milk, UHT Milk & Cream among others. Recently, the Company has launched new products like Flavoured Milk 
and Thandai.

Kwality Limited believes that Customer satisfaction is supreme, who is rightfully entitled for Quality Dairy Products.  In furtherance 
thereto, the Kwality Limited is simultaneously increasing the direct procurement of milk from farmers, which forms the maximum 
part of the total milk purchased by the Company while residual being sourced from third party aggregators, who are strictly 
complying with quality standards �xed by Kwality Limited, which are alike to International Standards, to ensure Dairy Products of 
International standards. 
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OUR VISION AND MISSION 
OUR VISION IS TO BECOME A GLOBAL LEADER IN DAIRY FOOD BUSINESS AND 

TO BE CONNECTED TO MILLIONS OF HEARTS.

We are committed to achieve our Mission by manufacturing Consumer safe Products of 
High International Quality Standards with continuous improvements through Research & 

Developments at competitive rates.

PRODUCT PORTFOLIO

KWALITY LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN'S MESSAGE 

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna 
Chairman

World over, dairy is serving over 7 billion consumers, providing livelihoods for approximately 1 billion people. Reformist Policies of  
Government of India has strengthened the progress path of the Dairies in India. Over the past decade, India has seen a substantial 
rise in per capita income and purchasing power parity and more accessible Dairy market.

Indians are becoming more health and product conscious, embracing milk-based products for health related matters. The 
increasing preference for value-added milk products has also fueled demand for milk production. Aging population in India view 
milk as a vital protein source and approximately 29% of the India's 1.2B population is vegetarian, makes milk and milk-based 
products highly sought-after sources of protein. 

As the world leader in milk production, India's imports are minimal. In 2017-18, India exported 39,556.55 MT of Dairy products worth 
an estimated Rs. 94,202.38 Lakh to major export destinations namely Bangladesh, Pakistan, UAE, Singapore and Nepal. India's 
share in the global milk trade has historically been low, due to limited quantity available for exports, after accounting for domestic 
demand; regular bans on export of high-volume products like milk powder by the Government and uncompetitive pricing of Indian 
Dairy products in global markets.

According to the latest statistics published by the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), per capita milk 
consumption has reached 85 kg or 2.2 times the 1980 level, indicating forward growth going. The Indian Government has predicted 
that milk consumption in FY 2023 (April 2023-March 2024) will be 1.7 times higher than the FY 2015.

Indian Dairy farming is manifested in low productivity. An International comparison based on FAO statistics shows that milk 
production per head of cattle per day amounts to 27.8  kg in the  United  States and 22.5 kg in Japan (2014), compared with just   4.0 
kg for a Dairy cow and 5.2 kg for a buffalo in India. Longer term growth in the country's milk production sector will depend largely on 
herd restructuring. To keep pace with future growth in demand, the Indian Dairy Industry needs to improve productivity on priority. 
Productivity improvement measures under National Action Plan for Dairy Development include the introduction of exotic cows, 
cross breeding and the improvement of nutrition and hygiene of folk. The Plan aims to increase daily output per cow to 7.1 kg by FY 
2023.

Dear Shareholders,
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Sincerely, 
Dr. RATTAN SAGAR KHANNA 
Chairman 

Between December 2016 and December 2017, international price of SMP slumped by 20% and now stands at 1800 US$ per
ton from a high of 2850 US$ per ton in March 2016. The comparative price of AMF fell by 10% and now stands at 3485 US$ per Ton. 
The prices have reached a low level equilibrium, lowest compared to past many years. The slump in international prices is essentially 
due to reduction in imports by few major consuming countries in the world. China, the world's biggest Dairy importer, imported 
40% less this year. The traditional large importer, Russia, reduced imports by 30%. Reduction in World trade of Dairy commodities 
had a cascading effect on the major exporting countries, leading to reduction in producer prices of milk. Reports indicate that in 
New Zealand, milk prices paid to their milk producers declined by 40% during past 2 years and in EU milk prices to the producers fell 
by 25% during the above period. Many countries and Governments are devising innovative ways to handle the crisis. Indian 
Government has also accelerated steps to provide Rs.  8,000 Crore (US$ 1.2 Billion) budgetary supports during �nancial year 2018-
19, to improve dairies and economy of Milk Producers and to adopt modern technologies for improving quality of Milk and Milk 
Products.

The Company has evolved massive infrastructure to encompass systems and processes, designed to safely transport and sustain 
Dairy products and to create better market linkages. This trend is indicative of the tremendous future opportunity for our Company.

The company has transparent strategy, a strong vision, robust values and a team of experienced employees. We are progressing 
systematically to achieve our Goals by sticking to our strategy and continuing to invest for modernisation of our plants as also our 
existing leading brands. Our devout readiness to proactively reshape our business to cope with new challenges will de�nitely result 
in sustained growth and long-term value creation for everyone associated with the Company. 

Kwality takes quality and food safety very seriously all along the supply chain. Every product has to pass very stringent quality 
standards before being released for the market. The reality is that At Kwality we treasure this trust always and every time.

Our Success lies in having our strong bonds with the Milk Producers, Our Employees, Dealers, Distributors, Ultimate Consumers and 
�nally the Investors. This role foundation is writing success stories for Kwality Limited in short span and shall continue to write new 
success stories in future to grow further in Dairy Sector. We will continue our whole hearted support for social upliftment initiatives 
for Milk Producers, affirmation for checks on adverse environmental impacts, modernization of Units and Employees safety, apart 
from continuous suppor t to Milk Producers by providing affordable Animal feed and veterinar y ser vices. 
We are con�dent to continue our success journey with transition in our business mix and business sustainability. 

I thank all my Stakeholders, who always stood by us not only in journey of value creation but also in hard times of crisis.

KWALITY LIMITED
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REVIEW BY THE MANAGING DIRECTOR 

Sanjay Dhingra
Managing Director

Dear Shareholders,

Kwality Limited is not just a Dairy Company but a Corporate entity with integrated business model and strong R&D capabilities, 
having a strong backend of milk procurement process, strong bonding relations with grass root level Milk Producers and armed with 
pioneering Dairy products of Commendable quality emerging ahead of any competition. It is fast emerging largest Private Sector 
Dairy of India, developing Dairy products through innovation, with International standards in India. With cutting-edge technology, 
the Company is expanding its geographic presence and adding to its existing Products range, emphasizing for health and nutrients, 
transforming rapidly towards B2C business by successfully executing corporate strategies.  

The year gone by had been extremely challenging for the Company. During the year under report, your Company attained
consolidated growth of 6.49% due to initiatives contribution of all Stakeholders and blessings of esteem Customers. The business of 
Company has attained new heights touching Rs. 73326 mn. The Company achieved growth 14.83% of EBITDA 
from Rs. 4673 mn in FY 2016-17 to Rs.5366 mn in FY 2017-18. On the front of Pro�ts, there is marginal dent, which is resultant of some 
external constraints beyond control. This happens in general during transition period of an Institution, which will be overcome in 
current �nancial year with immense support from our valued Stakeholders.

The Dairy scenario, in the year under report, remained different compared to past many years. India is no exception, events in other 
countries affected our country too. There has been a global meltdown in the agricultural commodity prices during the year 
including milk. As per FAO annual food price indices, Dairy price index has slumped in 2017 over 2016, highest among all agricultural 
commodity prices. The Food Price index has declined by 19%. This had an adverse impact upon our Export business and also on the 
performance of our Dubai based fully owned Subsidiary.

You are aware that between December 2016 and December 2017, international price of SMP slumped by 20% and now stands at 
1800 USD per ton from a high of 2850 USD per ton in March 2016. The comparative price of AMF fell by 10% and now stands at 3485 
USD per Ton. The prices have reached a low level symmetry, lowest compared to past many years. The slump in international prices is 
basically resultant of high reduction in imports by few major consuming countries in the world. China, the world's biggest Dairy 
importer, imported 40% less this year. The traditional large importer, Russia, reduced imports by 30%. Reduction in World trade of 
Dairy commodities had a cascading effect on the major exporting countries, leading to reduction in producer prices of milk. Reports 
indicate that in New Zealand, milk prices paid to their milk producers declined by 40% during past 2 years and in EU milk prices fell by 
25% during the said period. This decrease in demand for Dairy products, coupled with continued production growth between 2015 
and 2017 in key export markets, resulted in total output of milk increasing in Australia (4%), the European Union (2%), New Zealand 
(5%) and the United States (1%).  This International trend had also impacted upon your Company, but we are con�dent to emerge as 
a stronger Dairy Company very shortly.
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Sincerely yours, 
SANJAY DHINGRA 
Managing Director 

Your Company is presently tied up with temporary �nancial crunch, due to delay in release/ disbursement of enhanced 
working Capital by a few of the Consortium Member Banks, though modernised plant is fully functional. The situation has 
further been aggravated due to blocking of a part of already sanctioned working Capital by a few of the Consortium Members, 
which hindered day to day working of the Company. The �nancial constraints are further fuelled by default/ delay in repayment 
by Company's Debtors. Thus, paucity of working funds is prime reason affecting performance of the Company. This is a �eeting 
stage being faced by the Company and Company Management is devoutly committed to have holistic approach to come out 
of this phase and take the Company to new heights of success.

Tackling challenges, managing risks and controls are an integral part of the business planning of the Company. Challenges and 
risks ahead have been identi�ed by the Company across all key functional levels – both strategic and operational, which 
commenced from Milk Procurement, Processing and Quality control to the ultimate point of sale. The ironic mix experience of 
both Management and Operations Teams of Kwality Limited foresee emerging inland and foreign trends and to cope with 
product requirements and to grab challenges and frame short-term and long-term strategies for constant growth. 

As an initial measure, to stabilize existing �nancial crisis, the Company has already initiated warranted processes for bringing 
funds shortly in the system. 

The Management is of the opinion that broad strategies for quality and safe Dairy Products may play vital role in capitalizing 
the future opportunities in market. The mounting demands for different Dairy Products have mammoth Scope of expanding 
the range of value-added new Dairy Products.

Empowering consumers is our �rst moto. We strongly focus on understanding the changing lifestyles, the sprouting needs and 
changes in dietary preferences to develop our products suiting to Customers. Future success of Company lies in Customer 
centric approach only. Kwality assure that at all stages of the manufacturing, it ensures that only those products go out for 
sale to Consumers which are safe, nutritious and of high quality as the 'Kwality' name itself connotes the 'Guarantee of Quality'.

The wellbeing of the community from where we draw our raw materials is signi�cant for us. Their Prosperity and happiness 
are our dreams at the heart. Management approach to business is to create Shared Value - prosperity for the Milk Producers, 
while delivering long term shareholder value. In this furtherance and for their bene�ts, the Company has entered into MOUs 
with a few of the Consortium member Banks for arranging hassle free Cheapest Loans to village women and Farm Less 
Farmers without margin money, Guarantee and Collaterals etc. This is in view to increase direct procurement of milk having 
less dependency upon Intermediaries. In addition to above, the Company is also arranging Cheap Loans through IDBI Bank 
for establishment of chain of Milk Chilling Centres and purchase of Milk Vans to genuine constituents, having long association 
with the Company. 

Indian market is complex blending with its traditional knowledge and values with new modernity and demands a very 
resourceful multifaceted supply chain con�guration. The product portfolio of your Company needs to be supported by 
augmented innovation and makeover to stay relevant to the emergent distinguished needs of the consumers. 

Company's emphasis on uprightness, reliability and transparency has translated into the fundamental bond of Trust 
amongst its wholesome Customers with its unique state-of-the-art manufacturing facilities, efficient supply chain, 
sales automation coupled with extensive reach and reportage in its target markets, is the foundation of our intense 
relationships with Customers. The core of Kwality is its vision to provide its Customers with both taste and nutrition 
and we are able to achieve this because of intensive Research and technology developments for years together to 
tackle this challenge. We have engaged internationally reputed consultancy �rm 'Ernest & Young' to support Company's 
endeavor to ensure that warranted transformation is applied seamlessly. At a time when the external outlook does not 
appear promising, it is important that all stakeholders work together to safeguard the interests both of domestic Milk 
Producers and the Company.

The Management at Kwality solemnly affirm its sole commitment to serve not only India but globally with your 
extended hands of cooperation, as hitherto.

I conclude by thanking our work force who contributes hard at all level in achieving business goals. I also thank for 
innumerable support and cooperation extended by Stakeholders, Bankers and Lenders of the Company.

KWALITY LIMITED
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COMMITMENTS AND CREATING TRUST WITH MILK PRODUCERS : 

Company is committed to provide �nancial access to small Milk Producers by eliminating Non- Institutional �nance, 
who charge very high returns on �nance with practice of keeping land under mortgage as security.

Accordingly, Kwality Limited signed a historic MOU with Bank of Baroda on January 20, 2017, with an outlay of Rs. 4000 
Crores to be distributed by Bank of Baroda to small Milk Producers. Under the MOU, the role of Kwality Limited has 
to identify the genuine bene�ciary i.e. Milk Producer, having association with the Company for atleast 3 months. Loan 
upto Rs. 4 Lakh is being sanctioned to Milk Producers for purchase of 4 Milch Animals @ Rs. 75,000 per cattle, Rs. 10000 for 
purchase of Smart Phone for effective communications and Rs. 90,000 for purchase of Vehicle for milk transportation, 
without any margin money, Guarantors and collateral security, only and only against hypothecation of assets 
purchased. The Loan is repayable in three years bearing interest as low as 8.6% per annum. No processing charges are 
charged from Milk Producers and bene�t of comprehensive insurance of hypothecated assets is extended so that in 
case of death of cattle, the Milk Producer is compensated by Insurance Company.

A similar MOU has been entered into with IDBI Bank Limited on 13.12.2017, wherein, Loans of adequate quantity for 
establishment of Milk Collection Centres with necessary equipments and purchase of Transport Vehicles, to persons, 
having long association with the Company. 

This sort of unique arrangement has been arranged by Kwality Limited to increase direct procurement of fresh 
Milk of quality for its esteem customers.

In this regard we are also practicing transparent purchase system by testing milk quality at Collection centre through 
automated machines besides educating Milk Producers for improving milk productivity, health care of cattles; balanced 
cattle feed with nutritious ingredients and other �elds of Dairy. Our aim is to ensure atleast 50% direct procurement 
of milk from Milk Producers in next few years.

DIFFERENTIATED QUALITY DAIRY PRODUCTS:

Strongly believing in Innovative approaches and continuous Research & Developments, we are in process of becoming 
best-in-class Dairy Products manufacturer with global standards for our esteem Consumers. We are steadily progressing 
in this direction by adopting international standards from procurement of Milk to �nal Dairy products for Customers' 
consumption. 

The Company has invested huge amounts in updation of technology and modern most sophisticated ultra-modern 
new Unit at Softa plant which is now operational to manufacture world class quality Dairy Products. The Company has applied 
for NABL Certi�cation to National Accreditation Board apart from other certi�cations.

INTELLECTUAL ASSETS:
Kwality Limited is supported by a team of 1150 devoted intellectual members, absolutely dedicated for the growth 
of the Company, with transition from B2B to B2C. The Company is hiring best talents from leading Companies in 
Dairies & FMCG Industries to further strengthen our Human Resources to meet future necessities. 

The Company has an extensive sales and retail network of more than 60,000 retail outlets (approximately) spread 
across Northern India to cater to retail consumers. The Company commences several marketing and promotional 
activities to promote brands and increase sales of its products voluminously. Company's marketing initiatives include 
advertising in print and electronic media, promoting its brands through tie-ups and outdoor promotional activities 
directed at retail consumers. The products are sold through select modern trade stores and E- commerce platforms 
like Big Basket and Grocers. 

-9-
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
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SHAREHOLDING PATTERN 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

GLOBAL VIS-A-VIS INDIAN ECONOMY OVER VIEW IN DAIRYING PROSPECTS:

In 2017, global economic growth is estimated to have reached 3.0 per cent, a signi�cant acceleration compared to growth of
just 2.4 per cent in 2016, and the highest rate of global growth recorded since 2011. Labour market indicators continue to 
improve in a broad spectrum of countries, and roughly two-thirds of countries worldwide experienced stronger growth in 
2017 than in the previous year. At the global level, growth is expected to remain steady at 3.0 per cent in 2018 and 2019.

Acceleration in world gross product growth stems predominantly from �rmer growth in several developed economies, although 
East and South Asia remain the world's most dynamic regions. Cyclical improvements in Argentina, Brazil, Nigeria and the Russian 
Federation, as these economies emerge from recession, also explain roughly a third of the rise in the rate of global growth between 
2016 and 2017.  Recent economic gains remain unevenly distributed across countries and regions, and many parts of the world have 
yet to regain a healthy rate of growth. Economic prospects for many commodity exporters remain challenging, underscoring the 
vulnerability to boom and bust cycles in countries that are overly reliant on a small number of natural resources. Moreover, the 
longer-term potential of the global economy carries a scar from the extended period of weak investment and low productivity 
growth that followed the global �nancial crisis.

With Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth averaging 7.5 per cent between 2014- 15 and 2016-17, India can be rated as among   the 
best performing economies in the world on this parameter. The broad story   of India's GDP growth to be signi�cantly higher than 
most economies of the world. The growth is around 4 percentage points higher than global growth average of last 3 years and nearly 
3 percentage points more than the average growth achieved by emerging market & developing economies (EMDE).

IIndia is the world's seventh-largest economy, sitting between France and Italy. Its GDP growth  recently dipped to 5.7%;still, India is 
growing faster than any other large economy except for China. By 2050, India's economy is 'projected to be the worlds second-
largest, behind only China.

Being seventh-largest country in the world, housing over 1.25  Billion human population, India is the world's second-most populous 
country. Currently India is the world's largest producer and consumer of milk accounting for 19% of the world milk production and 
consisting of about 57 % of world buffalo and 16% of world cattle population. According to the livestock census 2012, the country 
has 133.2 million adult female cattle and buffalo and 88.35 million in milk cattle and buffaloes. The average productivity of in milk 
cattle and buffalo in the country is about 4.65 Kg PD (2015-16) which is far below as compared to the productivity levels of In-milk 
animals in dairy developed nations. In 2012 the average productivity of cows in Israel was 38 Kg PD, in the US 32 Kg PD, in Canada 29 
Kg PD, in Denmark 28 Kg PD, in the Netherlands 25 Kg PD and in France 22 Kg PD which is the result of implementation of systematic 
genetic improvement programmes for longer period of time.

Government of India projected a GDP growth of 6.75%to 7.50% in 2017-18 and projected real GDP growth in 2016-17 at 6.5 per cent. 
The growth rate for the agriculture and allied sectors is estimated to be 4.1 per cent for 2016-17 which indicates modest pick-up as 
compared to previous year. Livestock contributes to about 25% of Agriculture & Allied GDP. Milk accounts for about 67% of total 
value of output from livestock.

Dairying plays a major role in Indian rural economy, which is more than a business with broader social and economic dimensions.  
About 70 million rural households are engaged in dairying, one  of every two rural households with women playing  a  vital role.  The 
livestock sector contributes signi�cantly to rural income- about 26 % in case of the poorest households and about 12% in case of 
overall rural income. Further, animal holding has been found to be more equitable as compared to land holding as 85% of the Indian 
farmers, who are marginal and small own only 45% of farm land but 75% of bovines.

Milk  production  in India  has come a long way over the years from a low volume of 17 Million MT in 1951 to 163.7 million MT in 2016-
17. Currently India is the world's largest producer and consumer of milk accounting for 19% of the world milk production.

The Indian dairy sector is characterised more by 'production by masses' than 'mass production'. Unlike leading milk producing 
countries in the world, large proportion (95%) of milk producers in the country hold 1 to 5 animals per household.

The milk production is envisaged to be 254.55 Million MT by 2021-22 and 300 Million MT by 2023-24 from existing 163.7 Million MT 
at a CAGR of 9.2% under National Action Plan for Dairy. Milk production of 300 MMT would lead to increase in per capita availability 
of milk from current level of 352 grams per day to 515 grams per day in 2021-22 and 592 grams per day in 2023-24 addressing the 
substantial nutritional requirement of human diet.

KWALITY LIMITED
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Post 1991, in the era of reform in industrial licensing, the private sector companies have made an impressive growth in building 
capacities for processing milk and milk derivatives. They made large investment in dairy sector creating capacities which 
surpassed the combined capacity of the dairy cooperatives and the Government Dairies in past 20 years. Private Sector 
functions purely on commercial lines with an aim to earn maximum pro�t; the social responsibility towards farmer's 
development is largely affected. The Private Players prefer to procure milk through vendors affecting the farmer's getting 
remunerative price.

Your Company, though in private sector, has not opted Pro�t earnings as sole aim but to contribute for Milk Producers at large. 

CHALLENGES FOR DAIRY SECTORS:
Some of the major challenges being faced by Indian Dairy sector are given below:

Low Productivity of Indian bovine

Imbalanced feeding to animals

Limited access of milk producers to organized sector

Age old infrastructure operating on obsolete technology

Lack of organized credit system

Lack of manufacturing facilities for Value Added Products.

Lack of efficient chilling infrastructure at village level

Lack of penetration in smaller cities/ towns in terms of milk marketing

Lack of efficient cold chain distribution network.

-13-
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COMPANY OVERVIEW
Kwality Limited , one of the Largest and Fastest growing Dairy Company in Private Sector, was  incorporated on August 21, 1992, as 
a public limited company, with the name Kwality Dairy (India) Limited. Mr. Sanjay Dhingra current Promoter acquired it in the 
year 2002. The Company is continuing to grow under 'Business Transformation' initiatives to become Best-in- Class, with Global 
standard compliant company. 

COMPANY'S STRENGTHS & NEW ORBIT OF GROWTH:

 1.  Differentiated product portfolio: we have differentiated our product portfolio, catering to institutional customers as also retail 
consumers. Our product portfolio sold to institutional customers comprises of dairy-based ingredients, such as skimmed milk 
powder & whole milk powder, which are used in the production of milk and food products, and to retail consumers comprises of  
products in the following categories: milk – pouched milk, bulk milk  skimmed milk; milk powders – skimmed milk powder, whole 
milk powder and dairy whiteners; curd and buttermilk, pouched curd, ghee – pure ghee, cow ghee, low cholesterol ghee and bulk 
butter; and value-added products – UHT milk, �avored milk and cream tetra-packs.

2. Widespread procurement network and established relationships with farmers: Milk is the key raw material for 
manufacturing operations and a continued and sustained availability of good quality milk at competitive prices is essential to the 
growth of Company's business. Company believes in its widespread milk procurement network and established relationships with 
farmers and third party aggregators enabaling it to obtain a regular supply of quality raw milk. Company's supply chain comprises of 
procurement from third-party aggregators, as well as direct procurement from approximately [350,000] farmers through its 
procurement network. Company procures a signi�cant portion of the raw milk required for operations from certain contract milk 
suppliers. The Company is procuring [26] % and [74] %, respectively, of its milk requirements directly from farmers, with the 
remainder in each period being sourced from third-party aggregators. Direct procurement network comprises of village level 
collection centres, village service providers automated milk collection units and [29] milk chilling centres, located across 4700 
villages in Rajasthan, Haryana and Uttar Pradesh. The automated milk collection units at the village level evaluate the quality of the 
milk and provide transparency to the pricing of milk purchased by us. Our average daily milk procurement for the �nancial year 
2017-18 was 3.5 million litres per day.

3.  In addition, to boost the direct milk sourcing program, the company entered a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with 
IDBI Bank Limited, wherein IDBI shall extend credit facilities to medium and large milk producers IDBI will also support the 
establishment of Milk Chilling Center's/Milk Processing Units. Also, entered a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Bank of 
Baroda, wherein the bank would extend credit facilities for small scale dairy farmers, where each farmer would get maximum loan of 
Rs.4 lac to help them develop in three key areas which would enable the farmer to meet the milk requirement. These initiatives will 
enable the company to increase direct procurement of milk from 26% to 50 % in the next three years' time.

4.  Strong brand and distribution network in key markets: An extensive sales and distribution network, covers 60K plus retail 
outlets spread across select states in North India. Strong brand presence and extensive sales and distribution network in the NCR, 
Rajasthan, Uttar Pradesh and Haryana enable the Company to cater to diverse customer requirements and grow business 
effectively.

5.  Modern production facilities with emphasis on quality: The Company owns and operate [two] milk processing facilities, one 
in Uttar Pradesh and the other in Haryana. In addition, the Company utilizes [four] milk processing facilities, with one located in 
Rajasthan and three located in Uttar Pradesh, on a [leasehold basis].  Presently the company had an aggregate milk processing 
capacity of [4.3] million litres per day across its owned and leased processing facilities, endeavouring to implement high quality 
standards at milk processing facilities and is committed to ensuring consumer safety at all stages i.e.,  procurement, processing and 
production cycle.

6.  The Company has received several quality certi�cations for our products and production facilities, including certi�cation 
from FSSAI for milk and cream, skimmed milk powder, butter, curd, butter milk and ghee, the AGMARK quality certi�cation from the 
Government of India for ghee, and the ISI quality mark from the Government of India for skimmed milk powder and whole milk 
powder. The Company regularly tests its products for shelf life, longevity and overall quality under a wide range of environmental 
conditions. In order to produce and process quality milk products at international standards, Company's standards for food safety 
are based on codex standards for hazard analysis and critical control points (“HACCP”) to ensure safe and quality products for 
consumers. The Company has also, obtained ISO 22000:2005 and HACCP-IS: 15000 certi�cations. 

7. Quali�ed, Skilled and Experienced Management Team: Existing Management Team of quali�ed and experienced 
professionals enables the Company to identify new avenues of growth facilitating to implement business strategies in an efficient 
manner and to continue to enhance product offerings. 

KWALITY LIMITED
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8. The Company focus on research and development to distinguish products from its key competitors, enabling to introduce new value-added 
products based on consumer preferences and demand.

9. The Company has endeavoured to grow its sales to retail consumers in recent years. Revenue from sales to retail consumers 
constitutes 42% for �nancial years 2017-18, as compare to 40% for 2016-17 respectively. The Company is concentrating its focus on 
growing  retail products business and enhance distribution network with an emphasis on modern trade channels such as super-
markets and hyper-markets as well as  online platforms and concept stores, home delivery agent networks, hyper-local online 
delivery services, which are targeted at retail consumers.

10. The Company has engaged reputed agencies to develop advertisements, to manage public relations and social marketing and 
to undertake extensive consumer and market research, in order to gauge the various aspects of a product and plan marketing 
campaigns, accordingly.

The company is progressing well on the de�ned path of business transformation from B2B to B2C. The Company is targeting to 
achieve 70% of the total revenue from B2C segment in the next three years' time

MANUFACTURING UNIT
The Company has to its credit six Milk Processing Units in UP, Haryana & Rajasthan with 29 milk chilling centres. A new Unit at 
Softa [Haryana] has become fully operational, dedicated primarily to the production and manufacture of value added Dairy 
Products only.
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RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT 
The Company is committed to serve its customers with best of the best Dairy Products and to achieve this generously; the Company 
has invested huge funds for Research & Development Activities with world class infrastructure. Technologically advanced and well 
equipped Laboratories are contributing and dedicated for quality control and new products innovation. A Team of Experts and 
Researchers are intensively involved in creation of fresh products of international standards.

OUR REPORT CARD :

Ø Company has developed and strengthen the direct Milk Procurement infrastructure. 

Ø Company has entered into MOUs with Bank of Baroda and IDBI Bank Ltd., for �nancial needs to Milk Producers at 
cheapest rate of interest without guarantee and collateral security and establishment of Milk Chilling Centres and 
Transportation of Milk and Establishing Mini and Large Dairy Projects.

Ø Company is organising regular Camps to create awareness about best practices for cattle management, improve 
productivity of cattles, educate for cattle health care and vaccination, providing nutritious cattle feed at reasonable 
price with direct bonding with Milk Producers.

Ø Company has re-engineered its product folio to the taste of its customers.

Ø New Ultra-Modern Unit at Softa (Haryana) is fully functional with Research & Development facilities.

Ø Company has strong distribution network, with approx 1900 Dealers and access to approx 45000 Sale points, with focus 
on each product penetration across targeted market.

Ø Company has adopted integrated communication Plan, combination of Above-the-line (ATL) and Below-the-line 
(BTL) to increase its customer base. In addition to it, the Company sponsored Scratch n win offers, conducted Road 
shows in Residential colonies, Event show at commercial complexes including Malls & Hi-Street Markets.

KWALITY LIMITED

BRANDS & PRODUCTS
Kwality Limited is recognised for its Dairy Products of International Standards, under multiple brands such as 'KDIL's Kwality, Dairy 
Best, Kream Kountry, Meera and others. Company is in process of launching of a few more value-added products to its kitty. To 
further strengthen the Company has engaged an International Firm 'Ernst & Young', to evolve a comprehensive growth strategy. 
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY:

Company has developed a strong Information Technology Platform for entire system transformation. E&Y, Transformation Partner, 
has developed a three year B2C aligned IT Road Map and Company is undergoing Second Phase of implementation, which is in 
conformity with the Growth Path of the Company.

COMPANY LEADERS:
Kwality is devoted to develop conducive work environment at its work places and empowering staff to develop Leadership skill, 
Company believes that working force of the Company are core assets of the Company, who are partners in growth of the Company.

WHOLLY –OWNED SUBSIDIARY:
The Company has one wholly owned Subsidiary Kwality Dairy Products FZE, located in Free Trade Zone of UAE., engaged in trading 
of Milk Products and Import and Export of Skimmed and whole milk powder and other derivatives of milk. The Subsidiary is 
enhancing International presence of the Company and contributing pro�ts to the Company. During FY 2017-18 the Company 
achieved Sales turnover of Rs. 5944.88 Mn with pro�t of Rs. 212.35 Mn.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL OVER VIEW:
During FY 2017-18, the Company recorded revenue of Rs. 73326 Mn., EBITDA of Rs. 5366 Mn. and PAT of Rs. 923 Mn., registering 
revenue growth by 6.49 %, EBITDA by 14.83% and PAT by 52.44%.

FUTURE OUTLOOK:
Kwality Limited is in process of transformation, changing its business from Institutional led to Consumer based model. All attempts 
are being made to increase business margins with lower working capital cycle.

The Company is focusing on new value added Dairy Products, shifting its focus from liquid milk segment to new products to the 
taste of Customers, with visibility of mother brand 'KDIL's Kwality', through aggressive marketing, expanding distribution reach.

HUMAN RESOURCE:
Kwality is proud of its Human Resources, a great asset of the Company, contributing for success of the Company. Kwality has
1150+ work force in different cadres on rolls, with leadership competence to meet any challenge. 

Kwality believes in transparency in its affairs and competency of Human Resource to maintain decency and real ties/ bonds with 
esteem customers and other stakeholders.

The Company has implemented HR One automation based Human Resource Information System, covering all key HR Processes, 
with motive to encourage motivation to staff and rewards and recognition for their contribution to the Company. 

Company is determined to have a dedicated team of Employees to face any situation. Company provides well-designed career 
progression path along with upgradation skills opportunities to each of the Employee.

The company has well de�ned hiring process and all new recruitees have to qualify a Panel Interview and psychometric test. 
Extensive fruitful training to new recruitees is imparted to give them full opportunity to learn and groom them for future roles with 
further environment of growth.

The Company trusts that Employees are backbone for Company's growth and play vibrant role for business progression and future 
readiness.  The company is focusing to employee best talents from India's top FMCGs companies. A Talent Pool of identi�ed 
potential Employees has been created by the Company, who are being groomed for future roles to shoulder higher responsibilities. 

The Company has introduced Employee Stock Option Scheme (ESOP) to create a feel of ownership amongst employees. This way 
the Company is rewarding talented employees for their devotion to Institution. 

I T INITIATIVES:
Company is absolutely enthusiastic to bring modernisation both in attitude and operations and has prepared a comprehensive IT 
Blue Print. The Company had earlier engaged E&Y as its partner for Digital transformation of the Company to shape best in class IT 
environment. 
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IT SECURITY AND RISK MANAGEMENT:
Company has a strong adequate IT Security Management system to protect business data from unauthorised access, malicious 
attacks, theft and unwarranted disclosures. Simultaneously various other components including network, operating systems, 
Firewall, Software Licences, applications and controls are reviewed and audited on regular basis both by Internal and independent 
External Agencies.

With a view to manage security risk of information, the Company impart necessary trainings to employees to make them aware of 
sensitivity and importance of IT information. In order to update all employees necessary alerts on security and mitigating strategies 
are issued.

RISK MANAGEMENT:
Company is sensitive to changing global risk scenario and its adverse impact may be upon the Company's business portfolio. Risk 
Management Process and Policy are continuously monitored and reviewed for appropriateness to mitigate Risks. Policy and 
Procedures enforced are continuously reread with International Standards.

The Company has constituted a 'Risk Management Committee' in line with SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations 2015, duly empowered to frame, implement and monitor Risk Management Plan for the Company. Identi�ed Major 
Business Risks are systematically addressed on a continuous basis.

ENVIRONMENT SAFETY:
The Company has installed necessary equipment and systems of International Standards with in all factory premises a and strictly 
comply with safety and protection of workers, minimise consumption of natural resources and reduction of emission of CO2 and 
reduced consumption of water and energy. 

The Company is sensitive to evaluate new initiatives for reduction of waste and emissions to sustain environment system complying 
with Government Policies, laws and regulations applicable in this regard.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT:
Statements in this Management Discussion and Analysis describing the Company's objectives, projections, estimates and 
expectations may be 'forward looking' within the meaning of applicable laws and regulations. Actual results may differ from those 
expressed or implied.
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Notice is hereby given that the Twenty Sixth Annual General Meeting of the Members of KWALITY LIMITED will be held on Saturday, 
September 29, 2018 at 9.30 A.M. at Lavanya, G.T. Karnal Road, Palla Bakhtavarpur Road, Alipur, New Delhi - 110036, to transact the 
following business: -

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Balance Sheet of the Company as at March 31, 2018 and Pro�t & Loss Account and 
Cash Flow statement for the year ended on that date, together with the reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2. To declare dividend for the �nancial year 2017-18.

3. To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra (DIN: 00025376), who retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for 
re-  appointment. 

4. To ratify the appointment of Auditors of the Company, to �x their remuneration and to pass the following resolution with or 
without modi�cation(s), as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 139,142 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”), and other applicable 
provisions of the Act, if any and the rules made there under, pursuant to the recommendations of the audit committee of the 
Board of Directors, the appointment of M/s. MSKA & Associates, (ICAI Firm Registration No. 105047W), as the auditors of the 
Company to hold office till the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting (”AGM”) to be held in the year 2022 (subject to 
rati�cation of their appointment at every AGM) be and is hereby rati�ed and that the Board of Directors be and is hereby 
authorized to �x the remuneration payable to them for the �nancial year ending March 31, 2019 as may be determined by the 
audit committee in consultation with the auditors, and that such remuneration as may be mutually agreed between the Board of 
Directors of the Company and the Auditors”.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

5.   RE-APPOINTMENT OF MR. SANJAY DHINGRA AS MANAGING DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY

To consider and, if thought �t, to pass with or without modi�cation, the following Resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 196, 197, 203 read with Schedule V and the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 
of Personnel) Rules, 2014 and other applicable provisions, if any of the Companies Act, 2013 (including any statutory 
modi�cation(s) or re-enactment thereof, for the time being in force), and the Article of Association of the Company, subject to 
approval of Central Government and such other consents and permissions as may be necessary, approval of the members of the 
Company, be and is, hereby, accorded for the re-appointment of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra (DIN: 00025376) as Managing Director of the 

thCompany, for a period of �ve years with effect from 14th July, 2018 to 13  July, 2023 and the payment of  remuneration for the 
aforesaid period on the term and conditions which are set out in Explanatory Statement annexed to the notice convening this 
meeting, as approved by the Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination committee of the Board.

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in the event of loss or inadequacy of pro�t in any �nancial year during the currency of tenure of the 
appointment, the Managing Director shall be paid salary, perquisites and allowances as set out in Explanatory Statement, as the 
minimum remuneration, subject to ceiling as speci�ed in schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 from time to time and subject to 
the approval of the Central Government, if so required, in accordance with the provisions Companies Act, 2013.” 

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any Director or the Company Secretary & Compliance Officer of the Company be and is, hereby, 
severally authorized to �le requisite forms, intimations and other with Registrar of Companies, NCT of Delhi & Haryana and other 
authorities where necessary and to do all such acts, deeds and things as may be required to give effect to above resolutions.”

NOTICE 

-21-

Annual Report 2017 - 18



6.    APPOINTMENT OF DR. KULDEEP SHARMA AS  DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY
To consider and if thought �t, to pass the following resolution with or without modi�cation(s), as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 152 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 
2013 (“Act”) and the Companies (Appointment and Quali�cations of Directors) Rules 2014, Dr. Kuldeep Sharma (DIN: 
07689428), who was appointed as an Additional Director of the Company with effect from October 25, 2017 by the Board of 
Directors and who holds office upto the date of  ensuing Annual General Meeting of the Company under Section 161(1) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 who being eligible for appointment and in respect of whom the Company has received a notice in writing 
under Section 160(1) of the Act from a Member proposing his candidature for office of Director, be and is hereby appointed as 
Director of the Company.”

7.    APPOINTMENT OF DR. KULDEEP SHARMA AS WHOLE-TIME DIRECTOR
To consider and if thought �t, to pass the following resolution with or without modi�cation(s), as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 196, 197, 203 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (the Act) read with Schedule V to the Act and the Rules made thereunder, as amended from time to time and pursuant 
to the recommendation of Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee, Dr. Kuldeep Sharma (DIN: 07689428) be 

th thand is hereby appointed as Whole Time Director of the Company for a period of 5 years w.e.f 25   October, 2017 to 24  October, 
2022 and he will be paid remuneration as per Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013, set out below with liberty to the Board of 
Directors to alter, vary or increase the remuneration speci�ed below from time to time to the extent the Board of Directors may 
deem appropriate, provided that such variation or increase, as the case may be, is within the overall limits as speci�ed under the 
relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and/or as approved by the Central Government or such other competent 
authority, if applicable and in such manner as may be agreed to between the Board of Directors and Dr. Kuldeep Sharma (DIN: 
07689428)

       Basic Salary                     :        Rs. 60,000/- p.m.
House Rent Allowance                    :        Rs. 30,000/- p.m. 
Special Allowance  :        Rs. 20,000/- p.m.
Other Allowance  :        Rs. 7150/-    p.m.

Other Perquisites:

1.    Reimbursement of medical expenses actually incurred for self and family, subject to a ceiling of Rs.1,250/- p.m.
2.    Mediclaim Policy for self and Family as per policy of Company.
3.    Leave travel concession/ allowance for self and family as per rules of the Company.
4.    Leave on full pay and allowance, as per the rules of the Company.
5.   Bene�ts of Provident Fund and Pension/Superannuation Fund, if provided, however that the contribution to Provident Fund, 

Pension/Superannuation Fund will not be considered or included for the computation of ceilings on perquisites to the extent 
that these either singly or put together are not taxable under the Income Tax Act.

6.   The computation of ceilings on perquisites to the extent that these either singly or put together are not taxable under the 
Income Tax Act.

7.    Gratuity, not exceeding half a month salary for each completed year of service and as per the rules of the company
8.    Conveyance Allowance, reimbursement of car with driver and maintenance subject to ceiling of Rs. 1,600/- p.m.

 “RESOLVED FURTHER THAT notwithstanding anything herein, where in any �nancial year during the tenure of the Whole Time 
Director, the Company has no pro�ts or its pro�ts are inadequate, the Company may subject to receipt of the requisite approvals 
including approval of Central Government, if any, pay to the Whole-Time Director the above remuneration as the minimum 
remuneration by way of salary, perquisites, performance pay, other allowances and bene�ts and that the perquisites pertaining 
to contribution to provident fund, superannuation fund or annuity fund, gratuity and leave encashment shall not be included in 
the computation of the ceiling on remuneration speci�ed in Section II and Section III of part II of Schedule  V of the Companies 
Act, 2013.”

 
 “RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Dr. Kuldeep Sharma, Whole Time Director be and is hereby designated as Key Managerial 

Personnel in terms of Section 2(51) read with Section 203 of the Companies Act, 2013.”
 
 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any Director or Company Secretary & Compliance Officer of the Company, be and is hereby 

authorized to do all such acts, deeds and things which are necessary for the aforesaid appointment of Dr. Kuldeep Sharma as 
Whole-Time Director of the Company and to send necessary intimation in prescribed form to  Registrar of Companies.”

NOTICE 
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8.   APPOINTMENT OF MS. SWATI CHATURVEDI AS A WOMEN INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY

To consider and if thought �t, to pass the following resolution with or without modi�cation(s), as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 149, 150, 152 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
rules made there under (including any statutory modi�cation(s) or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force) read with 
Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013, Ms. Swati Chaturvedi (DIN: 08187398), who was appointed as an Additional Director of 
the Company by the Board of Directors with effect from July 28, 2018 and who hold office till the date of the AGM, in terms of 
Section 161 of the Companies Act, 2013, and in respect of whom the Company has received a notice in writing from a member 
under Section 160 of the Companies Act, 2013 signifying his intention to propose Ms. Swati Chaturvedi (DIN: 08187398) as a 
candidate for the office of a director of the Company, be and is hereby appointed as an Independent Director of the Company for 
a period up to July 27, 2023, not liable to retire by rotation.”

9.    APPOINTMENT OF MR.  AKHILESH  KUMAR  MISHRA AS A NON-EXECUTIVE INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR OF THE COMPANY

To consider and if thought �t, to pass the following resolution with or without modi�cation(s), as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 149, 152 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 
2013 (“Act”) and the Companies (Appointment and Quali�cations of Directors) Rules 2014, Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra (DIN: 
08210752), who was appointed as an Additional Director of the Company with effect from September 01, 2018 by the Board of 
Directors and who holds office upto the date of ensuing Annual General Meeting of the Company under Section 161(1) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 who being eligible for appointment and in respect of whom the Company has received a notice in writing 
under Section 160(1) of the Act from a Member proposing his candidature for office of Non- Executive Independent Director, be 
and is hereby appointed as a Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company for a period up to August 31, 2023, not liable 
to retire by rotation.”

10. RATIFICATION OF COST AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

To consider and, if thought �t, to pass with or without modi�cation, the following Resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to provisions of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) read with Rule 14 of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014,(including any statutory modi�cation(s) or re-enactment thereof for the time being 
in force), M/s M K Jha & Co, Cost Accountants, (ICMAI Firm Registration No. 101333), appointed as Cost Auditors by the Board of 
Directors of the Company for the �nancial year ending March 31, 2019 be paid remuneration of Rs 1,00,000/- (Rupees One lakh 
only) plus out of pocket expenses and applicable taxes.”

11. INCREASE IN THE LIMIT OF SHAREHOLDING BY REGISTERED FOREIGN PORTFOLIO INVESTORS (FPIs)/FOREIGN
        INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS(FIIs) FROM 24% UPTO 74% OF THE PAID UP EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

To consider and if thought �t, to pass the following resolution with or without modi�cation(s), as Special Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, the Companies Act, 
2013, to the extent applicable, the Consolidated Foreign Direct Investment Policy Circular of 2017 (“Consolidated FDI Policy”), as 
amended, the Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue of Security by a Person Resident Outside India) Regulations, 
2017, as amended and all other applicable laws, rules, regulations, guidelines and subject to the approvals, consents and 
permissions of the Government of India, the Foreign Investment Promotion Board, the Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”) and any 
other appropriate authorities, institutions or bodies as may be necessary and subject to such conditions and modi�cations as 
may be prescribed, stipulated or imposed by any of the concerned authorities while granting such approvals, permissions and 
sanctions and the like, which may be agreed to by the Board of Directors of the Company (Board which term shall include any 
Committee thereof which the Board may have constituted or hereafter constitute to exercise its powers including the powers 
conferred by this Resolution), consent of the Company be and is hereby accorded for purchase/acquisition of Equity Share by 
foreign investors including Foreign Institutional Investors (“FIIs”) registered with the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(“SEBI”), on their own account and/or on behalf of their SEBI approved sub-accounts or Foreign Portfolio Investors (FPIs), on the 
recognized stock exchange or in any other manner, subject to the condition that the aggregate holding of the FIIs/FPIs shall not 
exceed 74% of the paid up equity share capital of the Company, provided however that the shareholding of each FII, on its own 
account and on behalf of each of the SEBI approved sub-accounts of FPIs shall not exceed such other limit as may be stipulated 
by Reserve Bank of India in each case, from time to time.”

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT any Director or Company Secretary & Compliance Officer of the Company be and is hereby 
authorized to do all such acts, deeds and things and execute all documents or writings as may be necessary, proper or expedient 
for the purpose of giving effect to this Resolution and for matters connected therewith or incidental thereto including intimating 
the concerned authorities or other regulatory bodies and to represent the Company before any government authorities and 
delegating all or any of the power conferred herein to any Committee or Directors of the Company.”

NOTICE 

-23-

Annual Report 2017 - 18



12. ISSUE OF SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY FOR AN AMOUNT OF UP TO RS 5,000 MILLION 

To consider and if thought �t, to pass the following resolution with or without modi�cation(s), as Special Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 42, 62, 71 and other applicable Provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 
2013, Companies ( Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014 and all applicable rules made thereunder (including any 
amendments / modi�cations thereto or re-enactment thereof ) (the “Act”) and pursuant to the provisions of Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009, (the “SEBI ICDR Regulations”), as 
amended, and subject to all the other rules, regulations, guidelines, noti�cations and circulars prescribed by the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”), the applicable provisions of the Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, as amended 
(“FEMA”) and regulations made thereunder including the Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue of Security by a 
Person Resident Outside India) Regulations, 2000, the Issue of Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds and Ordinary Shares 
(through Depository Receipt Mechanism) Scheme, 1993 and the enabling provisions of the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association of the Company, the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Listing 
Agreements entered into by the Company with the Stock Exchanges where the Company's equity shares are listed (“Listing 
Agreements”), and in accordance with the applicable regulations and/ or guidelines issued by any other competent authorities 
and/ or clari�cations issued thereon, from time to time and subject to all such approvals, permissions, consents and / or sanctions 
as may be necessary from the Government of India (“GOI”), the Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”), SEBI, the Stock Exchanges, the 
Ministry of Finance (Department of Economic Affairs) and Ministry of Commerce & Industry (Foreign Investment Promotion 
Board / Secretariat for Industrial Assistance) and / or all other ministries, departments or other statutory or local authorities of the 
GOI and/or any other competent governmental or regulatory authorities as may be required, whether in India or outside India 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as Appropriate Authority') and subject to such conditions and / or modi�cations as may be 
prescribed by any of them while granting such approvals, permissions, consents and / or sanctions (hereinafter referred to as 
“Requisite Approvals”), which may be agreed to by the Board of  Directors of the Company (hereinafter referred to as the “Board”, 
which term shall be deemed to include any duly authorised Committee constituted or may hereinafter be constituted and/or 
any Director(s) of the Company, delegated with the powers necessary  for the purpose, (including the powers conferred by this 
Resolution), consent of the Members of the Company be and is hereby accorded to the Board of Directors or Committee thereof 
to create, offer, issue and allot in one or more tranches, whether rupee denominated or denominated in foreign currency in the 
course of international and/or domestic market for  a value of up to Rs. 5,000 Million  (Rupees Five thousand millions only), such 
number of Equity Shares, Global Depository Receipts(GDRs), American Depository Receipts(ADRs), Foreign Currency 
Convertible Bonds (FCCBs), Warrants Convertible/ Non-Convertible, Compulsory convertible preference shares(CCPS) and/or  
Equity Shares through Depository Mechanism and/or Fully/Partly Convertible Debentures  and/or Non-Convertible Debentures 
(NCDs) with or without warrants and/or  Equity Shares through Convertible Securities, or any other �nancial instruments 
convertible into or linked to Equity Shares and/or any other instruments and/or combination of instruments with or without 
detachable warrants with a right exercisable by the warrant holders to convert or subscribe to the Equity Shares or otherwise, in 
registered or bearer form including without limitation, the Securities as de�ned under the Securities Contract Regulation 
Act,1956 and the rules made thereunder as amended from time to time (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Securities”) 
whether, secured or unsecured, Listed on any stock exchange(s) in India, through an offer document and/or prospectus and/or 
offer letter and/or offering circular and/or placement document, and/or listing particulars, to any person including foreign / 
resident investors (whether institutions, incorporated bodies, mutual funds and/or individuals or otherwise), foreign 
institutional investors, venture capital funds, foreign venture capital investors, quali�ed foreign investors, alternative investment 
funds, multilateral and bilateral �nancial institutions, state industrial development corporations, insurance companies, 
provident funds, pension funds, insurance funds set up by army, navy, or air force of the Union of India, insurance funds set up 
and managed by the Department of Posts, India, development �nancial institutions, Indian mutual funds, non-resident Indians, 
promoters, members of group companies, Indian public, bodies corporate, companies (private or public) or other entities, 
authorities, and/or any other categories of investors, whether they be holders of Equity Shares of the Company or not 
(collectively called the “Investors”) including allotment in exercise of a green shoe option, if any, by the Company, through public 
issue(s), rights issue(s), private placement(s), and / or quali�ed institutional placement under Chapter VIII of the SEBI (ICDR) 
Regulations or a combination thereof at such time or times, at such price or prices, at a  discount or premium to the market price 
or prices, including discounts as permitted under applicable law, in such manner and on such terms and conditions including 
security, rate of interest and conversion terms, as may be decided by and deemed appropriate by the Board in its absolute 
discretion including the discretion to determine the categories of investors to whom the offer, issue and allotment shall be made 
to the exclusion of all other categories of investors at the time of such issue and allotment considering the prevailing market 
conditions and other relevant factors wherever necessary in consultation with the lead managers, or other advisor(s) for such 
issue(s), as the Board in its absolute discretion may deem �t and appropriate”

NOTICE 
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“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT if any issue of Securities is made by way of a quali�ed institutional placement in terms of Chapter 
VIII of the SEBI (ICDR) Regulations (hereinafter referred to as “Eligible Securities” within the meaning of the SEBI ICDR 
Regulations), the allotment of the Eligible Securities, or any combination thereof as may be decided by the Board shall be 
completed within twelve months from the date of this resolution or such other time as may be allowed under the SEBI (ICDR) 
Regulations, at a price being not less than the price determined in accordance with the pricing formula provided under Chapter 
VIII of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, provided that the Board may, in accordance with applicable law, offer a discount of not more 
than 5% or such percentage as permitted under applicable law, on such price determined in accordance with the pricing formula 
provided under Chapter VIII of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The Eligible Securities shall be allotted on a fully paid basis (subject to 
allottees having the option to pay either full or part consideration for warrants, with the balance consideration being payable at 
or by the time of exercise of such warrants, where the tenure of any convertible or exchangeable Eligible Securities shall not 
exceed 60 months from the date of allotment), and the aggregate of all QIPs made by the Company in the same �nancial year 
shall not exceed �ve times the net worth of the Company as per the audited balance sheet of the previous �nancial year. ”

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in the event that Equity Shares are issued to quali�ed institutional buyers under Chapter VIII of the 
SEBI (ICDR) Regulations, the relevant date for the purpose of pricing of the Equity Shares shall be the date of the meeting in which 
the  Board decides to open the proposed issue of Equity Shares or in the event that convertible securities (as de�ned under the 
SEBI ICDR Regulations) are issued to QIBs under Chapter VIII of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the “relevant date” for the purpose of 
pricing of such convertible securities, shall be the date of the meeting of the Board in which it decides to open the issue of such 
convertible securities or the date on which the holders of such convertible securities are entitled to apply for Equity Shares or 
such other time as may be permitted by the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to any relevant provisions of applicable laws, rules, 
regulations, as amended, from time to time”

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in the event the Securities are proposed to be issued as FCCBs, ADRs, or GDRs, the relevant date for 
the purpose of pricing the Securities shall be the date of the meeting in which the Board decide to open the issue of such 
Securities in accordance with the Issue of Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds and Ordinary Shares (through the Depository 
Receipt Mechanism) Scheme 1993 and other applicable pricing provisions issued by the Ministry of Finance.  

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT without prejudice to the generality of the above, the aforesaid Securities may have such features 
and attributes or any terms or combination of terms in accordance with the prevailing practices and regulations in the capital 
markets including but not limited to the terms and conditions in relation to payment of interest, additional interest,  premium on 
redemption, prepayment whatsoever including terms for issue of additional Equity Shares or variation of the conversion price of 
the Securities during the term of the Securities and the Board be and is hereby authorised in its absolute discretion to dispose off 
such of the Securities that are not subscribed in such  manner as it may deem �t”.

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the issue of Securities which are convertible into Equity Shares shall, inter alia, be subject to the 
following terms and conditions:

(a)    in the event of the Company making a bonus issue by way of capitalisation of its pro�ts or reserves prior to the allotment of 
the Equity Shares, the number of Equity Shares to be allotted shall stand augmented in the same proportion in which the  
Equity Share capital increases as a consequence of such bonus issue and the premium, if any, shall stand reduced pro rata;

(b)    in the event of the Company making a rights offer by issue of Equity Shares prior to the allotment of the Equity Shares, 
the entitlement to the Equity Shares shall stand increased in the same proportion as that of the rights offer and such 
additional Equity Shares shall be offered to the holders of the Securities at the same price at which the same are offered 
to the existing shareholders; and

    “RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby authorised to appoint lead managers, co-managers, underwriters, 
guarantors, depositories, custodians, registrars, trustees, bankers, lawyers, advisors, auditors, stabilizing agent and all such 
agencies as may be involved or concerned in such offerings of Securities and to remunerate them by way of commission, 
brokerage, fees or the like and also to enter into and execute all such arrangements, agreements, memorandum, documents, 
etc., with such agencies and also to seek the listing of such Securities on stock exchange(s), to seek consent, if required from 
lenders of the Company and parties with whom the Company has entered into various commercial and other agreements in 
connection with the issue and allotment of Securities and also to open one or more bank accounts in the name of the Company 
within or outside India, as may be required, subject to receipt of requisite approvals wherever required from the RBI or any 
regulatory authority, as applicable”
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“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby authorised to issue and allot such number of Equity Shares including issue 
and allotment of Equity Shares as may be required to be issued and allotted upon conversion of any Securities or as may be 
necessary in accordance with the terms of the offering, all such Equity Shares that may be issued and allotted by the Company, 
including issue and allotment of equity shares upon conversion of any securities referred above, shall be issued and allotted in 
accordance with the provisions of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company and shall rank pari-passu inter se 
with the existing Equity Shares of the Company in all respects except as provided otherwise under the terms of issue/offering and 
in accordance with the offer document and/or prospectus and/or offer letter and/or offering circular and/or listing particulars”

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT for the purpose of giving effect to the above, the Board be and is hereby authorised to determine the 
form, terms and timing of the issue(s), including the class of Investors to whom the Securities are to be allotted, number of 
Securities to be allotted in each tranche, issue price, face value, discount(s) permitted under applicable law (now or hereafter), 
premium amount on issue/conversion of Securities, listings on stock exchanges in India as the Board in its absolute discretion 
deems �t and to make and accept any modi�cations in the proposal as may be required by the authorities involved in such issues, 
to do all acts, deeds, matters and things and to settle any questions or difficulties that may arise in regard to the issue(s)”

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT for the purpose of giving effect to the above resolutions, the Board be and is hereby authorized to do 
all such acts, deeds, matters and things including but not limited to �nalization and approval of the preliminary as well as �nal offer 
document(s), placement document or offering circular, as the case may be, execution of various transaction documents, creation 
of mortgage/ charge in accordance with Section 180 of the Companies Act 2013 or such other provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 and the Rules made thereunder, in respect of any Securities as may be required either on pari passu basis or otherwise as it 
may in its absolute discretion deem �t and to settle all questions, difficulties or doubts that may arise in regard to the issue, offer or 
allotment of Securities and utilization of the issue proceeds as it may in its absolute discretion deem �t without being required to 
seek further consent or approval of the members or otherwise to the end and intent that the members shall be deemed to have 
given their approval thereto expressly by the authority of this resolution”

“RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby authorised to delegate (to the extent permitted by law) all or any of the 
powers herein conferred to any committee of directors or any executive director or directors or any other officer or officers of the 
Company to give effect to the aforesaid resolutions”

                              By Order of the Board
                               For Kwality Limited 

                                                                                                                  
      Sd/-            
       Place: New Delhi                                              (Pradeep K. Srivastava)
       Date: September 01, 2018                                                   (Company Secretary & Compliance Officer)
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NOTES:

1.   A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT THE MEETING IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT A PROXY TO 
ATTEND AND VOTE INSTEAD OF HIMSELF/HERSELF AND THE PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY. 
PROXIES, IN ORDER TO BE EFFECTIVE MUST BE RECEIVED, DULY FILLED AND AUTHENTICATED AT REGISTERED OFFICE OF 
THE COMPANY NOT LESS THAN 48 HOURS (FORTY-EIGHT HOURS) BEFORE THE SCHEDULED TIME OF THE MEETING.

2.   The relevant Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102 (1) of the Companies Act, 2013 setting out material facts relating to 
the business at item no. 5 to item no. 12 of the Notice as set out above, is annexed hereto.

3.   Member(s)/Proxies, authorised representatives should bring the Attendance Slip in the Meeting duly �led in, for attending the 
meeting.

4.   Statutory Registers under the Companies Act, 2013 is available for the inspection at the Registered Office of the Company during 
business hours.

5.    Corporate Members are requested to send a duly certi�ed copy of the Board Resolution, pursuant to Section 113 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, authorizing their representative to attend and vote on their behalf at the Annual General Meeting.

6.    Members are requested to bring their admission slips along with copy of the report & accounts to the Annual General Meeting.

7.   Members who wish to obtain information of the Company or view the accounts for the �nancial year ended March 31, 2018, may 
visit the Company's website www.kwality.com. 

8.   The dividend as recommended by the Board of Directors, if declared at this Annual General Meeting, will be paid within 30 days 
after the date of declaration:

· To those shareholders whose names appear on the Company's Register of Members after giving effect to all valid share
 transfers in physical form lodged with the Registrar and Transfer Agents (R&T Agents) of the Company on or before
 Saturday, September 22, 2018.

· In respect of shares held in electronic form (demat mode), dividend will be paid to those “deemed members” whose names
 appear in the statements of bene�cial ownership furnished by National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central
 Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) as at the close  of business hours on Saturday, September 22, 2018.

· Physical shares – Payment of dividend through NECS: Members holding shares in physical form are advised to submit
 particulars of their bank account, viz. name and address of the branch of the bank, MICR Code of the branch, type of
 account and account number at the earliest to our Registrar and Share Transfer Agent, M/s Beetal Financial & Computer
 Services Private Limited.

9.    Pursuant to the provisions of Section 124 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the IEPF Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer 
and Refund) Rules, 2016 (‘the Rules’), the amount of dividend remaining unclaimed and the shares on which dividend has not 
been paid or claimed for a period of seven years from the date of its transfer to Unpaid Dividend Accounts of the Company are 
required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund. Therefore, the amount of unclaimed dividend and the 
shares for the �nancial year ended March 31, 2011 would be transferred to Investor Education and Protection Fund. As such, 
members who have not yet encashed their dividend warrant(s) for the �nancial year ended March 31, 2011 and/or subsequent 
years are requested to submit their claims to the Registrar and Share Transfer Agent and/or Company Secretary of the Company 
without any delay.

10.  This may be taken as notice of declaration of dividend for the �nancial year 2017-18 in accordance with Article 139 of the Article 
of Association of the Company in respect of dividend for that year when declared.

11.  The Register of Members and Transfer Books of the Company will remain closed from September 24, 2018 to September 29, 2018 
(both days inclusive) for the purpose of ascertaining eligibility to dividend, if declared.
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12. Members are requested to intimate the Registrar and Share Transfer Agent of the Company - M/s Beetal Financial & Computer 
Services Private Limited, Beetal House, 3  Floor, 99 Madangir, Behind Local Shopping Center, Near Dada Harsukhdas Mandir, New rd

Delhi – 110062, immediately of any change in their address in respect of equity shares held in physical mode and to their DPs in 
respect of equity shares in dematerialized form.

13.  Members may avail nomination facility as provided under Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2013.

14.  Members who hold shares in electronic form are requested to write their Client ID and DP ID numbers and those who hold shares in 
physical form are requested to write their Folio number in the attendance slip for attending the meeting to facilitate identi�cation 
of membership at the meeting.

15. Across the world, there is an increasing focus on doing our share to help save our environment from further degradation. 
Recognizing this trend, the Ministry of corporate Affairs (vide circular nos. 17/2011 dated 21.04.2011 and 18/2011 dated 
29.04.2011 respectively), has undertaken a “Green Initiative in Corporate Governance” and allowed Companies to share 
documents/notices (including notice calling Annual General Meeting, Audited Financial Statements, Directors' Report, Auditors' 
Report, etc) with its shareholders through electronic mode. The move of the Ministry allows public at large to contribute to the 
green movement. To support this green initiative of the Government in full measure, shareholders who have not registered their e-
mail addresses so far are requested to register their e-mail addresses. 

16. The Company hereby gives an opportunity to all the members, who have not get their e-mail id recorded, to get it registered to 
avail the facility to receive any communication through electronic mode.

17. As per noti�cation issued by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI), with effect from December 5, 2018, the 
shares of the Company can be transferred only in dematerialized form. Members are advised to dematerialise share (s) in 
the Company to facilitate transfer of share(s).

SEBI vide its circular no. SEBI/HO/MIRSD/DOP1/CIR/P/2018/73 dated April 20, 2018, with a view to protect the interest of 
the shareholders, has mandated to all members who holds securities of the company in physical form, to furnish to the 
company/ its registrar and transfer agent, the details of their valid Permanent Account Number (PAN) and Bank Account. 
To support the SEBI’s initiative, the members are requested to furnish the details of PAN and bank account to the Company 
or RTA (Beetal Financial & Computer Services Private Limited).

18. In compliance with the provisions of Section 108 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 20 of the Companies (Management 
and Administration) Rules, 2014 as amended further and Regulation 44 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, the Members are provided with the facility to cast their vote electronically, through the e-voting services 
provided by CDSL, on all resolutions set forth in this Notice.

th19. Members may also note that the Notice of the 26  Annual General Meeting and the Company's Annual Report for the Financial Year 
2017-18 will be available on the Company's website www.kwality.com.

20. Detail of Directors seeking appointment/re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting 

Name of Directors Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Dr. Kuldeep Sharma Ms. Swati Chaturvedi

Date of Birth th12  October, 1970 th28  March 1953 th05  August, 1976

DIN

Relationship with 
other Directors Inter-se
Date of Appointment 

Quali�cation

Expertise in speci�c 
functional area

Directorship held in 
other Listed Companies as 
on date

00025376

None

th18  June, 2003

Vast experience in 
dairy business & 
FMCG Products

NIL

Graduate

07689428

None

th25  October, 2017

Ph.D. , M.Sc. (Botany)

Outstanding experience in 
agriculture, science and 
technology popularization. 

NIL

08187398

None

th28  July, 2018

B.Com & Cost Accountant

Experience in the �eld of 
Cost audit, Internal Audit, 
Finance & Accounts and 
Statutory Compliance matters 
of different segment of 
domestic industry

NIL

Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra

10th January, 1976

08210752

None

01st September, 2018

Company Secretary

Experience of all sorts
of Secretarial affairs,
legal and statutory
compliances under
various Acts/ Statutes

NIL
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*Dr. Kuldeep Sharma has been appointed as a member of CSR Committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.
Ms. Swati Chaturvedi has been appointed as a member of Audit Committee, Share Transfer Committee, Stakeholder 
Relationship Committee and Remuneration, Compensation & Nomination Committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.
Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra has been appointed as a member of Remuneration, Compensation & Nomination Committee w.e.f.
September 01, 2018.

Instructions for members for voting electronically are as under:-
(i)     The e-voting period begins on September 26, 2018 at 10:00 AM and ends on September 28, 2018 at 05:00 PM. During this period 
        shareholders' of the Company, holding shares either in physical form or in dematerialized form, as on the cut-off date (record date) 
        September 22, 2018 may cast their vote electronically. The e-voting module shall be disabled by CDSL for voting thereafter. 

(ii)     The shareholders should log on to the e-voting website .www.evotingindia.com

(iii)   Click on Shareholders/Members.

(iv)   Now Enter your User ID 
              a.   For CDSL: 16 digits bene�ciary ID, 
              b.   For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID, 
              c.    Members holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number registered with the Company. 
       (v)   Next enter the Image Veri�cation as displayed and Click on Login.

(vi)   If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to  and www.evotingindia.com
        voted on an earlier voting of any company, then your existing password is to be used. 

(vii)  If you are a �rst time user follow the steps given below:
        

For Members holding shares in Demat Form and Physical Form

PAN Enter your 10 digit alpha-numeric PAN issued by Income Tax Department (Applicable for both 
demat shareholders as well as physical shareholders)

Members who have not updated their PAN with the Company/Depository Participant are 
requested to use the �rst two letters of their name and the 8 digits of the sequence number 
in the PAN �eld. 

In case the sequence number is less than 8 digits enter the applicable number of 0's before 
the number after the �rst two characters of the name in CAPITAL letters. Eg. If your name is 
Ramesh Kumar with sequence number 1 then enter RA00000001 in the PAN Field.

Dividend Bank 
Details OR Date of
Birth (DOB)

Enter the Dividend Bank Details or Date of Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy format) as recorded in 
your demat account or in the company records in order to login.

If both the details are not recorded with the depository or company please enter 
the member id / folio number in the Dividend Bank details �eld as mentioned in 
instruction (iv).

(viii)   After entering these details appropriately, click on “SUBMIT” tab.
        

Chairman/Member of the
committee of the Board of
Directors of the Company as
on March 31, 2018

  Member of 
    Management    Committee
    Member of CSR
    Committee
    Member of Risk
    Management
    Committee

NIL* NIL*

Name of Directors Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Dr. Kuldeep Sharma Ms. Swati Chaturvedi Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra

NIL*

Chairman/Member of the
committee of the other
companies in which he is a
director as on March 31, 2018

NIL NIL NIL NIL

Number of Shares held in the
Company as on March 31,
2018

152,154,714 NIL NIL NIL
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(ix) Members holding shares in physical form will then reach directly the Company selection screen. However, members holding 
shares in demat form will now reach 'Password Creation' menu wherein they are required to mandatorily enter their login 
password in the new password �eld. Kindly note that this password is to be also used by the demat holders for voting for 
resolutions of any other company on which they are eligible to vote, provided that company opts for e-voting through CDSL 
platform. It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other person and take utmost care to keep your 
password con�dential.

(x) For members holding shares in physical form, the details can be used only for e-voting on the resolutions contained in this 
notice.

(xi) Click on the EVSN for the relevant “KWALITY LIMITED” on which you choose to vote.

(xii) On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION DESCRIPTION” and against the same the option “YES/NO” for voting. Select the  
option YES or NO as desired. The option YES implies that you assent to the Resolution and option NO implies that you dissent 
to the Resolution. 

(xiii) Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view the entire Resolution Details.

(xiv) After selecting the resolution you have decided to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A con�rmation box will be displayed. If you wish 
to con�rm your vote, click on “OK”, else to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and accordingly modify your vote.

(xv) Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

(xvi) You can also take out print of the votes cast by clicking on “Click here to print” option on the Voting page.

(xvii) If Demat account holder has forgotten the login password then Enter the User ID and image veri�cation code and click on 
Forgot password & enter the details as promoted by the system.

(xviii) Shareholders can also cast their vote using CDSL's mobile app m-Voting available for android based mobiles. The m-
Voting app can be downloaded from Google Play Store. Apple and Windows phone users can download the app from 
the App Store and the Windows Phone Store respectively. Please follow the instructions as prompted by the mobile 
app while voting on your mobile.  

(xix) Note for Non – Individual Shareholders and Custodians

 Non-Individual shareholders (i.e. other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodian are required to log on to 
www.evotingindia.com and register themselves as Corporates.

 A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the stamp and sign of the entity should be emailed to 
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.

 After receiving the login details a Compliance User should be created using the admin login and password. The Compliance 
User would be able to link the account(s) for which they wish to vote on. 

 The list of accounts linked in the login should be mailed to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com and on approval of the accounts 
they would be able to cast their vote. 

 A scanned copy of the Board Resolution and Power of Attorney (POA) which they have issued in favour of the Custodian, if 
any, should be uploaded in PDF format in the system for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

(xx) In case you have any queries or issues regarding e-voting, you may refer the Frequently Asked Questions (“FAQs”) and e-
v o t i n g   m a n u a l  a v a i l a b l e  a t  ,  u n d e r  h e l p  s e c t i o n  o r  w r i t e  a n  e m a i l  t o w w w. e v o t i n g i n d i a . c o m
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.

 All grievances connected with the facility for voting by electronic means may be addressed to Mr. Rakesh Dalvi, Manager, 
(CDSL) Central Depository Services (India) Limited, A Wing, 25th Floor, Marathon Futurex, Mafatlal Mill Compounds, N M Joshi 
Marg, Lower Parel (East), Mumbai – 400013, or send an email to  or call 18002005533.helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com

21.  Mr. Mukun Arora of M/s Mukun Vivek & Company, Company Secretaries has been appointed as the Scrutinizer to scrutinize 
the e-voting process in a fair and transparent manner. 

22. The notice is being dispatched/emailed to all the members whose names appear on the register of members/list of bene�cial 
owners as received from the National Securities Depository Ltd. (NSDL)/Central Depository Services (India) Ltd. (CDSL) on 
August 31, 2018 and voting rights shall be reckoned on the paid-up value of the shares registered in the name of the 
shareholders as on the same date.
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(23) The Scrutinizer shall, within a period not exceeding three working days from the conclusion of the e-voting period, unblock the 
votes in the presence of at least two witnesses not in the employment of the Company and make a Scrutinizer's Report of the 
votes cast in favour or against, if any, forthwith to the Chairman of the Company.

(24) The results declared along with the Scrutinizer's Report shall be placed on the Company's website www.kwality.com within two 
days of the passing of the resolutions at the Annual General Meeting of the Company and communicate to Stock Exchanges, 
where the shares of the Company are listed.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 102(1) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

ITEM NO.5

thMr. Sanjay Dhingra had been re-appointed as Managing Director of the Company w.e.f 14  July, 2018 for a period of 5 years. The 
thterm of office of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra as Managing Director of the Company is due to expire on 13  July, 2018. The present roposal 

is to seek the shareholder's approval for the re-appointment of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra as the Managing Director in terms of the
thapplicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. The Board of Director of the Company (the 'Board'), at its meeting held on 28  

May, 2018 has, subject to the approval of the shareholders, re-appointed Mr. Sanjay Dhingra for a further period of 5 years i.e. 
14th July, 2018 to 13th July, 2023.
The payment of remuneration has already been approved by the Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination committee of 

ththe Board in its meeting & subsequently by the Board of Director in its meeting held on 28  May, 2018. Therefore the Board 
proposes to seek approval of the shareholders of the Company, approving the payment of remuneration to Mr. Sanjay Dhingra 
as detailed here under:

A)   Salary, Allowances and Perquisites:
I . Basic Salary: ` 1,30,20,000/- (Rupees One Crore Thirty Lac and Twenty Thousand only) per annum.
II. Allowance and Perquisites: In addition to Basic Salary, the Managing Director will be entitled to allowances and perquisites in 

the  nature of accommodation (furnished or otherwise) or house rent allowance in lieu thereof; house maintenance allowance
together with reimbursement of expenses and/ or allowance for utilization of gas, electricity, water, furnishing and repairs; 
medical reimbursement; leave travel concession for self and family including dependents; club fees, medical insurance and 
such other perquisites and/or allowance not exceeding ` 10,00,000/- (` Ten Lacs only) per annum. The said perquisites and 
allowance shall be evaluated, wherever applicable, as per the provisions of Income Tax Act, 1961 or any rules there under or any 
statutory modi�cation(s) or re-enactment thereof; in the absence of any such rules, perquisites and allowances shall be 
evaluated at the actual cost.

III. Other Bene�ts: The Managing Director may also be eligible to the following perquisites which shall not be included in the 
computation of the ceiling on remuneration speci�ed above: 

 a.  Company's contribution to Provident Fund, Superannuation Fund, and Annuity Fund as per the rules of the 
   Company  to the extent these rules singly or put together is not taxable under the Income Tax Act, 1961.

 b.    Gratuity as per the rules of the company.
 c.    Leave with full pay as per the company's rules.
 d.    Encashment of leave at the end of the tenure.

B) General :   
(I) The office of the Managing Director may be terminated by the company or the concerned Director by giving 3 (three)        

 months'  prior notice in writing.
(ii) The terms and conditions set out for re-appointment and payment of remuneration herein may be altered and varied by      

 Board as it may, from time to time, deem �t.
(iii)  If in any �nancial year after the appointment, Company has no pro�ts or inadequate pro�ts, the Managing Director shall be 

entitled to receive the same remuneration, perquisites and bene�ts as speci�ed in the above clauses, subject to compliance 
with the applicable provisions of Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013.”

 Except Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, none of the Directors and KMP of the Company or their respective relatives is concerned or 
interested in the Resolution mentioned at Item No.5 of the Notice.

ITEM NO. 6 & 7

Dr. Kuldeep Sharma was appointed as an Additional Director of the Company with effect from October 25, 2017 by the Board of 
Directors under Section 161 of the Act and Article 109 of the Company’s Articles of Association. In terms of Section 161(1) of the 
Act, Dr. Kuldeep Sharma holds office only upto the date of the ensuing AGM and is eligible for appointment as a Director. A 
notice under Section 160(1) of  the Act has been received from a Member signifying its intention to propose Dr. Kuldeep 
Sharma appointment as a Director. The Board also appointed Dr. Kuldeep Sharma as the Whole Time Director of the Company 
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NOTICE 
for the period from October 25, 2017 to October 24, 2022, subject to approval of the Members.

Dr. Kuldeep Sharma is a Ph.D. (Role of Print and Electronic Media in Agriculture) and also holds a master degree in Botany with 
specialization9 in Cytogenetic and Plant-Breeding. He has more than 40 year experience of scienti�c and Agricultural 
Journalism through publication and electronic media. As Chief Editor and Director (DIPA), Indian Council of Agricultural 
Research have planned, edited and produced more than 100 publications in various agricultural subjects including textbooks, 
supplementary books, bulletins and reports. Under Print Media, he has done Revision and printing of ICAR’s most prestigious 
publication “HANDBOOK OF AGRICULTURE” (2007), “Handbook of Fisheries and Aquaculture” (2006), Biofertilizer in sustainable 
agriculture (2006), Text book of Drainage Engineering (2005). Under Electronic Media, he has been involved in Doordarshan’s 
renowned agricultural program Krishi Darshan as anchor, script-writer and V/O artist since 1980. He had also active 
participation in various other programmes like Kissan, Vikas Ki oor, Nayi Raahen, Pariyaavaran among others.

The resolution seeks the approval of members for the appointment of Dr. Kuldeep Sharma as Whole Time Director of 
theCompany for a period of 5 years up to October 24, 2022 pursuant to Section 196,197 & 203 and other applicable provisions 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made thereunder. He will be liable to retire by rotation.
No Director, Key Managerial Personnel or their relatives, except Dr. Kuldeep Sharma, to whom the resolution relates, are 
interested or concerned in the resolution mentioned at Item No. 6 & 7 of the Notice.

ITEM NO. 8

The Board of Directors, at its meeting held on July 28, 2018 appointed Ms. Swati Chaturvedi as an Additional Director of the 
company with effect from July 28, 2018, pursuant to section 161 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Article 109 of the Article 
of Association of the Company.

Pursuant to the provision of Section 161 of the Companies Act, 2013, Ms. Swati Chaturvedi will hold office upto the date of the 
ensuing AGM. The Company has received notice in writing under the provisions of Section 160 of the Companies Act, 2013, 
from a member, along with a deposit of Rs.1,00,000/- proposing the candidature of Ms. Swati Chaturvedi for the office of 
Independent Director, to be appointed as such under the provisions of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Company has received from Ms. Swati Chaturvedi (i) consent in writing to act as director in Form DIR 2 pursuant to Rule 8 of 
Companies (Appointment & Quali�cation of Directors) Rules 2014, (ii) intimation in Form DIR 8 in terms of Companies 
(Appointment & Quali�cation of Directors) Rules, 2014, to the effect that she meets the criteria of Independence as provided in 
Sub-section (6) of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013.

The resolution seeks the approval of members for the appointment of Ms. Swati Chaturvedi as an Independent Director of the 
Company for a period up to July 27, 2023 pursuant to Section 149 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
and the Rules made thereunder. She will not be liable to retire by rotation.

No director, key managerial personnel or their relatives, except Ms. Swati Chaturvedi, to whom the resolution relates, are 
interested or concerned in the resolution.

ITEM NO. 9

The Board of Directors, at its meeting held on September 01, 2018 appointed Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra as an Additional 
Director of the company with effect from September 01, 2018, pursuant to section 161 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with 
Article 109 of the Article of Association of the Company.

Pursuant to the provision of Section 161 of the Companies Act, 2013, Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra will hold office upto the date of 
the ensuing AGM. The Company has received notice in writing under the provisions of Section 160 of the Companies Act, 2013, 
from a member, proposing the candidature of Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra for the office of Non-Executive Director, to be 
appointed as such under the provisions of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013. the provisions of Section 149 of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

The Company has received from Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra (i) consent in writing to act as director in Form DIR 2 pursuant to 
Rule 8 of Companies (Appointment & Quali�cation of Directors) Rules 2014, (ii) intimation in Form DIR 8 in terms of Companies 
Appointment & Quali�cation of Directors) Rules, 2014 to the effect that he is not disquali�ed under the section 164 of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

The resolution seeks the approval of members for the appointment of Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra as Non-Executive 
Independent Director of the Company for a period up to August 31, 2023 pursuant to Section 149 and other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder. He will not liable to retire by rotation.

No Director, Key Managerial Personnel or their relatives, except Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra, to whom the resolution relates, are 
interested or concerned in the resolution.

ITEM NO. 10

The Board, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, has approved at their Meeting held on May 28, 2018 the 
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appointment of M/s. M K Jha & Co., Cost Accountants, as Cost Auditors to conduct the audit of the cost records of the Company 
for the �nancial year ending March 31, 2019 at a remuneration of Rs 1,00,000/- (Rupees One lakh only) plus out of pocket 
expenses and applicable taxes.

In accordance with the provisions of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014, the remuneration payable to the Cost Auditors is required to be rati�ed by the members of the Company. 
Accordingly, consent of the members is sought for passing an ordinary resolution as set out at Item No.10 of the Notice for 
rati�cation of remuneration payable to the Cost Auditors for the �nancial year ending March 31, 2019.

M/s M K Jha & Co., Cost Accountants have furnished a certi�cate regarding their eligibility for appointment as Cost Auditors of 
the Company. 

The Directors recommend the Ordinary Resolution for the approval of the member. 

None of the Directors and KMP of the Company or their respective relatives is concerned or interested in the Resolution 
mentioned at Item No.10 of the Notice.

ITEM NO. 11

Increase in the limit of shareholding by registered Foreign Portfolio Investors (FPIs)/ Foreign Institutional Investors (FIIs) up to 
74% of the paid up capital of the Company.

In terms of the Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or issue of security by a person Resident Outside India) Regulations, 
2017, as amended from time to time, the total holdings of all Foreign Institutional Investors (FIIs)/SEBI approved sub-accounts 
of FII’s or FPIs put together shall not exceed 24% of the paid-up equity capital of the Company. This limit of 24% can be 
increased to the sectoral cap/Statutory limit, as applicable by the Company, by passing a Special Resolution to that effect by its 
Members.

To make more space for FIIs/FPIs to invest in the equity of the Company, it is proposed to increase the present limit of FIIs/FPIs 
shareholding in the Company from 24% up to an aggregate limit of 74% of paid up equity share capital of the Company in one 
or more tranches.

Accordingly, consent of the Shareholders is sought by way of a Special Resolution through AGM notice and voting through 
electronic means (remote e-Voting) as set out as item No. 11 in the Notice of Annual General Meeting.

None of the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel or their relatives are in any way concerned or interest in this resolution.

Your Board of Directors recommend the resolution to be passed as Special Resolution.

ITEM NO. 12

The Company has an ambitious plan for future expansions and modernisation of existing infrastructure, for which substantial 
funds are required to meet working capital requirements, reduction of existing �nancial liabilities, investments in joint 
ventures and other permissible general corporate purposes, in normal course of business by augmenting long term resources, 
as proposed. However, proposed issue of Securities by the Company shall be solely dependent on conducive market 
conditions and availability of fair price to be determined by the Board.

Accordingly, the Company proposes to create, offer, issue and allot such number of Equity Shares, Global Depository Receipts 
(GDRs), American Depository Receipts( ADRs), Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds (FCCBs), Warrants Convertible/ Non- 
Convertible, Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS) and/or Equity Shares through Depository Receipt Mechanism 
and/or Fully/ Partly Convertible Debentures and or Non-Convertible Debentures with or without warrants or any other 
�nancial instruments convertible into or linked to Equity Shares and/or any other instruments and/or combination of 
instruments with or without detachable warrants with a right exercisable by the warrant holders to convert or subscribe to the 
Equity Shares or otherwise, in registered or bearer form or any combination of Securities through public issues(s), private 
placement(s), or a combination thereof, including issuance of Securities through quali�ed institutional placement, Rights Issue 
or a combination thereof as per SEBI (ICDR) Regulations.

The Board may in their discretion adopt any one or more of the mechanisms prescribed above to meet its objectives as stated 
in the aforesaid paragraphs without the need for fresh approval from the Members of the Company.

The pricing of the Securities that may be issued to quali�ed institutional buyers pursuant to a quali�ed institutional placement 
shall be freely determined subject to such price not being less than the price calculated in accordance with Chapter VIII of the 
SEBI (ICDR) Regulations, 2009. The Company may, in accordance with applicable law, offer a discount of not more than 5% or 
such percentage as permitted under applicable law on the price determined pursuant to the SEBI (ICDR) Regulations, 2009. The 
“Relevant Date” for this purpose will be the date when the Board or the Committee of the Board thereof decides to open the 
quali�ed institutional placement for subscription.

The Special Resolution also seeks to give the Board powers to issue Securities in one or more tranche or tranches, at such time 
or times, at such price or prices and to such person(s) including institutions, incorporated bodies and/or individuals or 
otherwise as the Board in its absolute discretion deem �t. The detailed terms and conditions for the issue(s)/offering(s) will be 
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determined by the Board or its committee in its sole discretion in consultation with the advisors, lead managers, underwriters 
and such other authority or authorities as may be necessary considering the prevailing market conditions and in accordance 
with the applicable provisions of law and other relevant factors.

The Equity Shares allotted or arising out of conversion of any Securities would be listed. The offer/issue/allotment/conversion 
would be subject to the availability of regulatory approvals, if any. The conversion of Securities held by foreign investors into 
Equity Shares would be subject to the applicable foreign investment cap and relevant foreign exchange regulations. As and 
when the Board does take a decision on matters on which it has the discretion, necessary disclosures will be made to the stock 
exchanges as may be required under the provisions of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015.

Section 62(1)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013 provides, inter alia, that when it is proposed to increase the issued capital of a 
company by allotment of further Equity Shares, such further Equity Shares shall be offered to the existing Members of such 
company in the manner laid down in Section 62 of the Companies Act, 2013 unless the Members in a General Meeting decide 
otherwise. Since, the Special Resolution proposed in the business of the Notice may result in the issue of Equity Shares of the 
Company to persons other than Members of the Company, consent of the Members is being sought pursuant to the provisions 
of Sections 42, 62 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 as well as applicable Rules noti�ed by the 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs and in terms of the provisions of the Listing Agreement executed by the Company with the stock 
exchanges where the Equity Shares of the Company are listed.

The Special Resolution, if passed, will have the effect of allowing the Board to offer, issue and allot Securities to the Investors, 
who may or may not be the existing Members of the Company.

None of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel of the Company or their respective relatives is concerned or interested in 
the passing of the Resolutions at Item No. 12.

(Company Secretary & Compliance Officer)
(Pradeep K. Srivastava)

Sd/-

  By Order of the Board 
 For Kwality Limited

Place: New Delhi
Date: September 01, 2018
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Dear Shareholders,

 Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the Twenty Sixth Annual Report of the Company together with Audited Accounts of 
the Company for the �nancial year ended March 31, 2018.

1. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

2. COMPANY PERFORMANCE

       The Company's Standalone net revenue for the current year is Rs 6724.88 crores as compared to Rs 6131.27 crores in previous 
�nancial year. Pro�t before Tax is Rs. 144.11 crores as compared to that of last year of Rs. 233.71 Crores. Pro�t after Tax for the 
Financial Year 2017-2018 stood at Rs. 71.11 crores as compared to Rs. 164.30 crores in the previous �nancial year.

 The Company's Consolidated net revenue for the year is Rs 7319.36 crores as compared to Rs 6871.83 crores. Pro�t before Tax is 
Rs. 165.35 crores as compared to that of last year of Rs.  263.55 Crores. Pro�t after Tax for the Financial Year 2017-2018 stood at 
Rs. 92.35 crores compared to Rs. 194.15 crores in the previous �nancial year.

 
3. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

       As per Regulation 33 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure equirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (hereinafter referred to as “Listing Regulations”) and applicable  provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
read with the Rules issued thereunder, the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the �nancial year 2017-18 
have been prepared in compliance with applicable Accounting Standards and on the basis of Audited Financial Statements of 
the Company and its subsidiary.

 The Consolidated Financial Statements together with the Auditors' Report form part of this Annual Report.

4. SUBSIDIARIES

 A separate statement containing the salient features of �nancial statements of all subsidiaries of the Company forms a part of 
consolidated �nancial statements in compliance with Section 129 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 
2013. In accordance with Section 136 of the Companies Act, 2013, the �nancial statements of the subsidiary and associate 
companies are available for inspection by the members at the Registered Office of the Company during business hours on all 
days except Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays upto the date of the Annual General Meeting ('AGM').  Any member 
desirous of obtaining a copy of the said �nancial statements may write to the Company Secretary at the Registered Office of the 
Company. The �nancial statements including the consolidated �nancial statements, �nancial statements of subsidiaries and all 
other documents required to be attached to this report have been uploaded on the website of the Company 
(www.kwality.com). The Company has formulated a policy for determining material subsidiaries. The policy may be accessed 
on the website of the Company (www.kwality.com)

 Your Company has a wholly owned subsidiary under the name and style of “Kwality Dairy Products – FZE” in free trade zone of 
United Arab Emirates to increase its global foot print and to develop and cater to the new markets. Your Company has prepared 
Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with Section 129(3) of the Companies Act, 2013, Regulation 33 of SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and Accounting Standard as speci�ed under Section 133 
of Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 7 of Companies (Accounts) Rules 2014. 

Details

Turnover

Pro�t before Interest, Depreciation, 
Extraordinary Items & Tax

Interest & Finance Charge

Depreciation

Pro�t before Extraordinary Item & Tax

Extraordinary Items

Pro�t before Tax

Tax Expense

Pro�t/(Loss) after Tax

6724.88

467.56

233.18

125.56

144.11

-

144.11

73.00

71.11

6131.27

423.17

169.90

21.71

233.71

-

233.71

69.41

164.30

Year ended 31.03.2018    
INR in crore)

Year ended 31.03.2017  
INR in crore)
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 The Board unanimously decided to close business operations of Kwality Dairy Products FZE Dubai- UAE (A wholly owned 

thSubsidiary of the Company) in phased manner w.e.f 11  July, 2018 due to the issues connected with recession in Global Market 
speci�cally slowdown of Dairy Product business in UAE. 

5. DIVIDEND

 Based on the performance of your Company, the Directors are pleased to recommend a �nal dividend of Rs. 0.10 per equity 
share of Rs. 1 each i.e @ 10%, which will be paid after your approval at the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

 The dividend will be paid to members whose names appear on the company's register of members, after giving effect to all 
valid share transfers in physical form lodged with the Registrar and Transfer Agents (RTA) of the company on or before , and in 
respect of shares held in electronic form (demat mode), dividend will be paid to those “deemed members” whose names 
appear in the statement of bene�cial ownership furnished by National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central 
Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) at the close of business hours on September 22, 2018.

6. CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS

 There has been no change in the nature of business of the Company.

7. PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS 

 Loans, Guarantees and Investments covered under section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 form  part of the notes to the 
�nancial statements provided in the Annual Report.

8. TRANSFER TO RESERVE

 Pursuant to section 123 of the Companies Act, 2013 the company is not mandatorily required to transfer any amount to the 
reserves. Accordingly the company has not transferred any amount to the reserves during the year.

9. PREFERENTIAL ISSUE AND PRIVATE PLACEMENT

 The Board of Directors of your Company, had during the �nancial year i.e 2017-18 allotted on preferential basis 21,69,762
 Equity Shares at the price of Rs 115.22/- per share on conversion of 1 (One) Compulsorily Convertible Warrants aggregating
 to Rs 25 Crore to Bennett Coleman & Co Ltd (Non Promoter) and 12,15,066 Equity Shares at the price of Rs 115.22/- per share
 on conversion of 1 (One) Compulsorily Convertible Debentures aggregating to Rs 14 Crore to HT Media Limited (Non

th th Promotor) on 19  February, 2018 as approved by the shareholders on 09  August, 2016 via postal ballot. Further the Equity
 shares allotted have received listing and trading approval from both the Stock  Exchanges i.e. BSE Limited & National 
Stock Exchange of India Limited and are under the Lock-in period of 1 year from the date of trading approval.

10. TRANSFER TO INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND AUTHORITY 

 Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Investor Education and Protection Fund
 Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016  (“IEPF Authority”), all unpaid or unclaimed dividends are
 required to be transferred by the company to the  IEPF established by the Government of India, after completion of seven
 years. Further according to the  rules, the shares on which dividend has not been paid or claimed by the shareholders for
 seven consecutive years or more shall be transferred to the demat account of the IEPF Authority.

 During the year 2017-18, unclaimed Dividend for �nancial year 2009-10 of Rs. 8,29,952/- were transferred to the Investor
 Education and Protection Fund (“IEPF”), as required under the Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority
 (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016 (“IEPF Authority”). Further corresponding equity shares in respect of
 which dividend has not been claimed for the �nal dividend declared in �nancial year 2009-10 were transferred to the
 IEPF Authority pursuant to the provisions of Section 124(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules thereunder.

11. PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS MADE WITH RELATED PARTIES

 Particulars of contracts or arrangements with related parties referred to in Section 188(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, in
 the prescribed Form AOC-2, is appended as Annexure 1 to the Board's report.

12. MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS AFFECTING FINANCIAL POSITION BETWEEN THE END OF THE FINANCIAL
 YEAR AND DATE OF REPORT.

 During the Financial year 2017-18, the Company made huge investments in modernisation of its Softa Plant at Palwal
 (Haryana) to increase its milk processing capacity and enriching Research & Development works. However, a few of the
 Consortium Member Banks, though assured, did not release the enhanced working Capital facility. The Financial Position of
 the Company had been impacted for the said reason after March 2018, which resulted in delay in ful�lling �nancial
 obligations of its Bankers and Financers. 

 Globally, due to heavy crash in international price of SMP and AMF, the Company's fully owned Subsidiary at Dubai (UAE)
 could not perform well, forcing Company to close its business operations  in phased manner.
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13. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

 The Board of Directors formulated the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy for your Company pursuant to the
 provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy)
 Rules, 2014, (including any statutory modi�cation(s) or  re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force), on the
 recommendations of the CSR Committee. The CSR Policy outlines the CSR vision of your Company which is based on
 embedded tenets of trust, fairness and care. The initiatives undertaken by your Company during the �nancial year 2017-18
 in CSR have been detailed in this Annual Report.

 The Annual Report on CSR activities in accordance with the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014,
 is set out herewith as “Annexure [2]” to this Report.

14. CREDIT RATING

 Brickwork Ratings were received with Rating Outlook downgraded from 'Positive' to 'Negative' for Fund Based Long Term rating
 as “BWR BBB- (Credit watch with Negative Implications)” for bank loan facilities for an amount of Rs 1463 crores, Non Fund
 Based Short Term rating as “BWR A3” for an amount of Rs 30 crores and assigned BWR BBB- (Credit watch with Negative
 Implications) ” for issue of Non-Convertible Debentures of Rs 94.45 crores.

15. AWARDS AND RECOGNITION
th Our Managing Director, Mr. Sanjay Dhingra has been ranked 34  among the “Top 100 CEO's of India” as published by the  

“Business Today” magazine in January 2018 edition.

 During the year, Mr. Sidhant Gupta, Director has been awarded “25 of Delhi's Most In�uential Entrepreneurs of 2017”. The award 
was instituted by “Elite Magazine” & the ceremony was held on October 04, 2017 at New Delhi.

 Further Mr. Anand Ruhela, IT head of the Company has won the “Big CIO Award” for innovative use of technology in FMCG 
Industry. Also the efforts of IT transformation and intiatives of Kwality Limited are being recognized by Enterprise IT World 
'CIO200 Tech Summit' and 'Change Agents 2017' Awards which is an unprecedented milestone for the Indian IT industry where 
the award will recognize 200 of the top CIOs pan India.

 Your Company has been conferred upon the prestigious “Iconic brand of the year (Dairy Products)”  at a grand award ceremony 
held on 17th September 2017 in Mumbai.  The recognition is p rimarily for the mega launch campaign which we did early this 
year, launch of the various value a dded products like UHT milk, �avoured milk forti�ed with Vitamin A & D based on the 
consumer/m arket research that was conducted. This award is a consumer recognition of the efforts we as an o rganisation are 
putting on to become one of the leading consumer Dairy Brands of India in a c c o r d a n c e  t o  o u r  o n - g o i n g  B u s i n e s s 
Transformation strategy.

th th Your company has been ranked at the 8  Position in India in FMCG (sector wise) & elevated  to 185  position now as compared to 
th197  position (during last year) in growth (revenue wise) a ll across in “Fortune India Magazine” in December 2017 edition. 

 Further Mr. Pawan Kumar Sharma, Vice President & HR Head has been conferred as 100 HR Super  Achievers.  The event was 
thorganized by World HRD Congress on 16  February, 2018.

16.  CASH FLOW STATEMENT

 In conformity with the provisions of Regulation 34(2) (c) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and  Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, the Cash Flow Statement for the year ended on M arch 31, 2018 is attached as a part of the Financial 
Statement of the Company.

17.  MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

 Management Discussion and Analysis forms an integral part of this report and gives details of the o verall industry structure, 
economic developments, performance and state of affairs of the Company's businesses, internal controls and their adequacy, 
risk management systems and other material developments during the �nancial year 2017-18.

18.  DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNELS (KMP):

 The Companies Act, 2013 introduced the new concept of Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) which includes the Managing 
Director, Chief Executive Officer or  Manager, Whole Time Director, Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer. The Key 
Managerial Personnel would guide the Board to achieve their de�ned objectives and purposes by adhering to good Corporate 
Governance practices. KMP would also be looked upon by the Regulators for the non-compliances. 

  The Key Managerial Persons of the Company as at March 31, 2018 are:

Name Designation
Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Managing Director
Mr. Manjit Dahiya Whole Time Director
Dr. Kuldeep Sharma Whole Time Director

Mr. Satish Kumar Gupta Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Pradeep K. Srivastava Company Secretary & Compliance Officer 
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During the �nancial year 2017-18, the Board of Directors at their meeting held on October 25, 2017, h ad appointed Dr. Kuldeep 
Sharma (DIN: 07689428) as an Additional Director and further as W hole Time Director of the Company subject to the approval of 
members at the ensuing Annual G eneral Meeting, pursuant to Section 161, 196, 197, 203 and any other Provisions, if any, of the  
Companies Act, 2013. 

thMs. Swati Chaturvedi (DIN: 08187398) has been co-opted as Additional Director of the Company w .e.f. 28  July, 2018 to hold the 
office upto this Annual General Meeting pursuant to Section 161 o f the Companies Act, 2013 and in respect of whom the Company 
has received a notice in writing f rom member(s) under Section 160 of the Companies Act, 2013 signifying their intension to p ropose 
her candidate for the office of a director of the Company. The Board  recommends the said resolution.

RETIREMENT BY ROTATION AND SUBSEQUENT RE-APPOINTMENTS

As at March 31, 2018, the Board of your Company is constituted of Six Directors comprising o f Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna, Chairman 
and Non-Executive Independent Director, Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, M anaging Director, Mr. Manjit Dahiya, Whole Time Director, Dr. 
Kuldeep Sharma, Whole Time D irector, Mr. Sidhant Gupta, Non-Executive Director and Ms. Ankita Mehrotra, Non-Executive  
Independent Director.

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director, is liable to retire by rotation at the ensuing AGM, pursuant t o  S e c t i o n  1 5 2  a n d  o t h e r 
applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the C ompanies (Appointment and Quali�cation of Directors) 
Rules, 2014 (including any statutory  modi�cation(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force), the Articles of 
association of  the Company and being eligible has offered himself for re-appointment. Appropriate resolutions
for his reappointment are being placed for the approval of the shareholders of the Company at  the ensuing AGM.

RESIGNATIONS

Due to some personal and unavoidable circumstances, Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla, M r. Sidhant Gupta and Ms. Ankita Mehrotra had 
tendered their resignation from the p osition of Whole Time Director, Non-Executive Director and Women Independent Director of 

  the Company w.e.f October 25, 2017,  July 11, 2018 and July 28 July, 2018 respectively.

19. DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 134(3) (c) of the Companies Act, 2013 with respect t o Director Responsibility statement, and 
based on the representation received from o perating management, the Directors hereby con�rm that:

a)  in the preparation of the annual accounts for the period ended on March 31, 2018, the  applicable accounting standards have 
been followed and there are no material departures from the same;

b) the directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made  judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of  the state of affairs of the company at the end of the �nancial year 
March 31, 2018 and the pro�t  and loss of the Company for the �nancial year ended March 31, 2018;

c) the directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities; 

d) the directors had prepared the annual accounts for the period ended on March 31, 2018 as on going concern basis; 
e)  the directors have laid down internal �nancial controls, which are adequate and are operating effectively; and
f)  The directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with provisions of all applicable 
 laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively.
 
20. DEPOSITS

 Your company has not raised any public deposit during the period under review. Therefore, there was no public deposit 
 outstanding as at the beginning or at the end of the period.

21. INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL SYSTEM

 The Company has adopted the policies and procedures for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business,
 including adherence to Company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and
 errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable �nancial
 information.

 Internal Control System has designed to provide reasonable assurance with regard to recording and providing reliable financial 
and operational information, complying with applicable Accounting Standards. The internal �nancial controls with reference 
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to the �nancial  statements were adequate and operating effectively.

22. RISK MANAGEMENT

 The Company has well de�ned process in place to ensure appropriate identi�cation a nd treatment of risks. The identi�cation of
 risk is done at strategic, business, operational  and process levels. All signi�cant risks are well integrated with the functional and
 business  plans and are reviewed on a regular basis.

 Further details form part of Corporate Governance Report.

23. AUDITORS

STATUTORY AUDITORS

M/s MSKA & Associates, Chartered Accountants, (Firm Registration Number: 105047W) were appointed as Statutory Auditors of the 
company at the Annual General Meeting held on September 29, 2017 to hold office till the conclusion of Annual General Meeting to 
be held in the year 2022. In terms of the �rst proviso to Section 139 of the Companies Act, 2013, the appointment of the auditors shall 
be placed for the rati�cation at every Annual General Meeting. Accordingly, the appointment of M/s MSKA & Associates, Chartered 
Accountants is placed at the AGM for rati�cation by the shareholders. In this regard, the Company has  r eceived a certi�cate from the 
auditors to the effect that if they are reappointed, it would be in accordance with the provisions of Section 141 of the Companies Act, 
2013.

The Auditors' Report for the �nancial year ended March 31, 2018 on the �nancial statements of the Company is a part of this Annual 
Report. The Auditor's Report for the �nancial year ended March 31, 2018 does not contain any quali�cation, reservation or adverse 
remark.

COST AUDITOR

The Board of Directors of the Company, on the recommendations made by the Audit Committee, at their meeting held on May 28, 
2018, has approved the appointment of M/s. M K Jha & Co., Cost Accountants, (Firm Registration No. 101333) as the Cost Auditor of 
the Company to conduct the audit of cost records for the �nancial year 2017-18. The remuneration proposed to be paid to the Cost 

thAuditor, subject to rati�cation by the shareholders of the Company at the ensuing 26  AGM, would not exceed 1 lakh (Rupees One 
lakh only) excluding taxes and out of pocket expenses, if any.

The Company has received consent from M/s. MK Jha & Co., Cost Accountants, to act as the Cost Auditor for conducting audit of the 
cost records for the �nancial year 2017-18 along with a certi�cate con�rming their independence and arm's length relationship.

SECRETARIAL AUDITOR  

M/s. Mukun Vivek & Company, Company Secretaries, were appointed to conduct the secretarial audit of the Company for the 
�nancial year 2017-18, as required under Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rules made thereunder. The secretarial audit 
report for FY 
2017-18 forms part of the Annual Report as Annexure 3 to the Board's Report.

24. EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

 In accordance with Section 134(3)(a)of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2017, the copy of a nnual return in the prescribed 
form has been placed at our website www.kwality.com.

25. SECRETARIAL STANDARDS OF ICSI

 Your Company complies with the Secretarial Standards speci�ed by the Institute of Company S ecretaries of India on Meetings 
of the Board of Directors (SS-1) a nd General Meetings (SS-2) and noti�ed by Ministry of Corporate Affairs.

26. LISTING

 The equity shares of the Company continue to be listed on the BSE Limited (BSE) and N ational Stock Exchange of India Limited 
(NSE). The annual listing fees for the current year h ave been paid to the BSE Limited (BSE) and National Stock Exchange of India 
Limited (NSE).

27. PARTICULARS OF REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, KMPs AND EMPLOYEES
 The table containing the names and other particulars of employees in accordance with t he provisions of Section 197(12) of the 

Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 5(1) of t he Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 
2014, 

 is appended as Annexure 4 to the Board's Report.
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 Details of employees, employed for the whole year and are in receipt of remuneration  of Rs. 1,02,00,000/- or more, or if 

employed for the part of the year and in receipt of Rs. 8,50,000/- or more a month, under rule 5(2) of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of M anagerial Personnel) Rules, 2014.

28. POLICY ON DIRECTORS' APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION

 The Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee has framed a policy for selection and appointment of Directors 
including determining quali�cations and independence of a Director, Key Managerial Personnel, Senior Management 
Personnel and their remuneration and other matters provided under Section 178(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and 
Regulation 19 of the Listing Regulation (including any statutory modi�cation(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being 
in force) and appended as Annexure 5 of the Board's Report.

 The Nomination and Remuneration Policy can be accessed on the website of the Company (www.kwality.com).

29 DECLARATION BY INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

 The Company has received necessary declaration from each independent director under S ection 149(7) of the Companies Act, 
2013, that he/she meets the criteria of independence laid down in Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 25 
of SEBI ( Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. 

30. PERFORMANCE EVALUTION OF THE BOARD

 Pursuant to applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Listing Regulations, the Board,  in consultation with its 
Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee has formulated a  framework containing, inter-alia, the criteria for 
performance evaluation of the entire Board of the C ompany, its Committees and individual Directors, including Independent 
Directors.

 The Directors carried out the annual performance evaluation of the Board, Committees of Board and  individual Directors along 
with assessing the quality, quantity and timeliness of �ow of information b etween the Company management and the Board 
that is necessary for the Board to effectively and r easonably perform their duties. The details of evaluation process of the Board, 
its Committees and i ndividual Directors, including Independent Directors have been provided under the Corporate 

 Governance Report which forms part of this Report.

31. NUMBER OF MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

 During the Financial Year 2017-18 the Board met Six times. The dates of the meetings are as under:

32. “KWALITY EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN 2014” (“ESOP 2014”)

 The details of the grants allotted under KWALITY EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN 2014” 
 (“ESOP 2014”) and also the disclosures in compliance with SEBI (Share Based Employee Bene�ts) 
 Regulations, 2014 and Section 62 (1) (b) read with Rule 12(9) of the Companies (Share Capital & Debentures)  R ules, 2014 is as 

follow:

Date of Board Meetings

26.05.2017

14.11.2017

11.08.2017

12.02.2018

25.10.2017

19.02.2018

Name of
Employee 

Date of 
joining

Gross
Remuneration

Educational
Quali�cation 

Age Experience
(Years)

Last
Employment

Designation

Sanjay 
Dhingra

22.09.2003 1,30,59,600 Graduation 47 22 NA Managing
Director
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16. Weighted-average exercise prices and weighted-
average fair values of options (shall be disclosed 
separately for options whose exercise price either 
equals or exceeds or is less than the market price of the 
stock) 

Weighted average exercise price - 
Rs. 43.82 

Weighted average fair value 
of the option outstanding:
Grant I - Rs. 67.28
Grant II – Rs. 76.18
Grant III - Rs. 90.63
Grant IV – Rs. 92.44
Grant V – Rs. 105.56

Sr. No. Particulars Details

1. Date of shareholders' approval for the options granted 

under the scheme

July 07, 2014

2. Total number of options approved for grants under the scheme 1,00,00,000

3. Vesting requirements 1 year from the date of grant

4. Exercise price or pricing formula Rs 38 per share (For Grant I, II, III)
Rs 50 per share ( For Grant IV, V)

5. Maximum term of options granted 5 years from the date of vesting

6. Source of shares Direct Allotment
7. Variation of terms of options None
8. Options granted during the year; 

Options granted till March 31, 2018

32,36,000

52,66,000
9. Options lapsed/forfeited 34,400

10. Options vested during the year; 

Options vested up to March 31, 2018

32,79,000

32,79,000
11. Options exercised during the year; 

Options exercised up to March 31, 2017

6,14,000

18,84,100
12. The total number of shares arising as a result of 

exercise of option during the year;

6,14,000

13. Money realised by exercise of options during the year

Money realised by exercise of options up to March 31, 2017

2,33,32,000
7,15,95,800

14. Options outstanding at the end of the year

Options exercisable at the end of the year

32,49,500
13,500
    27,36,000 & 5,00,000 options were
granted in August 2017 and January
2018 respectively and will be due to be
exercisable in August 2018 and 
January 2019 respectively. 

15. Method used to account for the options where the 
Company has calculated the employee compensation 
cost using the intrinsic value of the stock options, the 
difference between the employee compensation cost 
so computed and the employee compensation cost 
that shall have been recognised if it had used the fair 
value of the options and the impact of this difference 
on pro�ts and on EPS of the company shall also be 
disclosed

The Company has calculated the employee 
Compensation cost based on the Fair Market Value 
Method using Black - Scholes Option Pricing Formula.

17. Employee wise details of options granted to:
i) Senior Managerial personnel 
ii) Any other employee who receives a grant in any 
one year of option amounting to 5% or more of 
option granted during that year
iii) Identi�ed employees who were granted option, 
during any one year, equal to or exceeding 1% of 
the issued capital (excluding outstanding warrants 
and conversions) of the company at the time of grant

As per note 1 below
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Sr. No. Particulars Details

18. Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) pursuant to issue of shares 

on exercise of option calculated in accordance with 

Accounting Standard (AS) 20 'Earnings Per Share

Rs. 2.96 per share

19. A description of the method and signi�cant assumptions 
used during the year to estimate the fair values of options, 
including the following weighted-average information:

i) Risk-free interest rate
ii) Expected life
iii) Expected volatility
iv) Expected dividends
The price of the underlying share in market at 
the time of option grant

Refer note -41 Share Based Payments of 

the Financial Statement as ended on 
st31  March, 2018

Rs. 147.50 (Grant IV) 

Rs. 114.40 (Grant V)

 Note 1- Employee wise details of options granted during the year:-

 I. Senior Managerial Personnel

 II. Any other employee who receives a grant of options in any one year of option amounting to 
 �ve percent or more of options granted during the year

 III.  Identi�ed employees who were granted option, during any one year, equal to or exceeding one  percent of the issued
 capital (exceeding outstanding warrants and conversions) of the company at  the time of grant: None

33. ENERGY CONSERVATION, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

 Information required under Section 134(3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the Rule 8  of the Companies (Accounts) 
Rules, 2014 is set out in an Annexure 6 to this report.

34. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 A separate section on Corporate Governance and a certi�cate from the statutory auditors of the  Company regarding compliance 
with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated under  SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 forms part of this Annual Report.

35. POLICY TO PREVENT SEXUAL HARASSMENT AT WORK PLACE

 As required under the provisions of Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention,  Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013, 
the Company has constituted a Sexual Harassment Policy.  We follow a gender neutral approach in handling complaints of sexual 
harassment. All employees  are of equal value with no discrimination between individuals at any point on the basis of race,  colour, 
gender, religion, political opinion, national extraction, social origin, sexual orientation  or age. The Company is committed to 
providing a safe and conducive work environment to all its  employees and associates. No complaints were received by the 
Company during the year under review. 

S.
No. Employee Name Grade Date of 

Grant
No. of options granted 

1. Sanjay Dhingra
2. Manjit Dahiya Whole Time Director

Managing Director

3. Satish Kumar Gupta Chief Financial Officer
4. Pradeep Kumar Srivastava Company secretary 

NA
28.08.2017

28.08.2017
28.08.2017

NIL
40,000

40,000
50,000

S.
No. Employee Name Grade Date of 

Grant
No. of options granted 

1. Nawal Sharma President-Business 

Transformation 

10.01.2018 5,00,000
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 For & on behalf of the Board of Directors
Place: New Delhi
Date: September 01, 2018 Sd/-
                                                                  Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna
 Chairman
 DIN: 03073914

36. GREEN INITIATIVES
th Electronic copies of the Annual Report 2017-18 and the Notice of the 26  Annual General Meeting  are sent to all the members 

whose email addresses are registered with the Company/ depository  participant(s). For members who have not registered their 
email addresses, physical copies are  sent in the permitted mode.

37. APPRECIATION

 The Board conveys its appreciation for its customers, shareholders, suppliers as well as vendors,  bankers, business associates,
 regulatory and government authorities for their continued support, cooperation and encouragement. Your Directors also
 wish to place on record their sincere thanks and gratitude for the contribution made by our employees at all levels and in
 ensuring an excellent all around operational performance.
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      Annexure 1
Form No. AOC-2 

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies
(Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with related 
parties referred to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm's 

length transactions under third proviso thereto

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm's length basis:

 There were no contracts or arrangements or transactions entered into during the year ended March 31, 2018, which were
 not at arm's length basis.

2. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm's length basis:

Name of Related 
Party and nature 
of Relationship

Duration of the 
contracts / 
arrangements
/transactions

Salient terms of the 
contracts or 
arrangements or 
transactions including 
the value, if any:

Nature of contracts/
Arrangement /
Transactions

Transaction 
Amount paid 
(in lac)

Pashupati 

Dairies Private 

Limited

Nature: Enterprise in 

which KMP have 

signi�cant in�uence

Rent

Royalty

5 years The Contract is an 

arrangement for taking 

land, building, plant and 

machinery including 

the godown, belonging 

to Pashupati Dairies 

Private Limited.

60.00

10.55

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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Annexure 2 to Director’s Report
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) ACTIVITIES

[Pursuant to Clause (O) of Sub-Section (3) of Section 134 of the Act and Rule 9 of The Companies 
(Corporate Social Responsibility) Rules 2014]

CSR Initiatives:

India is the �rst country in the world to make Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) mandatory, following an amendment to The 
Company Act, 2013 in April 2014. Businesses can invest their pro�ts in areas such as education, poverty, gender equality, and hunger. 
The practice of CSR is not new to companies in India. However, what this  Act does  is  brought more companies into the fold.

Kwality Limited, with its holistic and integrated approach, encourages its CSR activities based on the credence that all business 
activities must take CSR into consideration with absolute dedication for Rural women empowerment, income generation and in 
general for rural community development. 

We at Kwality are vigilant in implementation of corporate ethics and legislative compliances and constantly work for CSR activities 
focus on advance educational, skill development, social welfare activities and healthcare projects especially designed for Rural masses 
and concurrently strengthen our internal control system thru dedicated quality management and also environmental preservation, 
realising that the Government alone cannot get success in its endeavour to uplift the downtrodden of Society without negatively 
affecting our business goals.

Social Activities by Company during �nancial year 2017-18:
 
The Green Initiative- GO GREEN:

Subscribing to Government initiatives to save conventional electricity energy and 
concentrating more on energy efficiency, conservation of electric energy to be available for 
population of Country, the Company opted to promote use of solar energy to ful�l energy 
needs provided Automatic Milk Collection Units (AMCU) at village level Milk Collection 
Centres (VLCs) with Solar Panels. During the Financial year, various units were supplied to the 
Villages, under operations of Company.

Livelihood Enhancement:

With a view to eliminate Non- Institutional �nance, charging very high returns on �nance with practice of keeping land under 
mortgage as security of small Milk Producers, the Company endeavored to provide �nancial access to them through Institutional 
medium. Kwality Limited signed a historic MOU with Bank of Baroda on January 20, 2017, with an outlay of Rs. 4000 Crores. Under the 
MOU the role of Kwality Limited was to identify the genuine bene�ciary i.e. Milk Producer, having association with the Company for 
atleast 3 months. Loan upto Rs. 4 Lakh is being sanctioned to Milk Producers for purchase of 4 Milch Animals @ Rs. 75,000 per cattle, Rs. 
10,000 for purchase of Smart Phone and Rs. 90,000 for purchase of Vehicle for milk transportation, without any margin money, 
Guarantors and collateral security only with hypothecation of assets purchased. The Loan is repayable in three years bearing interest 
as low as 8.6% per annum. No processing charges are levied and comprehensive insurance of hypothecated assets.

A similar MOU was entered into with IDBI Bank on December 13, 2017, wherein, Loans of 
adequate quantity for establishment of Milk Chilling Centres/Milk Processing Units with 
necessary equipment's are sanctioned. In addition, vendors engaged in allied dairy activities 
such as milk transportation from village to Milk Chilling Centre and milk road tanker for 
transporting chilled milk from Milk Chilling Centre to Dairy Processing Plant will also be 
�nanced by IDBI Bank.

In June, 2017 Kwality organized a grand ceremony at Fatehabad, Haryana, for disbursement of third tranche of INR 40,000 mn of loan 
to its farmers as part of MOU entered into with Bank of Baroda. The event was graced by the presence of Mr. Manohar Lal Khatter, 
Honorable Chief Minister of Haryana. The event was attended by over 2000 farmers and the sanction letter given to over 400 farmers.  
 
Productivity Enhancement Programme: 

Kwality Limited is ever committed for implementing “Productivity Enhancement Programme” at village level, which broadly includes 
following:

1. Sale of Feed and Feed Supplements

 The Company has outsourced the manufacture of Feed and Feed Supplements to supply quality feed at lowest price to Milk 
Producers, associated with the Company. The Feed and Feed Supplements are prepared under strict control and supervision of 
Nutrition Experts of the Company and are sold under the Brand name 'Dairy Best'. 

 The Company has a tie up with Ayurvet Limited to promote herbal medicines for Cattles for most common ailments like mastitis, 
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retention of placenta, infertility and constipation etc.

 The Company has also collaborated with Indian Immunological Limited, a subsidiary of NDDB for purchase of Feed Supplements 
and medicines for Cattles.

2. Animal Health Camp

 Monitoring animal health and prevention and control of diseases  is  an  integrated part 
of Dairy Industry and Kwality Limited is dedicated for this cause. The Company has 
organised a number of Animal Health Camps in Financial Year 2017-18 in its area of 
operations. The Animal Health Team is comprised of Quali�ed Veterinarians of the 
Company and Local Veterinarians created due awareness on various aspects of 
infertility and mastitis and suggested curative and preventive measures. 

3. Milk Producers' Sangoshthi 

 To create general awareness and address issues connected with poor health 
management practices by Milk Producers, the Company organized Dugdh Utpadak 
Sangosthis and a large number of Milk Producers participated in these programme.

4. Clean Milk Production Campaign

 Quality raw milk is prerequisite for manufacturing high Quality Dairy Products. Thus 
clean milk production practices, at village level are essential. To create awareness of 
hygiene and sanitation, “clean Milk Production” campaign was driven by the Company, 
covering  VLC villages, people educating and Milk Producers.

Community Health Programme: 
 
1. Oral Health Camp

 Under Health Community programme, 4 Oral Health Camps for School children were 
organized  in remote village of Uttar Pradesh, Haryana and Rajasthan, who were made 
aware about dental care, problems and preventive measures with impressing for 
regular brushing, Toothpaste and Brushes were distributed among the participants. 

2. Training Programmes

 Trained manpower is most valuable asset of an organisation, which plays  vital role in achieving business excellence. This 
investment in training and development by any organisation is directly related to human resource development, a real need of a 
vibrant organisation.

 Kwality Limited has tie-up arrangement with Central Institute for Research on Cattle (CIRC) Meerut, to impart trainings on animal 
breeding, feeding and other cattle related issues both for our extension team and awareness camps in villages for Milk Producers.

 Details of Training Programmes are as under:

3. Company Farmer Linkage (CFL) programme
 Deep personal bonding between Milk Producers and Company is a complimentary component having direct impact upon Dairy 

business and up-liftment of Rural community. This linkage bonding by the Company has been strengthen through Print & 

Electronic Media and personal contacts and direct dialogue with Milk Producers.

S.No.

1

Description of Training Course No. of 
Programmes held

No. of 
Participants

Effective VLC opertions

2 Dairy animal Nutrition

3 Clean Milk Production 

4 VSP Orientation

5 Time Management 

6 Milk Managment

Total

4

3

5

8

3

4

27

34

48

24

141

27

32

306
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 Print Media:

	 For educating the Milk Producers and appraising them about New Government Schemes, various topics concerning Live Stock 
and success stories, the Company is publishing a monthly Journal 'Kwality Mitra'.

 Electronic Media:

	 For the bene�ts of associated Milk Producers and farmers, Kwality Limited is arranging talks and interviews of Dairy Experts by 
using Electronic Media both Radio & Televisions on regular basis, sharing experiences on Dairy farming and related topics.

 RADIO:

 In collaboration with Prasar Bharti, Kwality Limited has launched a radio- programme 'e Kwality Mitra', based on live Chaupal 
with Milk Producers and regular topics by livestock specialists for the general bene�ts of persons in Dairy Industry. Senior 
officers of Kwality Limited also shared their views with Milk Producers on regular basis.

 TELEVISION:

 The cooperation extended by National Television Channels like DD News, DD Kisan and DD National to the Company and its 
main constituents Milk Producers is appreciable. Valuable information was imparted to Milk Producers on various aspects by 
the Dairy Experts on regular basis. Company's various activities were also covered by Doordarshan. 
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Inter phase programmes between Research Institutes and Milk Producers:

With a view to understand and resolve problems of Dairy Farmers instantly, the Company arranged  Scientist – Farmers Meet
at ICAR, Central Institute of Cattle Research Meerut, Sardhana. Several new projects of rural development including Dairy
Farming & Animal Health are in hand for implementation.

COMPOSITION OF CSR COMMITTEE:

The Composition of CSR Committee of the Company as on March 31, 2018 is as follows:

Name of Member      Nature of Directorship

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra      Managing Director
Mr. Sidhant Gupta      Non Executive Director
Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna     Independent Director
Mr. Rajinder Singh      Member
Mr. Satish Kumar Gupta     Member
*Mr. Sidhant Gupta has resigned from the position of Non-Executive Director and therefore Dr. Kuldeep Sharma has been
appointed as Member of the committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.

Average net pro�t of the Company for last three �nancial Years : Rs. 20307.13 Lakh 

Prescribed CSR Expenditure (2% of amount as above)- Rs. 406.14 Lakhs

Details of CSR Spent during the �nancial year:

a)  Total amount spent for the Financial Year: Rs. 412.90 Lakhs
b)  Amount unspent, if any: Rs. Nil
c)  Manner of spending amount during the �nancial year –as per details below:

In case the Company has failed to spend the 2% of average net pro�t of the last three years or any part thereof, the Company
shall provide the reasons for not spending the amount in its Board Report- Not Applicable

The CSR Committee con�rms that implementation and monitoring of CSR Policy is in compliance with  CSR Objectives and
Policy of the Company.

Sd/-
Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna
Chairman

Place : New Delhi  
Dated : September 01 2018

CSR Project
s/ Activities

Sector in 
which 
project 
/activities 
covered

Location 
where 
project is 
undertaken: 
State 
(Local Area 
/District)

Amount 
Outlay 
(Budget) 
Project/ 
Programme 
wise 

Amount spent on the 
project/programmes 

Direct
Expenses

Over
head
expenses

Cumulative 
Expenditure 
upto the 
Reporting 
Period

Amount 
Spent: 
Direct or 
through 
Implementing 
Agency

Supply of 
Balanced 
feeds
Animal Health 
Camp / Farmer 
awareness program

Dugdh 
Utpadak 
Sangoshthi

Oral Health
Camp

Training

Mega Credit 
Camp

Productivity 

Enhancement

Do

Do

Community
Health

Capacity 
Building

Livelihood 

Enhancement

UP, HR & RJ

RJ & HR

UP

UP

UP

HR

388.25

6.01

1.78

0.09

0.21

-

16.56

-

-

-

-

-

404.81

6.01

1.78

0.09

0.21

-

Direct

Direct

Direct

Direct

Direct

Direct

Rs. In Lakhs
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Annexure 3 to Director’s Report 
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

stFOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 March, 2018

[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No.9 of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members, 
Kwality Limited

CIN: L74899DL1992PLC255519

KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place, 
Rajouri Garden 
New Delhi –110027

We have conducted Secretarial Audit of compliance with the applicable statutory provisions and  adherence to good corporate 
st practices by M/s Kwality Limited (hereinafter called the Company) for the year ended 31 March 2018. Secretarial Audit was 

conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and 
expressing our opinion thereon.

Based on our veri�cation of the Company's books, papers, minutes book, forms and returns �led and other records maintained by 
the Company and also the information provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorized representatives during the 
conduct of Secretarial Audit, we hereby report that in our opinion,  the Company has during the course of audit covering the 

st�nancial year ended 31  March, 2018 complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also, that the Company has 
proper board-processes and compliance - mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made 
hereinafter:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns �led and other records maintained by the Company for the 
st �nancial year ended 31 March, 2018 according to the provisions of:

(I) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder; 
(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 ('SCRA') and the rules made thereunder; 
(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder; 
(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder  to the extent of Foreign
 Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial  Borrowings – provisions of Overseas Direct
 Investment and External Commerical Borrowings. 
(v) The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 ('SEBI Act')  
 a)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011; 

th b)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 1992 (upto 14  May 2015)
th  and Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 (effective 15  May

  2015); 
 c)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009;
 d)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Bene�ts) Regulations, 2014;
 e)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008; 
 f )  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding
  the Companies Act and dealing with client;

 g)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 1998;
 h) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,  2015

(vi)  The management has identi�ed and con�rmed the following laws as being speci�cally applicable to the Company: 
 a. Food Safety and Standards Act, 2006, rules and regulations thereunder; 

 b. Legal Metrology Act, 2009 and rules and regulations thereunder; 
 c. Infant Milk Substitutes, Feeding Bottles and Infant Foods (Regulation of  Production, Supply and Distribution) Act, 1992
  and rules thereunder (Local Infant Code);
 d. Agricultural Produce (Grading and Marketing) Act, 1937;
 e.  Bureau of Indian Standards (BIS) Act, 1986;
We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:
(i) Secretarial Standards with respect to Meetings of Board of Directors (SS-1) and General Meetings (SS-2) issued by The

st Institute of Company Secretaries of India and made effective 1  July, 2015). 
(ii) The Listing Agreement entered into by the Company with BSE Limited and SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
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st Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (effective 1  December, 2015).

During the period under review, the Company has complied with provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, 
Standards, etc. as far as applicable to it.

We further report that:- 
  
Ÿ The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive Directors, Non-Executive 

Directors, Independent Directors and a Woman Director.  The changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that took 
place during the period under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act.

Ÿ Adequate notice is given to all Directors to schedule the Board Meetings; agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent 
atleast seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further information and clari�cations on the 
agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the meeting.

Ÿ Majority decision is carried through, while the dissenting members' views, if any, are captured and recorded as part of the 
minutes.

We further report that based on review of compliance mechanism established by the Company  and on the basis of the 
Compliance Report issued by the Company Secretary and taken on record by the Board of Directors at their meeting(s), we are 
of the opinion that the management has adequate systems and processes commensurate with its size and operations, to 
monitor and ensure compliance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines.

We further report that, the compliances by company of applicable �nancial laws i.e. Direct and Indirect tax laws and maintains  
of Financial books and records and books of accounts has not been reviewed in this audit since the same have been subject to 
reviewed by statutory �nancial  audit and other designated professional. 

We further report that during the review period no major action having a bearing on the Company's affairs in pursuance of the 
above referred laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, standards, etc. have taken place.

For MukunVivek & Company
(Company Secretaries) 

Sd/-
Mukun Arora
(Partner) 
M. No. 15980
C.P No. 4766

Date: 28 May 2018
Place: Delhi

   Note: This report is to be read with letter, which is annexed as Annexure A.
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'Annexure A’

To,

The Members, 
Kwality Limited
 
CIN: L74899DL1992PLC255519
 
KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place, 
Rajouri Garden 
New Delhi - 110027  

Our Secretarial Audit Report is to be read along with this letter.
 
Management's Responsibility

1. It is the responsibility of the management of the Company to maintain secretarial records, devise  proper systems to ensure 
compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and regulations and  to ensure that the systems are adequate and operate 
effectively. 

Auditor's Responsibility

2. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records, standards and  procedures followed by the Company 
with respect to secretarial compliances. 

3. We believe that audit evidence and information obtained from the Company's management  is adequate and appropriate for 
us to provide a basis for our opinion. 

4. Wherever required, we have obtained the management's representation about the compliance  of laws, rules and regulations 
and happening of events, etc. 

Disclaimer
5.  The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company  nor of the efficacy or effectiveness 

with which the management has conducted the affairs of the  Company.

For MukunVivek & Company
(Company Secretaries)  

Sd/-
Mukun Arora
(Partner) 
M. No. 15980
C.P No. 4766

Date: 28 May 2018
Place: Delhi
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Annexure 4 to Director’s Report
Information required under Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies 

(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014

A. Ratio of remuneration of each Director to the median remuneration of all the employees of your Company for
 the �nancial year 2017-18 is as follows:

 Notes:
 1. The information provided above is on standalone basis.

2. The aforesaid details are calculated on the basis of remuneration for the �nancial year 2017-18.

3. Median remuneration of the Company for all its employees is Rs 1,81,200 for the Financial Year 2017-18.

B. Ratio of percentage increase in the remuneration of each Director and CFO & Company Secretary 
 in the Financial Year 2017-18 are as follows:

*In the Annual General Meeting held on September 29, 2017 the remuneration of Mr. Manjit Dahiya is increased by 107.84 % whereas 

the remuneration during FY 2016-17 includes ESOP (Net of difference of Fair Market Value). Due to this reason there is negative impact 

on the percentage.

** Dr. Kuldeep Sharma appointed as Director w.e.f. October 25, 2017 and accordingly the salary is computed for six months for the FY 

2017-18. Therefore there in no increase in his remuneration.

Name of Director

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra

Mr. Manjit Dahiya

Dr. Kuldeep Sharma

Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla
th(resigned w.e.f 25  October, 

2017)
Mr. Sidhant Gupta

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna

Ms. Ankita Mehrotra 

Total 
Remuneration 

(Rs)

1,30,59,600

44,00,004

6,27,097

48,30,524

60,000

50,000

60,000

Ratio of remuneration of 
director to the Median 
remuneration

72.07

24.28

3.46

26.66

0.33

0.28

0.33

Name

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra

Mr. Manjit Dahiya

Dr. Kuldeep Sharma

Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla
th(resigned w.e.f 25  October, 

2017)
Mr. Sidhant Gupta

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna

Ms. Ankita Mehrotra 

Designation

Managing Director

Whole Time Direcotor

1,30,59,600

44,00,004

6,27,097

48,30,524

60,000

50,000

Remuneration (in Rs)

2017 - 18 2016 - 17
Increase

%

Mr. Satish Kumar Gupta

Whole Time Direcotor

Whole 
Time Direcotor

Non Executive
Director

Non Executive 
Idependent Director

Non Executive 
Idependent Director

CFO

60,000

31,73,440

1,30,59,600

54,33,200

40,00,000

80,000

80,000

70,000

-

17,36,130

NIL

-19.02*

NA**

20.76****

N.A***

N.A***

N.A***

82.79****

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Srivastava Company Secretary 12,31,500 24,50,250 -49.74#
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 ***There is no increase in the remuneration of Non-Executive Independent Directors. Sitting fees has been paid to them epending 
upon the number of meetings.
**** The increase in remuneration of Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla during FY 2017-18 includes ESOP (Net of difference of Fair Market Value).
Also the increase in remuneration of Mr. Satish Kumar Gupta includes ESOP (Net of difference of Fair Market Value). # The remuneration 
of Mr. Pradeep K. Srivastava during FY 2016-17 includes ESOP (Net of difference of Fair Market Value).

C.  Percentage of increase in the median remuneration of all employees in the Financial Year 2017-18 is 21.57%

D.  Number of Permanent employees on the rolls of the company as on March 31, 2018 are 1150

E.  Comparison of average percentage increase in salary of employees other than the Key Managerial Personnel and 
percentage increase in the key managerial remuneration:

*In the Annual General Meeting held on September 29, 2017 the remuneration of Mr. Manjit Dahiya is increased by 107.84 % whereas 
the remuneration during FY 2016-17 includes  ESOP (Net of difference of Fair Market Value). Due to this reason there is negative impact 
on the percentage.
** Dr. Kuldeep Sharma appointed as Director w.e.f. October 25, 2017 and accordingly the salary  is computed for six months for the FY 
2017-18. Therefore there in no increase in his remuneration.
*** The increase in remuneration of Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla during FY 2017-18 includes ESOP (Net of difference of Fair Market 
Value). 
Also the increase in remuneration of Mr. Satish Kumar Gupta includes ESOP (Net of difference of Fair Market Value).
#The remuneration of Mr. Pradeep K. Srivastava during FY 2016-17 includes ESOP (Net of difference of Fair Market Value). 

F.  Key Parameters for the variable component of remuneration paid to the Directors:

The key parameters for the variable component of remuneration to the Directors are decided by the Remuneration, Compensation 
and Nomination Committee in accordance with the principles laid down in Nomination and Remuneration Policy.

Detailed Policy of Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee forms part of Corporate Governance report.

G.  Affirmation:

It is affirmed that the remuneration paid to the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and senior management is as per the policy 
formulated by Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee of the Company.

Particulars

Average salary of all employees 
(other than Key Managerial 
Personnel)

2017 - 18 2016 - 17 Increase
%

2,91,868 -12.402,55,679

Key Managerial Personnel

Salary of Mr. Sanjay Dhingra-MD

Salary of Mr. Manjit Dahiya-WTD

Salary to Mr. Kuldeep Sharma

Salary of Dr. Satyendra Kumar 
Bhalla-WTD (Resigned w.e.f 

th25  October, 2017)

Salary of Mr. Pradeep K. 
Srivastava-Company Secretary

Salary of Mr. Satish Kumar Gupta-CFO

1,30,59,600 NIL1,30,59,600

44,00,004 54,33,200 -19.02*

6,27,097 - NA**

48,30,524 40,00,000 20.76***

12,31,500 24,50,250 -49.74#

31,73,440 17,36,130 82.79***
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Annexure 5 to Director’s  Report
NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY

Our policy on the appointment and remuneration of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel provides a framework based on which 
our human resources management aligns their recruitment plans for the strategic growth of the Company. The nomination and 
remuneration policy is provided herewith pursuant to Section 178(4) of the Companies Act and Regulation 19 of SEBI (Listing 
Obligation and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. The Policy is also available on our website www.kwality.com

INTRODUCTION

The Company considers human resources as its invaluable assets. This policy on nomination and remuneration of directors and Key 
Managerial personnel (KMP's) has been formulated in terms of the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Listing Agreement 
to pay equitable remuneration to the directors and KMPs of the company and to harmonize the aspirations of human resources 
consistent with the goals of the company.

Objective and purpose of the policy

The objectives and purpose of this policy are:
• To formulate the criteria for determining quali�cations, competencies, positive attributes and independence for the 

appointment of a director (executive/ non-executive) and recommend to the Board policies relating to the remuneration of the 
directors and KMPs. To address the following items: committee member quali�cations, committee member appointment and 
removal; committee structure and operations; and committee reporting to the Board. 

• To formulate the criteria for evaluation of performance of all the directors on the Board;
• To devise a policy on Board diversity; and
• To lay out remuneration principles for employees linked to their effort, performance and achievement relating to the Company's 

goal.

Constitution of the Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee

The Board has constituted the Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee of the Board. This is in line with the 
requirements under the Companies Act, 2013 ('the Act').

The Board has authority to reconstitute this committee from time to time.
De�nitions
‘The Board' means Board of Directors of the Company. 
'Directors' means Directors of the Company.
'The Committee' means the Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee of the Company as constituted or 
reconstituted by the Board, in accordance with the Act and applicable listing agreements and/or regulations.
'The Company' means Kwality Limited.
'Independent Director' means a director referred to in Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules.

‘Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)' means:

i. the Chief Executive Officer or the Managing Director or Manager
ii.  the Company Secretary
iii. the Whole-Time Director
iv. the Chief Financial Officer
v. such other officer as may be prescribed

Unless the context otherwise requires, words and expressions used in this policy and not de�ned herein but de�ned in the Companies 
Act, 2013 and Listing Agreement as may be amended from time to time shall have the meaning respectively assigned to them therein.

 General 

 This Policy is divided into three parts:
 Part - A covers the matters to be dealt with and recommended by the committee to the Board;
 Part - B covers the appointment and nomination; and 
 Part - C covers remuneration and perquisites etc.
 
Part - A

 Matters to be dealt with, perused and recommended to the Board by the Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee
 The following matters shall be dealt with by the committee:

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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Size and composition of the Board

 Periodically reviewing the size and composition of the Board to ensure that it is structured to make appropriate decisions, with a 
variety of perspectives and skills, in the best interests of the Company as a whole.

 Directors

 Formulate the criteria determining quali�cations, positive attributes and independence of a director and recommending candidates 
to the Board, when circumstances warrant the appointment of a new director, having regard to the range of skills, experience and 
expertise, on the Board and who will best complement the Board.

 Succession plans

 Establishing and reviewing Board and senior executive succession plans to ensure and maintain an appropriate balance of skills, 
experience and expertise on the Board and KMP's.

 Evaluation of performance

 Make recommendations to the Board on appropriate performance criteria for the directors.
  Formulate the criteria and framework for evaluation of performance of every director on the Board of the Company.

 Board diversity

 The committee is to assist the Board in ensuring that diversity of gender, thought, experience, knowledge and perspective is 
maintained in the Board nomination process, in accordance with the Board Diversity Policy.

 Remuneration framework and policies

 The committee is responsible for reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on:
(a) the remuneration of the managing director, whole-time directors and KMPs;
(b)  the total level of remuneration of non-executive directors and for individual remuneration for  non-executive directors, including 

any additional fees payable for membership of Board committees;
(c) the remuneration policies for all employees including KMPs, includes base pay, incentive payments, equity awards, retirement 

rights and service contracts, having regard to the need to :
 (i)  attract and motivate talent to pursue the Company's long-term growth;
 (ii) demonstrate a  clear  relationship  between  executive compensation and performance; and
 (iii) be reasonable and fair, having regard to the best governance practices and legal requirements.
(d) the Company's equity-based incentive schemes, including a consideration of performance thresholds and regulatory and market 

requirements;
(e)  the Company's superannuation arrangements and compliance with relevant laws and regulations in relation to superannuation 

arrangements; and
(f )  the Company's remuneration reporting in the �nancial statements and remuneration report.

PART B

Policy for the appointment and removal of directors, and KMPs.

Appointment criteria and quali�cations

The criteria for the appointment of directors, and KMPs are as follows :

Ÿ The committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity, quali�cation, expertise and experience of the person for appointment as 
director and KMP and recommend to the Board  his/ her appointment.

Ÿ A person to be appointed as director and KMP should possess adequate quali�cation, expertise and experience for the position 
he/she is considered for appointment. The committee has discretion to decide whether quali�cation, expertise and experience 
possessed by a person is sufficient / satisfactory for the concerned position.

Ÿ A person, to be appointed as director, should possess impeccable reputation for integrity, deep expertise and insights in sectors / 
area relevant to the Company, ability to contribute to the Company's growth, and complementary skills in relation to the other 
Board members.

Term / Tenure

Managing Director / Whole-Time Director

The Company shall appoint or re-appoint any person as its managing director and CEO or whole-time director for a term not 
exceeding �ve years at a time. No re-appointment shall be made earlier than one year before the expiry of the term.
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Independent Director

An independent director shall hold office for a term of up to �ve consecutive years on the Board of the Company and will be eligible for 
re-appointment on passing of a special resolution by the Company and disclosure of such appointment in the Board's report.

No independent director shall hold office for more than two consecutive terms, but such independent director shall be eligible for 
appointment after the expiry of three years of ceasing to become an independent director. Provided that an independent director 
shall not, during the said period of three years, be appointed in or be associated with the Company in  any other capacity, either 
directly or indirectly. However, if a person who has already served  as an independent director for �ve years or more in the Company as 
on April 1, 2014 or such  other date as may be determined by the committee as per regulatory requirement, he / she  shall be eligible 
for appointment for one more term of �ve years only.

At the time of appointment of an independent director, it should be ensured that the number  of Boards on which such independent 
director serves is restricted to seven listed companies  as an independent director and three listed companies as an independent 
director in case  such person is serving as a whole-time (executive) director of a listed company.

Removal

Due to any of the reasons for disquali�cation mentioned in the Companies Act, 2013, rules  made thereunder or under any other 
applicable Act, rules and regulations, the committee  may recommend to the Board with reasons recorded in writing the removal of a 
director or KMP subject to the provisions and compliance of the said Act, rules and regulations.

Retirement

The whole-time directors and KMP shall retire as per the applicable provisions of the  Companies Act, 2013 and the prevailing policy of 
the Company. The Board will have the discretion to retain the whole-time directors and KMP in the same position / remuneration or 
otherwise, even after attaining the retirement age, for the bene�t of the Company.

PART - C

Policy relating to the remuneration of directors and KMPs.

General

Ÿ The remuneration / compensation / commission to directors will be determined by the committee and recommended to the 
Board for approval.

Ÿ The remuneration and commission to be paid to the Managing Director shall be in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013, and the rules made thereunder.

Ÿ Increments to the existing remuneration / compensation structure may be recommended by the  committee to the Board which 
should be within the limits approved by the shareholders in the case of managing director.

Ÿ Where any insurance is taken by the Company on behalf of its Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer, the Company Secretary 
for indemnifying them against any liability, the premium paid on such insurance shall not be treated as part of the remuneration 
payable to any such personnel. Provided that if such person is proved to be guilty, the premium paid on such insurance shall be 
treated as part of the remuneration.

Remuneration of KMPs 

Policy on the remuneration of KMPs:

The KMP of the Company shall be paid monthly remuneration as per the Company's HR policies and/or as may be approved by the 
Committee. The break-up of the pay scale and quantum of perquisites including, employer's contribution to P.F, pension scheme, 
medical expenses, club fees etc. shall be as per the Company's HR policies.

This Remuneration Policy shall apply to all future / continuing employment/engagement(s) with the Company. In other respects, the 
Remuneration Policy shall be of guidance for the Board. Any departure from the policy shall be recorded and reasoned in the 
Committee and Board meeting minutes.

Minimum remuneration to Managing Director/ Whole Time Director

The Managing Director/Whole-time Director shall be eligible for remuneration as may be approved by the Shareholders of the 
Company on the recommendation of the Committee and the Board of Directors. The break-up of the pay scale, performance bonus 
and quantum of perquisites including, employer's contribution to P.F, pension scheme, medical expenses, club fees etc. shall be 
decided and approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Committee and shall be within the overall remuneration 
approved by the shareholders and Central Government, wherever required.

If, in any �nancial year, the Company has no pro�ts or its pro�ts are inadequate, the Company shall pay remuneration to its Managing 
Director/Whole Time Director in accordance with the provisions of Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 or, if it is not able to comply 
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with such provisions, with the approval of the Central Government.
 
Remuneration to non-executive / Independent Directors

Remuneration

The Non-executive and independent directors are entitled for sitting fee for attending each meeting of the Board which can be 
revised from time to time, depending on individual contribution, the Company's performance, and the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder.

Stock options

Independent directors shall not be entitled to any stock option of the Company.

Policy review

This policy is framed based on the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules thereunder and requirements of Regulation 19 of 
SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 with the stock exchanges.

In case of any subsequent changes in the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 or any other regulation which makes any of the 
provisions in the policy inconsistent with the Act or regulations, the provisions of the Act or regulations would prevail over the policy, 
and the provisions in the policy would be modi�ed in due course to make it consistent with the law.

This policy shall be reviewed by the Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee as and when changes need to be 
incorporated in the policy due to changes in regulations or as may be felt appropriate by the committee. Any change or modi�cation 
in the policy as recommended by the committee would be given for approval to the Board.
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     Annexure 6 to Director’s Report
INFORMATION AS PER SECTION 134 READ WITH COMPANIES (ACCOUNTS) RULES, 2014 

AND FORMING PART OF THE DIRECTOR'S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY

Power and Fuel Consumption:

 (a) Electricity 2017-18 2016-17
  Purchased
  Units 1,34,33,959 88,80,998   
  Total Amount (Rs.)  10,93,14,047 81,079,28
  Rate Per Unit (Rs.) 8.14 9.13    

 (b) Fuels                              2017-18 2016-17
  (Diesel, FO, Burada, Husk &Turi)
  Quantity (ltrs/Kgs) 1,10,40,154 75,79,787                                                      
  Total Amount (Rs.) 11,08,95,955 74,901,588 
  Rate Per Unit (Rs.) 10.04 9.88

TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION 
R & D / PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

The Company has an in-house R & D / Product Development Laboratory to develop pure, hygienic, and nutritious products adhering to 
best Quality Standards. Continuous efforts are made to ensure qualitative improvement and safety of products and optimum 
efficiency in operations.

Speci�c Areas in which R & D / Product Development have been undertaken:
Ÿ Processing of Fresh Raw Milk.
Ÿ Nutri�cation of milk with appropriate nutrients.
Ÿ Improvement of Shelf life of Dairy products.
Ÿ Tamper Proof Packaging of Products.
Ÿ Development of desi ghee “LivLite” brand containing 85% less cholesterol as compared to the normal ghee marketed across 

the world.
Ÿ Consumer acceptance of new Dairy products.

Bene�t Derived

Ÿ Enhanced shelf Life of the Products.
Ÿ Nutritious and Superior Products have allowed Company to expand its market share.
Ÿ Creation of a niche market for low cholesterol ghee.   

Future plan of action

• Invent and develop new present age nutritionally-balanced healthy products. 
• Foraying in the nutraceuticals market.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS and OUTGO:
                    INR in crores
 Total foreign exchange earned               2017-18                            2016-17
 and used:
 (i)  Earnings        :                                    91.76       408.98
 (ii) Expenditure* :                                    93.75                               401.86
 *Foreign Exchange Expenditure incurred on capital goods, raw material, professional fees, 

 capital investments in subsidiary, loan to subsidiary, foreign tour and travel and miscellaneous expenses.

DIRECTOR’S REPORT

         For & on behalf of the Board of Directors 
                                 Sd/-

                           Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna
                            (Chairman)

��                 DIN: 03073914

Place: New Delhi  
Date:  September 01, 2018   
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Corporate Governance essentially involves balancing the interests of various stakeholders, such as shareholders, Management, 
customers, suppliers, �nanciers, Government and the community. Fundamentals of Corporate Governance includes transparency, 
accountabilityand independence. The framework is driven by the objective of enhancing long term stakeholder value without 
compromising on ethical standards and corporate social responsibilities. Efficient corporate governance requires a clear 
understanding of the respective roles of the Board of Directors (“Board”) and of senior management and their relationships with 
others in the corporate structure.

A report on compliance with the principles of Corporate Governance as prescribed by SEBI in Chapter IV read with Schedule V of SEBI 
(Lis�ng Obliga�ons and Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015 (hereina�er referred to as “Lis�ng Regula�ons”) is given below:

2.   Board of Directors:-

Composition of the Board:

i. As on March 31, 2018, the company has Six Directors, out of which three are Executive Directors, two are Independent Directors 
and one is Non-Executive Director. The composition of the Board is in conformity with Regulation 17 of the SEBI Listing 
Regulations read with Section 149 of the Companies  Act, 2013 (“Act”).

ii. None of the Directors on the Board hold directorship in more than ten public companies. Further none of them is member of more 
than ten committees or chairman of more than �ve committees across all the public companies in which he/she is a director. 
None of the directors are inter-se related.

 iii. Independent Directors are non-executive directors as de�ned under Regulation 16(1) (b) of the SEBI Listing Regulations read with 
Section 149(6) of the Act. The maximum tenure of Independent Directors is in compliance with the Act. All the Independent 
Directors have con�rmed that they meet the criteria as mentioned under Regulation 16(1) (b) of the SEBI Listing Regulations read 
with Section 149(6) of the Act.

iv. The names and categories of the Directors on the Board, their attendance at Board Meetings held during the year and the number 
of Directorship and Committee Chairmanships/ Memberships held by them in other public companies as on March 31, 2018 are 
given herein below: 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

1.  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The composition of the Board is to have an appropriate mix of Executive and Non- Executive Independent Directors to maintain the 
independence of the Board and to separate its functions of governance and management. The Company has established systems, 
procedures and policies to ensure that its Board of Directors is well informed and well equipped to discharge its overall responsibilities 
and provide the Management with the strategic direction catering to exigency of long term shareholders value.
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Name of the 
Director 

Category Number of board 

meetings during 

the year 2017-18

Whether 
attended 
last AGM 
held on 
September 
29, 2017

Number of 

Directorship in 

other 

Companies

Number of Committee 

Positions held in other 

public companies

Held A�ended Chairman Member

Dr. Rattan 

Sagar Khanna

Mr. Sanjay 

Dhingra

Mr. Manit

Dahiya 

*Dr. Satyendra 
Kumar Bhalla

*Dr. Kuldeep 
Sharma

**Mr. Sidhant 
Gupta

***Ms. Ankita 
Mehrotra

Non-Executive 
Independent 

Director

Executive 
Director

Executive 
Director

Executive 
Director

Executive 
Director

Non-Executive 
Director

Non-Executive 
Women

Independent
Director

6

6

6

3

3

6

6

5

5

5

3

3

6

6

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Nil

1

Nil

Nil

1

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

*Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla resigned from the position of Whole Time Director w.e.f. October 25, 2017 and Dr. Kuldeep Sharma has 
been appointed as Whole Time Director w.e.f. October 25, 2017. 

 ** Mr. Sidhant Gupta resigned from the position of Non-Executive Director w.e.f. July 11, 2018.

***Ms. Ankita Mehrotra resigned from the position of Women Independent Director w.e.f. July 28, 2018 and Ms. Swati Chaturvedi has 
been appointed as Women Independent Director w.e.f. July 28, 2018.

v. Six Board Meetings were held during the year and the gap between two meetings did not exceed one hundred and twenty
 days. The dates on which the said meetings were held are as follows:  

The necessary quorum was present for all the meetings.

vi. During the year 2017-18, information as mentioned in Part A of Schedule II of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
 Requirements) Regulations, 2015 has been placed before the board for its consideration.  

vii. The terms and conditions of appointment of the Independent Directors are disclosed on the website of the company.

viii. During the year, a meeting of the Independent Director was held on March 27, 2018.  The Independent Directors, inter-alia, 
reviewed the performance of non-independent directors, Chairman of the Company, taking into account the views of Executive 
and Non-Executive Directors and the Board as a whole. They expressed satisfaction on the quality, quantity and timeliness of �ow 
of information between the Company Management and the Board, that is necessary for the Board to effectively and reasonably 
perform their duties.

ix. The Board periodically reviews the compliance reports of all laws applicable to the company, prepared by the company.

x.   Details of equity shares of the company held by the Directors as on March 31, 2018 are given below:

Date of Board Meeting

26.05.2017

14.11.2017

11.08.2017

12.02.2018

25.10.2017

19.02.2018

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Name Category Number of equity shares

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Executive Director 15,21,54,714

Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non Executive Director 42,62,232
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stDirectors Pro�le As on 31  March, 2018:
 
Dr. Ra�an Sagar Khanna (DIN: 03073914)

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna did his BVSc & AH and M.Sc. (Hons) from Punjab Agricultural University. He is Diploma holder in Semen 
Freezing Gynecology & Andrology from Royal Veterinary and Agriculture University, Copenhagen, Diploma in Farm & Science 
Journalism from Institute of Farm & Science Journalism, New Delhi. With more than 40 years of experience, he has worked at senior 
posi�ons in Dairy, Farming and in Agriculture Sector in the areas of manufacturing, consul�ng and marke�ng. He has joined the Board of 
“Kwality Limited” in May 2010. 

Dr. Khanna is currently consultant to international consulting organization: Guide Point New York and Singapore and is a Council 
Member and Consultant of Gerson Lehrman Group, New York, USA, Aurum Equity, Gurgaon, is Principal Consultant to Jharnai Dairy, 
Behrampur (Odisha), is Vice Chairman & Consultant of Centre for Institute of Animal Husbandry and Dairy Development, Noida, 
Member, Research Advisory Council, World Buffalo Trust, Noida. Dr Khanna is associated with the Indian Dairy Association in various 
capacities since 1992, is Co-Chairman Food & Agri  Processing Committee of the PHD Chamber of Commerce & Industry, New Delhi,  
Member of the Industry Committees of the Food Standards & Safety Authority of India (FSSAI), New Delhi.

In the past, Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna has been consultant to the Department of  Animal Husbandry, Dairy & Fisheries, Government of 
India, New Delhi. He has held International assignments in the dairy sector with the World Bank, Asian Productivity organisation, 
Japan, Policy Reforms Committee of Pakistan, JE Austin Associates, Inc. Lahore and Consultant Dairy and Animal Feed Groups of the 
Sayga Investment Co. Ltd., Khartoum, Sudan and has carried out many developmental and commercial assignments in Nepal, Sri 
Lanka, Pakistan, Vietnam, Denmark, and Germany. He has visited the Europe, Asia, UAE, New Zealand, and Africa. 

He was Chief Executive Animal Feeds Business in Ayurvet Limited, Advisor to the GCMMF, General Manager in Gujarat Co-operative 
Milk Marketing Federation, New Delhi, Managing Director of Rajasthan Cooperative Dairy Federation, Jaipur, Resident  
Representative (Northern Region) of National Dairy Development Board, New Delhi, and Head (Projects) of Indian Dairy Corporation, 
Baroda. 
 
He has been providing his valuable inputs on major initiatives taken by the Company as well as the technologies introduced in the 
Company. He is actively involved in introduction and launch of our anchor Brand “Dairy Best - Livlite”. Dr. Khanna has also extended his 
expertise in implementation and establishment of village milk collection centres and milk chilling centres of the Company. His 
contribution to establishing communication with the rural milk producers through our magazine Kwality Mitra, through All India 
Radio and television has abridged the gap between the Company and the farmers.  

As an investor protection activist and proponent of good corporate governance, Dr. Khanna has been the guiding force in company's 
CSR initiatives. An old war horse in Dairy Business, his experience has been a valuable asset for the company.

Sanjay Dhingra (DIN: 00025376) 

Kwality Limited is managed by the Board of Directors headed by Shri Sanjay Dhingra. He has rich experience over two decades in 
diversi�ed activities such as Manufacturing,  Trading & International Marketing in the FMCG sector. He has led the group's activities 
from the front. It is his visionary attributes that has manifested in the  expansion of the business and enlargement of the value chain 
both in upstream and downstream sectors.

His business acumen combined with his grass root level exposure in the FMCG  Industry has been instrumental in making Kwality 
Limited one of the fastest growing companies in the Dairy Sector. Under his able leadership the company has successfully established 
itself as a dominant player in the dairy industry in the country. 

Shri Sanjay Dhingra was felicitated by then Hon'ble Union Finance Minister Mr. Pranab Mukherjee for being a successful, self-made 
industrialist and for his immense contribution to the Dairy sector.

Sidhant Gupta (DIN: 00555513)

Shri Sidhant Gupta was appointed on the Board of Directors of the Company on April 18, 2011. He is responsible for growth and 
strategic planning for the Company.  He is Management Graduate in Finance from one of the reputed college Shri  Venkateswara 
College, University of Delhi, India. 

Shri Sidhant Gupta has been instrumental in bringing about technological and  managerial excellence in the Company's operations. 
His rich experience, expertise in business management and foresightedness has been instrumental in elevating “Kwality Limited” to its 
current position wherein the Company has seen fresh growth perspectives including the initiative to incorporate foreign subsidiary, 
expand the company's global footprint and tap various international markets with tremendous growth in terms of both top-line and 
bottom-line.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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He brought about radical changes, implemented business strategies, removed  lacunas of internal system and enhanced the group's 
value by launching new dairy products. A person of strong will and focused mind, he has been instrumental in bringing about 
coherency in operation matters leading to better efficiencies all around including optimum fund building and utilization.

Manjit Dahiya (DIN: 07182188)

Mr. Manjit Dahiya holds more than 25 years of experience in the Dairy Industry, expert in setting dairy plants, development of dairy 
product and implementing latest developments in dairy industry and is responsible for handling technical issue at the Plant and milk 
chilling centers. He is responsible for bringing lots of reforms in SMP, Ghee, Cheese, Paneer, Dairy Whitener and other dairy products  
which prove to be a boon for the company. He has expert knowledge in the products manufactured by Kwality Limited and its 
utilization.

He is also serving on the commi�ee of the Board and has been instrumental in the promo�on of the Company. 

Dr.  Kuldeep Sharma (DIN: 07689428)

Dr. Kuldeep Sharma has over 40 years of experience of scienti�c and Agricultural/Dairy Journalism, scriptwriting, direction, 
compeering and presentation of  TV programs and Films pertaining to agriculture, rural development and scienti�c subjects. A 
number of awards have been won by these �lms.

He has been regular in wri�ng his various books on science and Agriculture including others. More than 80 of his books, bulleitens, reports 
etc. were edited and published for ICAR at different places like DKMA (ICAR), IARI (New Delhi) and CPRI (Shimla).

Under Print Media, he has done Revision and printing of ICAR's most prestigious publication “HANDBOOK OF AGRICULTURE” (2007), 
“Handbook of Fisheries and Aquaculture” (2006), Biofertilizer in sustainable agriculture (2006), Text book of Drainage Engineering 
(2005).

Under Electronic Media, he has been involved in Doordarshan's renowned agricultural program Krishi Darshan as anchor, script-writer 
and V/O artist since 1980. He had also active participation in various other programmes like Kissan, Vikas Ki oor, Nayi Raahen, 
Pariyaavaran among others.

He has also bagged various Na�onal and Interna�onal Awards in Agriculture, Science and Medical Photograph's, Life�me achievement in 
science wri�ng, Best Script Award for Bailgadi among various others.

Ankita Mehrotra (DIN: 07412370)

Ms. Ankita Mehrotra, a graduate in commerce and an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Accounts of India with a strong 
background in Accounts & Auditing, Taxation and good academic quali�cation. She brings to the board her vast expertise in the �eld 
of implementation and design of systems, audit and advisory services and also has business and �nancial expertise in �nancial 
accounting, taxation, auditing and management accounting. She is also a partner of Practising Chartered Accountancy Firm M/s 
Khatri & Mehrotra.

3.   Board Committee's:

The Board has constituted various Committees with an optimum representation of its members and with the speci�c terms of 
reference in accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 and the Listing Regulations. 

Currently, the Board has 6 (Six) Committees i.e. 

•  Audit Committee; 
•  Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee; 
•  Share Transfer Committee; 
•  Stakeholders Relationship Committee/Investor Grievance Committee; 
•  Corporate Social Responsibility Committee;
•  Securities Allotment Committee
The composi�on, scope of work, numbers of the total mee�ngs held during the financial year  2017-18 are as under:

 A.   Audit Committee:

i.  The audit commi�ee of the company is cons�tuted in line with the provisions of Regula�on 18 of SEBI (Lis�ng Obliga�ons and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regula�ons, 2015 read with Sec�on 177 of the Companies Act, 2013.

ii.  The terms of reference of the audit commi�ee are broadly as under:
• Oversight of the company's �nancial reporting process and the disclosure of its �nancial information to ensure that the �nancial 

statement is correct, sufficient and credible; 
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• Recommendation for appointment, remuneration and terms of appointment of auditors of the company; 
• Approval of payment to statutory auditors for any other services rendered by the statutory auditors;
• Reviewing, with the management, the annual �nancial statements and auditor's report thereon before submission to the board 

for approval, with particular reference to: 

Ø Matters required to be included in the Director's Responsibility Statement to be included in Board's Report in terms of
clause (c) of sub-section 3 of section 134 of the Act;

Ø  Changes, if any, in accounting policies and practices and reasons for the same;
Ø Major accounting entries involving estimates based on the exercise of judgement by management;
Ø Signi�cant adjustments made in the �nancial statements arising out of audit �ndings;
Ø Compliance with listing and other legal requirements relating to �nancial statements;
Ø Disclosure of any related party transactions;
Ø Modi�ed opinion(s) in the draft audit report;

• Reviewing, with the management, the quarterly �nancial statements before  submission to the board for approval;
• Reviewing, with the management, the statement of uses / application of funds raised through an issue (public issue, rights issue, 

preferential issue, etc.), the statement of funds utilized for purposes other than those stated in the offer document / prospectus / 
notice and the report submitted by the monitoring agency to monitor the utilisation of proceeds of a public or rights  issue, and 
making appropriate recommendations to the Board to take up steps in this matter; 

• Review and monitor the auditor's independence and performance, and effectiveness of audit process;
• Approval or any subsequent modi�cation of transactions of the company with related parties;
• Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;
• Valua�on of undertakings or assets of the company, wherever it is necessary;
• Evaluation of internal �nancial controls and risk management systems;
• Reviewing, with the management, performance of statutory and internal auditors, adequacy of the internal control systems;
• Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, if any, including the structure of the internal audit department, staffing

 and seniority of the official heading the department, reporting structure coverage and frequency of internal audit;       
• Discussion with internal auditors of any signi�cant �ndings and follow up there on; 
• Reviewing the �ndings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into matters where there is suspected fraud or

 irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature and reporting the matter to the board;
• Discussion with statutory auditors before the audit commences, about the nature and scope of audit as well as post-audit

 discussion to ascertain any area of concern;
• To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payment to the depositors, debenture holders, shareholders (in case of

 non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors;   
• To review the functioning of the Whistle Blower mechanism; 
• Approval of appointment of CFO after assessing the quali�cations, experience and background, etc. of the candidate;
• Carrying out any other function as is mentioned in the terms of reference of the Audit Committee. 

          The audit committee shall mandatorily review the following information:

• Management discussion and analysis of financial condi�on and results of opera�ons;
• Statement of signi�cant related party transactions (as de�ned by the audit committee), submitted by management; 
• Management letters / letters of internal control weaknesses issued by the statutory auditors;
• Internal audit reports rela�ng to internal control weaknesses; and
• The appointment, removal and terms of remunera�on of the chief internal auditor shall be subject to review by the audit commi�ee.
• Statement of deviations:

Ø  quarterly statement of deviation(s) including report of monitoring agency, if applicable, submitted  to stock exchange(s) in
 terms of Regulation 32(1).
Ø  annual statement of funds utilized for purposes other than those stated in the offer document/prospectus/notice in terms 
of Regulation 32(7).

iii.      The Company Secretary acts as Secretary of the Committee.
iv.      The composition of the Audit Committee and the details of meetings  attended by its members are given below:
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Name of Director Category No. of 
Meeting Held 

No. of  Meeting 
Attended

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna
Chairman & 

Non- Executive
Independent Director

6

*Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non- Executive
Director

6 6

5

**Ms. Ankita Mehrotra Non-Executive 
Independent Director 6 6
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*Mr. Sidhant Gupta has resigned from the position of Non-Executive Director w.e.f July 11, 2018 and therefore Mr. Sanjay Dhingra has 
been appointed as Member of the committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.

**Ms. Ankita Mehrotra has resigned from the position of Women Independent Director and therefore Ms. Swati Chaturvedi has been 
appointed as Member of the committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018. 

v.  Six audit committee meetings were held during the year. The dates on which the said  meetings of the Audit Committee were held 
are as under:

B.  Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee  
      
i. The Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee of the Company is constituted in line with the provisions

 of Regulation 19 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 read with Section 178 of the Act,
 which shall comprise of at least three directors, all of whom shall be non-executive directors and at least half of the directors
 shall be Independent Directors. Chairman of the committee shall be an independent director.

 
ii.     The broad terms of reference of the Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee are as under:

·  Formulation of the criteria for determining quali�cations, positive attributes and independence of a director and
 recommend to the Board a policy, relating to the remuneration of the directors, key   managerial personnel and other
 employees;
· Formulation of criteria for evaluation of performance of Independent Directors and the Board of directors;
· Devising a policy on Board diversity;
· Identifying persons who are quali�ed to become directors and who may be appointed in senior management in
 accordance with the criteria laid down, and recommend to the Board their appointment and removal.
· Whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the independent director, on the basis of the report of
 performance evaluation of independent directors.
·    Performing such other duties and responsibilities as may be consistent with the provisions of the committee charter.

iii. The Remuneration, Compensation & Nomination Committee determine the appropriate characteristics, skills and
  experience for the Board as a whole, as well as its individual members. The selection of Board members is based on 
recommendations of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

iv.    The Remuneration policy of the Company is directed towards a structure that will reward and retain talent and provides for a 
balance between �xed and incentive pay re�ecting short and long term performance objectives appropriate to the working of 
the Company and its goals.

v.     The Committee is also responsible to formulate the ESOP Scheme and to discharge all the function of the compensation 
committee under Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Bene�ts) Regulations, 2014.

vi.   The composition of the Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee and the details of meetings attended by its 
members are given below:

   

      
    
 

*Ms. Ankita Mehrotra has resigned from the position of Women Independent Director and therefore Ms. Swati Chaturvedi has been 
appointed as Member of the committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.

26.05.2017 11.08.2017 25.10.2017

14.11.2017 12.02.2018 19.02.2018

Name of Director Category No. of 
Meeting Held 

No. of  Meeting 
Attended

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna
Chairman & 

Non- Executive
Independent Director

6

**Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non- Executive
Director

6 6

6*Ms. Ankita Mehrotra Non-Executive 
Independent Director

6 4
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**Mr. Sidhant Gupta has resigned from the position of Non-Executive Director w.e.f. July 11, 2018 and therefore Mr. Akhilesh Kumar 
Mishra has been appointed as Member of the committee w.e.f. September 01, 2018. 

viii. Six meeting of Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination committee meetings were held during the year.  The dates on 
which the said  meetings of the Committee were held are as under: 

ix. Performance Evaluation Criteria for Independent Directors:  

 The performance of the Independent Directors was also evaluated taking into account the time devoted, strategic guidance to 
the Company, advice given for determining important policies, external expertise provided and independent judgment that 
contributes objectively in the Board's deliberation.

x. Remuneration Policy:

 Remuneration Policy of the Company is designed to create a high performance culture. It enables the Company to attract, retain 
and motivate employees to achieve results.  The Company considers human resources as its invaluable assets. This policy on 
nomination and remuneration of directors and Key Managerial Personnel (KMP's) has been formulated in terms of the provisions 
of Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 to pay equitable  
remuneration to the directors and KMP's of the company and to harmonize the aspirations of human resources consistent with 
the goals of the company.

  The company pays remuneration by way of salary, bene�ts, perquisites, and allowance (�xed component) and commission 
(variable component) to its Managing Director and the Executive Directors.

 During the year 2017-18 the company paid sitting fees of Rs 10,000 per meeting to its Non-Executive Directors for attending 
meetings of the Board. The members have at the AGM of the Company held on September 30, 2015 approved for payment of 
commission to the Non-Executives Directors within the ceiling of 1% of the net pro�ts of the Company as computed under the 
applicable provisions of the Act.  

b.   Managing Director and Executive Director

 
*Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla resigned from the position of Whole Time Director w.e.f. October 25, 2017 and Dr. Kuldeep Sharma 

has been appointed as Whole Time Director w.e.f. October 25, 2017. 

C.      Stakeholders Relationship Committee

i.      The Stakeholder's Relationship Committee is constituted in line with the provisions of Regulation 20 of SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 read with Section 178 of the Act.

26.05.2017 29.06.2017 28.08.2017

25.10.2017 20.12.2017 10.01.2018

xi.     The Details of Remuneration during the year ended March 31, 2018 as follows:-
 
a.      Non-Executive and Independent Directors: 

Name

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna

Commission Sitting Fees

- 0.50

0.60

0.60

Mr. Sidhant Gupta

Ms. Ankita Mehrotra 

-

-

(In Lakh)

Name of Director

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra

Salary
(Rs in 
Lakhs)

Bene�ts/ 
Bonus/
Pension

130.60 -

-Mr. Manjit Dahiya

*Dr. Satyendra Kumar Bhalla

Commission No. of Stock options 
granted during 
the year

*Dr. Kuldeep Sharma

44.00

48.31

6.27

-

-

-

-

- - -

(In Lakh)

- - -
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Name of Director

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna Non-Executive Independent Director

Category

*Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non-Executive Director

**Ms. Ankita Mehrotra Non-Executive Independent Director

Number of meetings 
during the �nancial year 

2017-18
Held Attended

4

4

4

4

3

4

v.      The composition of the Stakeholder's Relationship Committee and the details of meetings attended by its members are 
          given below:

*Mr. Sidhant Gupta has resigned from the position of Non-Executive Director w.e.f. July 11, 2018  and therefore Mr. Sanjay 
Dhingra has been appointed as Member of the committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.

**Ms. Ankita Mehrotra has resigned from the position of Women Independent Director and therefore  Ms. Swati Chaturvedi 
has been appointed as Member of the committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.

vi.     Name, designation and address of Compliance Officer:
Mr. Pradeep K. Srivastava
Company Secretary 
KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place,
Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027
Ph: 011-47006500 (100 lines)

ii. The board has constituted a Stakeholders Relationship Committee to speci�cally look into redressal of shareholder's and 
investor's grievances such as transfer, dividend and demat related matters.

 
iii. The broad terms of reference of the Stakeholder's Relationship Committee are as under:
 

· Consider and resolve the grievances of security holders of the company including redressal of investor complaints such as 
transfer or credit of securities, non-receipt of dividend/notice/annual reports, etc. and all other security-holders related matters.

· Consider and approve issue of share certi�cates (including issue of renewed or duplicate share certi�cates), transfer and 
transmission of securities, etc.

iv.  Four meetings of Stakeholder's Relationship Committee meetings were held during the year. The dates on which the said  
meetings were held are as under:

Opening Balance Received during the year Resolved during the year Closing Balance

1 10 11 0

13.04.2017

31.05.2017

13.07.2017

26.08.2017

12.10.2017

07.12.2017

25.01.2018
15.03.2018

27.04.2017

09.06.2017

24.07.2017

09.09.2017

26.10.2017

21.12.2017

08.02.2018
28.03.2018

11.05.2017

23.06.2017

04.08.2017

14.09.2017

09.11.2017

04.01.2018

20.02.2018

18.05.2017

03.07.2017

12.08.2017

28.09.2017

23.11.2017

18.01.2018

05.03.2018

vii      Details of investor complaints and addressed during the year 2017-18 are as follows:

D.      Share Transfer Committee

I. The Board has constituted Share Transfer Committee to approve transfer and transmission of shares and to approve sub
  division, Consolidation and issue of new/duplicate share certi�cates, whenever requested by the shareholders of the
  company.

ii. Thirty Share Transfer Committee meetings were held during the year. The dates on which the said meetings were held
  are as under:
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iii.    The composition of the Share Transfer Committee and the details of meetings attended by its members are given below:

Name of Director

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna Non-Executive Independent Director

Category

*Mr. Sidhant Gupta Non-Executive Director

**Ms. Ankita Mehrotra Non-Executive Independent Director

Number of meetings 
during the �nancial year 

2017-18
Held Attended

30

30

30

29

30

30

*Mr. Sidhant Gupta has resigned from the position of Non-Executive Director w.e.f. July 11, 2018 and therefore Mr. Sanjay Dhingra 
has been appointed as Member of the committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.

**Ms. Ankita Mehrotra has resigned from the position of Women Independent Director and therefore Ms. Swati Chaturvedi has 
been appointed as Member of the committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.  

E.      CSR Committee

CSR Committee of the Company is constituted in line with the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013. The broad 
terms of reference CSR committee is as follows:
• Formulate and recommend to the board, a CSR policy indicating the activities to be undertaken by the company as speci�ed 
 in Schedule VII of the Act;
• Recommend the amount of expenditure to be incurred on the activities referred to above;
• Monitor the CSR Policy of the Company from time to time
 Three meetings of the CSR Committee were held during the year on May 26, 2017, August 25, 2017 and November 06, 2017.
 The Composition of the CSR Committee and details of the meeting attended by its members are given below:

Name of Director

Mr. Sanjay Dhingra Member

Category

*Mr. Sidhant Gupta Member

Dr. Rattan Sagar Khanna

Number of meetings 
during the �nancial year 

2017-18
Held Attended

3

Mr. Rajinder Singh

Mr. Satish Kumar Gupta

Member

Member

Member

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

2

*Mr. Sidhant Gupta has resigned from the position of Non-Executive Director and therefore Dr. kuldeep Sharma has been appointed as 
Member of the committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.

4.      Code of Conduct

 Your Company has adopted a comprehensive code of conduct for its Board Members, Senior Management Personnel and 
employees of the Company as per the requirement of Regulation 17(5) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015. The Board  Members and Senior Management Personnel have affirmed their compliance with the said  code of 
conduct. The code of conduct has been posted on the website of the Company, www.kwality.com. The declaration to this effect 
signed by Mr. Sanjay Dhingra, Managing Director of the Company forms part of the report.

5.      General Body Meetings:

i.          Detail of last three Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)

 ii.    Following Special Resolutions were passed at AGM held in 2014-2015:-
Ÿ   To enter into related party transactions
Ÿ  To pay commission to Non-Executive Directors within a ceiling limit of 1% of net pro�t of the Company

Year Date Time Location

2016 - 2017

2015 - 2016

2014 - 2015

29.09.2017

30.09.2016

30.09.2015

9.30 A.M

Lavanya, G.T. Karnal Road, Palla 

Bakhtavarpur Road, Alipur, 

Delhi-110036
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Ÿ  Issue of securities/ of the company for an amount of upto Rs 10,000 Million

Following Special Resolutions were passed at AGM held in 2015-2016:-
Ÿ Issue of securities of the company for an amount of upto Rs 10,000 Million

 Following Special Resolutions were passed at AGM held in 2016-2017:-
Ÿ Issue of securities of the company for an amount of upto Rs 15,000 Million  
Ÿ Increase in remuneration of Mr. Manjit Dhaiya

 iii.   Remote e-voting and ballot voting at the AGM
 To allow the shareholders to vote on the resolutions proposed at the AGM, the company has arranged  for  a  remote e -voting 

facility. The company has engaged CDSL to provide e-voting facility to all the  members. Members whose name appear on the 
register of members as on September 22,  2018 shall be eligible to participate in the e-voting.

 The facility for voting through ballot will also be made available at the AGM, and the members  who have not already cast their 
vote by remote e-voting can exercise their vote at the AGM.

 6.     Other Disclosure

a. Related Party Transactions

  All material transactions entered into with related parties as de�ned under the Act and   Regulation 23 of SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations,   2015 during the �nancial year were in the ordinary course of business. These have 
been   approved by the audit committee. The Board has a policy for related party transactions   which has been uploaded on the 
Company's Website at the following link     http://kwality.com/investor-relations#corporateGovernance

b.   Details of non-compliance by the Company, penalties, strictures imposed on the   Company by the stock exchanges or the SEBI or 
any statutory authority, on any matter   related to capital markets, during the last three years 2015-16, 2016-17 and 2017-18   
respectively: SEBI imposed a penalty of Rs. 12,00,000 ( Rupees Twelve Lakhs   vide its order no. EAD-5/SVKM/DS/AO/76-81/2017-18 

thdated 13  July, 2017 for   non-compliance under the Regulation of SEBI PIT and SAST Regulation in the year 2011   o n  K w a l i t y 
Limited and then Promoters. 

c.   The company has adopted a Whistle Blower Policy and has established the necessary   v i g i l  m e c h a n i s m  a s  d e � n e d  u n d e r 
regulation 22 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and   Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 for directors and employees to report   
concerns about unethical behavior. No person has been denied access to the Chairman   of the Audit Committee. The said policy 
has also been put up on the Company's Website   a t  t h e  f o l l o w i n g  l i n k  h t t p : / / k w a l i t y . c o m / i n v e s t o r -
relations#corporateGovernance 

d. The company has also adopted Policy on Determination of Materiality for Disclosures http://kwality.com/investor-
relations#corporateGovernance, Policy on Archival of Documents . http://kwality.com/investor-relations#corporateGovernance
The company has also ensured the implementation of non-mandatory items as prescribed in Part E of Schedule II of the  SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure  Requirements) Regulations, 2015 such as:

 · A non-executive chairperson may be entitled to maintain a chairperson's office at the listed entity's expense and also
  allowed  reimbursement of expenses incurred in performance of his duties.

  · Unmodi�ed audit opinions/reporting
  · The internal auditor reports directly to the audit committee

f.   Reconciliation of Share Capital Audit:
  A quali�ed Practising Company Secretary carried out a share capital audit to reconcile the total admitted equity share capital with 

the National Securities Depository Limited (“NSDL”) and the Central Depository Services (India) Limited (“CDSL”) and the total 
issued and listed equity share capital. The audit report con�rms that the total issued / paid up share capital is in agreement with 
the total number of shares in physical form and the total number of dematerialized shares held with NSDL and CDSL.

g. Code of Conduct
 The members of the board and senior management personnel have affirmed the compliance  with Code applicable to them 

during the year ended March 31, 2018. The annual report  of the company contains a certi�cate by the Managing Director in terms 
of SEBI  (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), Regulations, 2015 on the compliance  declarations received from 
Directors and Senior Management.

 7.  Subsidiary Companies

 The Company has adopted a Policy on Material Subsidiary in line with the requirements of  the Listing Regulations. The objective 
of this policy is to lay down criteria for identi�cation  and dealing with material subsidiaries and to formulate a governance 
framework for  subsidiaries of the Company. The policy on Material Subsidiary is available on the website  of the Company under 
the weblink:  http://kwality.com/investor-relations#corporateGovernance

8.     Means of Communication  

a.      Publication of Quarterly results:
  Quarterly, half-yearly and annual �nancial results of the Company are published in leading english and hindi newspapers in India 
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Date September 29,2018

Lavanya, G.T. Karnal Road, Palla  Bakhtavarpur 

Road, Alipur, Delhi-110036

Time

Venue

9.30 A.M

Financial Year April 01 to March 31

The �nal dividend, if declared, shall be paid/credited 
on or before October 04, 2018

AGM

Dividend Payment

September 29, 2018

Book / Record Date September 24, 2018 to September 29, 2018 
(both days inclusive)

which include Business Standard. The results are also displayed on the Company's Website .www.kwality.com

b.      Website and News Releases
 In compliance with Regulation 46 of the Listing Regulations, a separate dedicated section under 'Investor Relation' on the 

Company's website gives information on various announcements made by the Company, Annual Report, Quarterly/Half yearly/ 
Nine-months and Annual �nancial results along with the applicable policies of the Company. The Company's official news 
releases and presentations made to the institutional investors and analysts are also available 

 on the Company's website (www.kwality.com).

c.      Stock Exchange:
 The Company makes timely disclosures of necessary information to BSE Limited and the National Stock Exchange of India Limited 

in terms of the Listing Regulations and other rules and regulations issued by the SEBI. NEAPS is a web-based application designed 
by NSE for corporates. BSE Listing is a web-based application designed by BSE for corporates. All periodical compliance �lings, 
inter alia, shareholding pattern, Corporate Governance Report, corporate announcements, amongst others  are in accordance 
with the Listing Regulations �led electronically.

d. Reminders to Investors: 
 Reminders to shareholders for claiming returned share certi�cates, unclaimed dividend are regularly dispatched.

9.     General Shareholder Information

I. Annual general Meeting for FY 2017-18

As required under Regulation 36(3) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, particulars of 
Director seeking re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM are  given herein and in the Annexure to the Notice of the AGM   
to be held on September 29, 2018

ii.       Financial Year and Book Closure:
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iii.    Listing on Stock Exchanges

Listing fees as applicable have been paid.

iv. Corporate Identity Number (CIN) of the Company: L74899DL1992PLC255519

v. Dividend Policy:

Dividends are declared at the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders based on the recommendation by the Board. The 
Board may recommend dividends, at its discretion, to be paid to our members. Generally, the factors that may be considered by 
the Board before making any recommendations for the dividend include, but are not limited to, future capital expenditure plans 
and capital requirements, pro�ts earned during the  �nancial year, cost of raising funds from alternate sources, cash �ow position 
and  applicable taxes including tax on dividend, as well as exemption under tax laws  available to various categories of investors 
from time to time and general market conditions.  The Board of Directors may also from time to time pay interim dividend(s) to 
shareholders.

vi. Market Price Data:

vii Performance of the Share Price of the Company in comparison to the BSE Sensex:

Stock Exchanges Address

Exchange Plaza, C-1, Block G,
Bandra Kurla Complex,
Bandra (E), Mumbai – 400 051

BSE Limited

National Stock 
Exchange of India
Limited

Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers 

Dalal Street, Mumbai- 400001

Stock Code/Symbol

531882

KWALITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Month NSE BSE

High
(Rs)

Low (Rs) Total number 

of equity 

shares traded

High
(Rs)

Low (Rs) Total number 

of equity 

shares 

traded
Apr 2017

May 2017

Jun 2017

Jul 2017

Aug 2017

Sep 2017

Oct 2017

Nov 2017

Dec 2017

Jan 2018

Feb 2018

Mar 2018

168.80

156

159.85

159.65

155.80

149.45

104.80

113.40

116.50

119.45

104.45

101.90

148.65

133

137.55

143.40

125.80

95.20

95.90

96.85

98.65

97.20

82.35

59.05

2,64,11,871

2,15,05,700

3,24,49,309

3,04,72,977

315,89839

6,62,48,036

1,92,94,817

4,69,34,599

3,27,18,765

2,19,49,910

3,16,92,559

7,70,12,301

169.05

155.90

159.80

159.65

155.35

149.25

104.80

113.50

116.30

119.40

104.40

101.65

148.70

133.60

137.40

143.60

126

95.50

95.90

96.50

98.85

97.25

81

60.35

58,06,335

34,52,863

46,37,061

54,33,168

38,84,884

1,15,69,551

51,93,091

86,13,110

68,41,435

45,18,652

63,10,479

1,67,37,257
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viii.  Registrar and Share Transfer Agents
 Beetal Financial & Computer Services (P) Ltd.
 Beetal House, 3rd Floor, 99 Madangir,
 Behind Local Shopping Centre, Near Dada
 Harsukhdas Mandir,
 New Delhi-110062
 Phone no.: +91-11-29961281-83
 Fax: 91-11-29961284
 Email: beetal@beetal�nancial.com beetalrta@gmail.com, 
 Website: www.beetal�nancial.com

ix. Share Transfer System
 The share transfer activities in respect of the shares in physical mode are carried out by our RTA, M/s. Beetal Financial & Computer 

Services (P) Ltd. The shares lodged for transfer are processed and share certi�cates duly endorsed are returned within the 
stipulated  time, subject to documents being valid and complete in all respects.

 The Board of Directors of your Company have delegated the authority to approve the transfer of shares, transmission of shares or 
requests for deletion of name of the  shareholder, etc., to the Share Transfer Committee and Registrar and Share Transfer Agent.

 A summary of approved transfers, transmissions, deletion requests, etc., are placed before  the Board of Directors from time to 
time as per SEBI Listing Regulations. Your Company  obtains a half-yearly compliance certi�cate from a Company Secretary in 
Practice as  required under Listing Regulations (including any statutory modi�cation(s) or  re-enactment(s) for the time being in 
force) and �les a copy of the said certi�cate with BSE & NSE.

No. of Shares No. of Shareholders No. of Equity Shares

% of Share 
CapitalTotal

% of Share 
holdersTotal

1-5000

5001-10000

10001-20000

20001-30000

30001-40000

53857

657

219

97.92

1.19

0.39

0.12

0.05

22233375

4653843

3174100

1652713

1018061

9.21

1.93

1.32

0.68

0.42

40001-50000

50001-100000

100001 & above

67

29

23

36

109

0.04

0.06

0.19

1066925

2543744

205011621

0.44

1.05

84.94

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

X.      Shareholding as on March 31, 2018: 

   a.     Distribution of equity shareholding as on March 31, 2018
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b.    Categories of Equity Shareholders as on March 31, 2018

Category Number of equity 

shares held

Percentage of 

holding

Promoters & Promoter Group

Foreign Portfolio Investor

Financial Institutions and Banks

Mutual Funds

Alternate Investment Funds

Individuals- Nominal Value upto 
2 Lakh
Individuals- Nominal Value more 
than 2 Lakh

Body Corporate

HUF

NRI

Trusts

Clearing Member

IEPF Authority 

Grand Total

152154714

12921190

597740

0

930977

30975794

14148619

17483425

2865927

1548251

268400

5380934

2078411

241354382

63.04

5.35

0.25

0

0.39

12.83

5.86

7.24

1.19

0.64

0.11

2.33

0.86

100

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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C.    Top ten equity shareholders of the Company as on March 31, 2018:

Name of the shareholder Number of equity 

shares held

Percentage of 

holding

Sanjay Dhingra

Sidhant Gupta

Bennett Coleman And Company Limited

Naveen Kumar Boga

Matthews Emerging Asia Fund 

Edelweiss Broking Limited

Global Capital Market Limited

Investor Education And Protection 
Fund Authority 

U A Enterprises Private Limited

Old Mutual Global Investors Series

 Public Limited Company

152154714

4262232

3437419

2615000

2533204

2464217

2132537

2078411

2016957

S. No

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10. 1965223

63.04

1.77

1.42

1.08

1.05

1.02

0.88

0.86

0.84

0.81

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

• Dematerialization of shares and liquidity:

 The Company's shares are compulsorily traded in dematerialized form on NSE and BSE. Equity Shares of the Company 
representing 97.17% of the Company's Equity Share Capital are dematerialized as on March 31, 2018.

 Under the Depository System, the International Securities Identi�cation Number (ISIN) allotted to the Company's Shares and 
Debentures is INE775B01025 and INE775B07014 respectively.

 Pursuant to the Regulation 40 of SEBI (Listing Obligation and Diclosure Requirements) Regulation, 2015 as amended from 
time to time provides that, except in case of transmission or transposition of securities, requests for effecting transfer of 
securities shall not be processed unless the securities are held in the demat form with a depository. The same will be effective 
from December 05, 2018. Shareholders who continue to hold shares in physical form are requested to dematerialize their 
shares at the earliest and avail of the various bene�ts of dealing in securities in electronic/ dematerialized form. 

 For any clari�cation, assistance or information, please contact to our RTA M/s Beetal Financial and Computer Services Private 
Limited.

• Outstanding GDRs / ADRs / Warrants or any convertible instruments, conversion date and likely impact on equity:

 The Company sought the consent of the members for preferential allotment of Equity Shares, Convertible Warrants and 
Compulsorily Convertible Debentures of the Company through Postal Ballot notice dated June 14, 2016. Members of the 
Company had approved the above mentioned preferential allotment on August 09, 2016.

 On 19th February, 2018, the Company allotted on preferential basis 21,69,762 Equity Shares at the price of Rs 115.22/- per 
share on conversion of 1 (One) Compulsorily Convertible Warrants aggregating to Rs 25 Crore  to Bennett Coleman & Co Ltd 
(Non Promoter) and 12,15,066 Equity Shares at the price of Rs 115.22/- per share on conversion of 1 (One) Compulsorily 

 Convertible Debentures aggregating to Rs 14 Crore to HT Media Limited (Non Promotor).

• Commodity price risk and or foreign exchange risk and hedging activities

 The Company takes due care with respect to price risk and foreign exchange �uctuations.

• Transfer of unclaimed dividend to Investor Education and Protection Fund:

 Pursuant to applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority 
(Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016, (as amended from time to time) all unpaid or unclaimed dividends are 
required to be transferred by the Company to the Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF) established by Central 
Government, after completion of seven years form the date of transfer to Unclaimed Dividend Account. Further, according to 
the Rules, the shares in respect of which dividend has not been paid or claimed by a shareholder for a period of seven 
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11)  Any Shareholder complaint / queries may be addressed to
Beetal Financial & Computer Services Private Limited
Beetal house, 3rd Floor, 99 Madangir,
Behind Local Shopping Centre, Near Dada
Harsukhdas Mandir, New Delhi-110062
Phone no.: 91-11-29961281-83,
Fax: 91-11-29961284,
Email: beetal@beetal�nancial.com
beetalrta@gmail.com

 10) Address for correspondence  
 Company Secretary
 Kwality Limited,   
 KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place,  
 Rajouri Garden,    
 New Delhi-110027    
 Tel No: 011-47006500(100 lines)  
 Fax No: 011-25191800,    
 E-Mail: Investor@kdil.in
 Website: www.kwality.com   

consecutive years or more shall be credited to the Demat Account of Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority (IEPFA) 
within period of thirty days of such shares becoming due to be so transferred. Upon transfer of such shares, all bene�ts (like 
bonus, etc.), if any, accruing on such shares shall also be credited to such Demat Account and the voting rights on such shares 
shall remain frozen till the rightful owner claims the shares. Shares which are transferred to the Demat Account of IEPFA can be 
claimed back by the shareholder from IEPFA by making application to the IEPF Authority in Form IEPF-5 as per the procedure 
prescribed under the aforesaid rules.

 During the year under review, the company had sent individual notices and also advertised in the newspaper seeking action 
form the shareholders who have not claimed their dividends for seven consecutive years or more. Accordingly, the Company 
transferred the unclaimed dividend of Rs. 8,29,952/- to the Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF).

· 
Plant Locations
• Village Softa, Tesil & Distt. Palwal, Faridabad, Haryana-121004

• Village Mumrejpur, Dibai, Bulandsaher, Uttar Pradesh. 

• Village Kumarherha, NH-73, Saharanpur, Uttar Pradesh. 

• Bakra Mandi, Ajmer, Rajasthan,

• Village: Ram Nagar, Hardoi Road, Sitapur, Uttar Pradesh

• Village: Jarar, Tehsil: Bah, District: Agra, Uttar Pradesh
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12. Detail of Directors seeking appointment/re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting 

Name of 
Directors 

Mr. Sanjay 
Dhingra

Dr. Kuldeep 
Sharma

Ms. Swati 
Chaturvedi

Mr. Akhilesh 
Kumar Mishra

Date of Birth th12  Oct, 1970 th28  March 1953 th05  August, 1976 th10  January, 1976

DIN 00025376 07689428 08187398 08210752

Relationship with 
other Directors 
Inter-se

None None None None

Date of Appointment th18  June, 2003 th25  October, 2017 th28  July, 2018 st01  September, 2018

Quali�cation Graduate Ph.D. , M.Sc. (Botany) B.Com & Cost Accountant Company Secretary

Expertise in speci�c 
functional area

Vast experience 
in dairy business 
& FMCG Products

Outstanding 
experience in 
agriculture, science 
and technology 
popularization. 

Experience in the �eld of 
Cost audit, Internal Audit, 
Finance & Accounts and 
Statutory Compliance 
matters of different 
segment of domestic 
industry

Experience of all 
sorts of Secretarial 
affairs, legal and 
statutory 
compliances under 
various Acts/ 
Statutes

Directorship held in 
other Listed 
Companies as on date

Nil Nil Nil Nil

Chairman/Member of 
the committee of the 
Board of Directors of 
the Company as on 
March 31, 2018

.Member of 
  Management 
  Committee.Member of CSR 
  Committee
 .Member of Risk 
   Management 
   Committee

Nil* Nil* Nil*

Chairman/Member of 
the committee of the 
other companies in 
which he is a director 
as on  March 31, 2018

Nil Nil Nil Nil

Number of Shares 
held in the Company 
as on  March 31, 2018

152,154,714 Nil Nil Nil

Ÿ Dr. Kuldeep Sharma has been appointed as a member of CSR Committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018.
Ÿ Ms. Swati Chaturvedi has been appointed as a member of Audit Committee, Share Transfer Committee, 

Stakeholder Relationship Committee and Remuneration, Compensation & Nomination Committee w.e.f. July 28, 2018. 
Ÿ Mr. Akhilesh Kumar Mishra has been appointed as a member of Remuneration, Compensation & Nomination 

Committee w.e.f. September 01, 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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I hereby con�rm that:
the Company has obtained from all the members of the Board and Senior Management Personnel,  affirmation(s) that they have 
complied with the Code of Conduct for Board Members and Senior Management Personnel in respect of the �nancial year ended 31st 
March, 2018.

Sd/-         
Sanjay Dhingra    
Managing Director
Kwality Limited
KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place
Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027

Date: May 28, 2018
Place:  New Delhi

DECLARATION BY THE MANAGING DIRECTOR UNDER REGULATION 17(5) OF SEBI (LISTING OBLIGATIONS 
AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015
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Certi�cate by the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer on compliance with the condition of 
Compliance Certi�cate under Regulation 17(8) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015
 

The Board of Directors
Kwality Limited

We hereby certify that for the Financial Year 2017-18

1.  We have reviewed the �nancial statements and the cash �ow statement for the year and that to the best of our knowledge
 and belief :
 a.   These statement do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material  fact or contain statements that might 
  be misleading;
 b.  These statements together present a true and fair view of the listed entity's affairs and are in compliance with existing
  accounting standards, applicable law and regulations.
2. There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the listed entity during the year which are
 fraudulent, illegal or violative of the listed entity's code of conduct.
3. We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for �nancial reporting and that we have evaluated
 the effectiveness of internal control systems of the listed entity pertaining to �nancial reporting and we have disclosed to the
 auditors and the audit committee, de�ciencies in the design or operation of such internal controls, if any, of which we are
 aware and the steps we have taken or propose to take to rectify these de�ciencies.
4. We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Committee
 a. signi�cant changes in internal control over �nancial reporting during the year.
 b. signi�cant changes in accounting policies during the year and that the same have been disclosed in the notes to the
  �nancial statements; and 
 c.   instances of signi�cant fraud of which we have become aware and the involvement therein, if any, of the management
  or an employee having a signi�cant role in the listed entity's internal control system over �nancial reporting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Sd/-
Satish Kumar Gupta
Chief Financial Officer
Kwality Limited
KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place
Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027

Date: May 28, 2018
 Place: New Delhi

Sd/-
Sanjay Dhingra 
 Managing Director 
 Kwality Limited  
 KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place 
 Rajouri Garden, New Delhi-110027
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AUDITOR'S CERTIFICATE UNDER SCHEDULE V (E) OF SEBI (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND 
DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015 

COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

 

To 

The Members,
Kwality Limited

stWe have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Kwality Limited for the year ended on 31  March, 
2018 as stipulated in Schedule V (E) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, of the said 
Company with the Stock Exchanges.

The Compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management. Our examination was 
limited to procedures and implementations thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of 
Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the �nancial statements of the Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, we certify that the Company has 
complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above-mentioned SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or 
effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

  
Place: New Delhi
Date: May 28, 2018

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

For Mukun Vivek & Company

(Company Secretaries)

Vivek Sinha

(Partner) 
Membership No. FCS9294
C.P No. 5215
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To The Members of Kwality Limited

 Report on the Standalone  Ind AS Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying standalone Ind AS �nancial statements of Kwality Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the 
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2018, the Statement of Pro�t and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Statement of Cash 
Flow and the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and a summary of signi�cant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

 Management's Responsibility for the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements
           
The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with 

 respect to the preparation of these standaloneInd AS �nancial statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs (�nancial 
position), pro�t or loss (�nancial performance including other comprehensive income), cash �ows and changes in equity of the 
Company in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India. 

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of 
appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal �nancial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of 

 the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standaloneInd AS �nancial statements that give a true and 
fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

 Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these standalone  Ind AS �nancial statements based on our audit. 

We have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and matters which are required to be 
included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder.

  We conducted our audit of the standalone Ind AS �nancial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing speci�ed under 
Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standaloneInd AS �nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the disclosures in the standalone Ind AS 
�nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

 misstatement of the standalone Ind AS �nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
 auditor considers internal �nancial control relevant to the Company's preparation of the standalone  Ind AS �nancial statements that 

give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the 

  Company's Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the standalone Ind AS �nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the  
standalone Ind AS �nancial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid Ind AS �nancial 
statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the 
accounting principles generally accepted in India including the Ind AS, of the state of affairs (�nancial position) of the Company as at 
March 31, 2018, and its pro�t (�nancial performance including other comprehensive income), its cash �ows and the changes in equity  
for the year ended on that date.
           
Emphasis of Matters

We draw attention to the following matters in the Notes to the standalone Ind AS �nancial statements: 
a) Note 46 of the �nancial statement regarding delays in payment of direct taxes as per requirements of Income Tax Act, 1961. Tax 

amounting to INR 17,929.09 lakhs includes income tax payable for earlier years (Also refer clause VII(a) of Annexure B to this 
report). The amounts along with interest have been fully provided in the books of accounts of the Company.

b) Note 47 of the �nancial statement regarding foreign currency receivables and payable outstanding over the respective time limit 
prescribed under the Foreign Exchange Management Act (FEMA), 1999. The Company is currently in process of initiating 
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settlement proceedings in respect of such dues. Pending outcome of such proceedings, we are unable to comment on its impact 
on the �nancial statements.

c) Note 48 of the �nancial statement regarding proceedings initiated under section 132 of Income Tax Act, 1961 on the Company 
and some Directors. As part of routine process the Company has received notices under section 153 and section 148. Since the 
assessment proceedings have not yet started the Company currently is not in a position to evaluate consequential impact, if any 
of possible tax adjustments.

Our opinion is not quali�ed in respect of these matters. 

Other Matter

The standalone Ind AS �nancial statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2017, were audited by another auditor
whose report dated May 26, 2017 expressed an unmodi�ed opinion on those �nancial statements. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that:

 (a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief
 were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

 (b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from
 our examination of those books.

 (c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Pro�t and Loss, the Statement of Cash Flow and the Statement of Changes in
 Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account.

  (d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone Ind AS �nancial statements comply with the Accounting Standards speci�ed
 under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and the Companies (Indian
 Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended.

 (e) The matters described in Annexure A to this report under 'Material Weaknesses' paragraph, in our opinion, may have
 an adverse effect on the functioning of the Company.

 (f) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2018 taken on record by the
 Board of Directors, none of the directors is disquali�ed as on March 31, 2018 from being appointed as a director in
 terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

 (g) With respect to the adequacy of the internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting of the Company and the operating
 effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate report in 'Annexure A’

 (h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies
 (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations
 given to us:

 i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its �nancial position in its standalone Ind AS �nancial 
      statements – Refer Note 38 and 48 to the standaloneInd AS �nancial statements.

 ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material
      foreseeable losses.

 iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the Investor Education and Protection
      Fund by the Company. 

2. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2016 (“the Order”) issued by the Central Government in terms of sub
 section 11 of section 143 of the Act, we give in the 'Annexure B', a statement on the matters speci�ed in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the
 Order.

For MSKA & Associates
Chartered Accountants 

Firm Registration No. 105047W

Amit Mitra
Partner

Membership No. 094518

Place : New Delhi

Date  : May 28, 2018

Sd/
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 ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
KWALITY LIMITED

[Referred to in paragraph 1(g) under 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' in the Independent Auditors' Report]

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the 
Act”) 

We have audited the internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting of Kwality Limited (“the  Company”) as of March 31, 2018 in 
conjunction with our audit of the standalone �nancial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. 

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company's Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal �nancial controls based on the internal control 
over �nancial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India (ICAI) (the “Guidance Note”). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
�nancial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to 
Company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable �nancial information, as required under the Act.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be 
prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal �nancial controls. Those Standards and the 
Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether adequate internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls 
operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal �nancial controls system over 
�nancial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, 
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the �nancial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
Company's internal �nancial controls system over �nancial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting

A Company's internal �nancial control over �nancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of �nancial reporting and the preparation of �nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A Company's internal �nancial control over �nancial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly re�ect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of �nancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 
of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's 
assets that could have a material effect on the �nancial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or 
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the 
internal �nancial control over �nancial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Material Weaknesses

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit, the following material weaknesses have been 
identi�ed as at March 31, 2018:

a) The Company did not have a mechanism to reconcile the 'cheque receipt and deposit register' with bank book. In the absence of 
such reconciliation, actual date of receipt of cheques cannot be ascertained (Cut Off). We have veri�ed the date of receipt of 
cheque from date of posting in the bank book further their subsequent clearance veri�ed from bank statement.

b) Debit/ credit note pertaining to procurement of material, recording of trading sales and journal entries are not authorised in the 
automated system. Further no competitive quotations are obtained for purchase of �xed assets. Absence of above controls may 
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have an impact on the accuracy of relevant account balance. Absence of comparative quotation may have impact on the 
purchase price. We have performed other corroborative procedures such as veri�cation of manual authorisation along with 
necessary supporting document besides obtaining independent year end balance con�rmation from select vendors. 

A 'material weakness' is a de�ciency, or a combination of de�ciencies, in internal �nancial control over �nancial reporting, such that 
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company's annual or interim �nancial statements will not be 
prevented or detected on a timely basis.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of the 
control criteria, the Company has maintained, in all material respects, adequate internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting and 
such internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting were operating effectively as of March 31, 2018, based on the internal control 
over �nancial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note.

We have considered the material weaknesses identi�ed and reported above in determining the nature, timing, and extent of 
audittests applied in our audit of the March 31, 2018 standalone�nancial statements of the Company, and these material weaknesses  

does not affect our opinion on the standalone�nancial statements of the Company. 

           

For MSKA & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 105047W

           
Amit Mitra
Partner
Membership No. 094518

Place : New Delhi
Date  : May 28, 2018

Sd/
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ANNEXURE B TO INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF  
KWALITY LIMITED FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018

[Referred to in paragraph 2 under 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' in the Independent Auditors' Report] 

i.  
(a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and situation of �xed assets 

except assets were not tagged with any unique identi�cation number.
  
(b) The Management has veri�ed �xed assets during the year as per the regular program of veri�cation which, in our opinion, is 

reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. No material discrepancies were noticed on such 
veri�cation.

© According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the records of  the Company, the 
title deeds of immovable properties are held in the name of the Company.

ii. The inventory has been physically veri�ed during the year by the management. In our opinion, the frequency of veri�cation is 
reasonable. No material discrepancies were noticed on veri�cation between the physical stock and the book records. 

 
iii. The Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured to Companies, Firms, Limited Liability Partnerships (LLP) or other 

parties covered in the register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013 ('the Act'). Accordingly, the provisions 
stated in paragraph 3 (iii)(a),3 (iii)(b) and 3 (iii)(c) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

iv.  In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has complied with the provisions of 
section 185 and 186 of the Act, in respect of loans, investments, guarantees and security made.

v.  In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no amounts outstanding which are in the 
nature of deposits as on March 31, 2018 and the Company has not accepted any deposits during the year.

vi. We have broadly reviewed the books of account relating to materials, labour and other items of cost maintained by the Company 
pursuant as speci�ed by the Central Government for the maintenance of cost records under sub-section (1) of section 148 of the 
Act and we are of the opinion that prima facie the prescribed accounts and records have been made and maintained. We have not, 
however, made a detailed examination of the records with a view to determine whether they are accurate or complete

vii.
(a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined by us, in our opinion, 

undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, employees' state insurance, service tax, duty of customs, duty of excise, 
value added tax, cess have been regularly deposited with the appropriate authorities. The Company has been generally regular in 
payment of goods and service tax. Further there are serious delays in payment of withholding tax, Income tax during the year. 
Undisputed statutory dues outstanding as at March 31, 2018 for a period of more than six months from the date they became 
payable are given below. Also refer paragraph (a) under paragraph “Emphasis of Matters” of our Independent Auditor's report. 

Name of the 
statue

Nature of the 
dues

Net amount
payable 

Period to which
the amount 
relates (�nancial
year)

Due Date Date of
Payment 

Remarks, if
any  

Income tax
act, 1961

Income tax 4,255.79 2015 - 16 November
 30 , 2016

Not Paid Refer Note 1

Income tax
act, 1961

Income tax 4,902.93 2016 - 17 November
 30 , 2017

Not Paid Refer Note 1

Income tax
act, 1961

Payment of 
Advance tax

2,854.50 2017 - 18 Represents 
advance tax 
payable till 
September
15, 2017. 

Not Paid Net tax 
payable for 
the year INR 
6,343.32 lakhs.
Also, refer 
Note 1

Income tax
act, 1961

Interest on
Income Tax

47.45 2014 - 15 March 07, 2018 Not Paid Recti�cation 
application 
under section 
154 has been 
�led on April 
12, 2018. 

(Amount  in Lakhs)
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 Note  1 : Excludes interest on unpaid income tax amounting to  INR 2,379.60 Lakhs 

(b)   According to the information and explanation given to us and examination of records of the Company, the outstanding dues
of income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, customs duty, excise duty and value added tax dues on account of any dispute, are as follows:

 Note 1: The above amount exclude impact of amount paid under protest amounting to INR 72.74 lakhs.

Name of the 
statue

Nature of 
dues

Amount
(Note 1) 

Period to which
the amount 

relates

Forum where  dispute is 
pending

Remarks, if
any  

Uttar Pradesh
VAT 

Haryan VAT

Uttar Pradesh
VAT 

Uttar Pradesh
VAT

VAT

Haryan VAT

Rajasthan 
VAT

Delhi VAT

Punjab VAT

Punjab VAT

Punjab VAT

VAT & CST 

VAT

VAT

VAT

VAT

VAT

VAT

VAT

VAT

5.00

53.06

30.11

0.44

340.86

18.45

10.87

16.08

5.96

7.85

2012 - 13

2013 - 14

2014 - 15

2012 - 13

2013 - 14

2014 - 15

2012 - 13

2012 - 13

2012 - 13

2016 - 17

Addl. Comm. (Appeal), 

Ghaziabad
Joint commissioner

(Appeal), Bulandshahar

Tribunal  (2nd Appeal), 
Aligarh

DETC Cum Assessing 

Authority, Palwal

Appellate Authority, Palwal

Commissioner (VAT), 
Appeals, Delhi
DETC(Appeals) cum JD
(Appeals) Patiala

DETC(Appeals) cum JD
(Appeals) Patiala

AETC, Mobile Wing, Amritsar

(Amount in Lakhs) 

Appellate Authority, Jaipur

viii.    In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of 
dues to the �nancial institution, bank or debenture holders.

ix) In our opinion, according to the information explanation provided to us, money raised by way of term loans during the year have  
been applied for the purpose for which they were raised. The Company has not raised any money by way of initial public offer or 
further public offer (including debt instruments) during the year.

x. During the course of our audit, examination of the books and records of the Company, carried out in accordance with the 
generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the information and explanations given to us, we have neither 
come across any instance of material fraud by the Company or on the Company by its officers or employees. 

xi. According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the records of the Company, the 
Company has paid/ provided for managerial remuneration in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the 
provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act.

xii. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not a Nidhi Company. Accordingly, 
the provisions stated in paragraph 3(xii) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

xiii. According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the records of the Company, 
transactions with the related parties are in compliance with sections 177 and 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such 
transactions have been disclosed in the �nancial statements as required  by the applicable accounting standards.

xiv. According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the records of the Company, the 
Company has made preferential allotment of shares during the year under the 'Employee Stock Option Plan 2014'. Further, the 
Company has not made any private placement of Shares or allotted any partly or fully convertible debenture during the year. 
Accordingly, requirements of Section 42 of the Act are not applicable to the Company.

xv. According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the records of the Company, the 
Company has not entered into non-cash transactions with directors or persons connected with him. Accordingly, provisions 
stated in paragraph 3(xv) of the Order are not applicable to the Company. 
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xvi.  In our opinion, the Company is not required to be registered under section 45 IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and 
accordingly, the provisions stated in paragraph clause 3 (xvi) of the Order are not applicable to the Company. 

For MSKA & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 105047W

Amit Mitra
Partner
Membership No. 094518

Place : New Delhi
Date  : May 28, 2018
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B. Other Equity

warrants
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1.  Nature of principal activities0
 Kwality Limited (“the Company”) a public company limited by shares was incorporated under the provisions of the Companies 

Act, 1956 on 21 August 1992 and domiciled in India. The Company is engaged in manufacturing/processing and sale of milk, milk 
products and dairy products. The Company is listed both on Bombay Stock Exchange and National Stock Exchange. The 
Company has manufacturing facilities at Uttar Pradesh, Haryana and Rajasthan. The Company operates both in domestic and 
international markets. The registered office of the Company is situated at KDIL House, F-82, Shivaji Place, Rajouri Garden, New  
Delhi 110027, India.

2. General information and statement of compliance with Ind AS

 The �nancial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards as noti�ed 
under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013 read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 as amended 
from time to time. The Company has uniformly applied the accounting policies during the periods presented. 

 The standalone �nancial statements are presented in Indian rupees ('INR') and all values are rounded to two decimal places of 
lakhs, except when otherwise indicated.

 The �nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 were authorized and approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 
28 May 2018.

3. Basis of accounting

 The �nancial statements have been prepared on going concern basis under the historical cost basis except for the following –
       · Certain �nancial assets and �nancial liabilities which are measured at fair value; and
· Share based payments which are measured at fair value of the options; 

4.  Standards issued but not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Company

 Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the �nancial statements is 
provided below. 

 Ind AS 115 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' (Ind AS 115)
 The new standard on revenue recognition overhauls the existing revenue recognition standards and will replace Ind AS 18 – 

Revenue and Ind AS 11 – Construction contracts. The new standard provides a control-based revenue recognition model and 
provides a �ve steps application principle to be followed for revenue recognition:

 I. Identi�cation of the contracts with the customer
 ii.  Identi�cation of the performance obligations in the contract
 iii.  Determination of the transaction price
 iv.  Allocation of transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract (as identi�ed in step ii)
 v.  Recognition of revenue when the Company satis�es a performance obligation.

 Appendix B to Ind AS 21, Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration: 

 On March 28, 2018, Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") has noti�ed the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment  
Rules, 2018 containing Appendix B to Ind AS 21, Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration which clari�es the date 
of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or 
income, when an entity has received or paid advance consideration in a foreign currency. The amendment will come into force 
from April 1, 2018.

 The effective date of the new standards has been noti�ed by the MCA as 1 April 2018. The management is yet to assess the impact 
of these new standards on the Company's �nancial statements.

5. Summary of signi�cant accounting policies

 The �nancial statements have been prepared using signi�cant accounting policies and measurement bases summarised below. 
These were used throughout all periods presented in the �nancial statements, except where the Company has applied certain 
accounting policies and exemptions upon transition to Ind AS.

5.1 Current versus non-current classi�cation

 The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/non-current classi�cation. 
 An asset is classi�ed as current when it is:
 •  Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
 • Held primarily for the purpose of trading
 • Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
 • Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve  months after

 the reporting period
Kwality Limited
Notes to standalone �nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Kwality Limited
Notes to standalone �nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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 All other assets are classi�ed as non-current.

 A liability is classi�ed as current when:
 • It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
 • It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
 • It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
 • There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period
  All other liabilities are classi�ed as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classi�ed as non-current assets and liabilities.

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash equivalent. The 
Company has identi�ed twelve month as it's operating cycle.

5.2 Foreign currency

 Functional and presentation currency
 The �nancial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR'), which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.

 Transactions and balances
 Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the functional currency, by applying to the exchange rate between the 

functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction. 

 Foreign currency monetary items are converted to functional currency using the closing rate. Non-monetary items 
denominated in a foreign currency which are carried at historical cost are reported using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction.

 Exchange differences arising on monetary items on settlement, or restatement as at reporting date, at rates different from 
those at which they were initially recorded, are recognized in the statement of pro�t and loss in the year in which they arise.

5.3 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic bene�ts will �ow to the Company and it can be reliably measured. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received/receivable inclusive of excise duty net of rebate and other 
taxes. The Company applies the revenue recognition criteria to each separately identi�able component of the sales transaction 
as set out below.

 
 Sale of goods
 Sale is recognized when the signi�cant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the customer. Sales are 

recorded inclusive of excise duty net of sales returns, Sales tax/Goods and Service Tax (GST), rebates, trade discounts and price 
differences.

 
 Income from services
 Revenue from milk processing and other services, are recognized as and when services are rendered and are accounted on an 

accrual basis.
 
 Interest income
 Interest income is recorded on accrual basis using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.

 Export bene�ts
 Exports bene�ts are recognized on accrual basis in the Statement of Pro�t and Loss when the reasonable right to receive the 

same is established.

5.4 Borrowing costs

 General and speci�c borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Qualifying 
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

 Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
 Borrowing cost also include exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are
 regarded as an adjustment to interest cost.

5.5 Property, plant and equipment (PPE)

 Recognition and initial measurement
 Freehold land is carried at historic cost. Other properties plant and equipment are stated at their cost of acquisition less 

depreciation. The cost of acquisition comprises purchase price, borrowing cost if capitalization criteria are met and directly 
attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use. Any trade discount and rebates are 

Kwality Limited
Notes to standalone �nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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S.No.

1

2

Head of assets

Plant & Machinery

Plant & Machinery

Particulars Useful  life

Storing and handling units

Automatic milk collection units

2 Years

2 Years

deducted in arriving at the purchase price.

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic bene�ts associated with the item will �ow to the Company. All other repair and maintenance 
costs are recognised in statement of pro�t and loss as incurred.

 Subsequent measurement (depreciation and useful lives)
 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to the extent of depreciable amount on the Written down value 

(WDV). The depreciation rates are based on useful life of the assets as prescribed in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013 except 
in respect of the following assets where based on the internal technical assessment of the estimated economic useful lives of the 
property, plant and equipment, the useful life is different than those prescribed in Schedule II are used as:

 The assets residual value and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

 De-recognition
 An item of property, plant and equipment and any signi�cant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no 

future economic bene�ts are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised in statement of pro�t 
and loss when the asset is derecognised.

5.6 Intangible assets

 Recognition and initial measurement
 Acquired computer software are capitalized at cost of acquisition (Including License fees paid), net of accumulated amortization 

and accumulated impairment losses if any and are disclosed as intangible assets.  

 Other intangible assets (copyrights) are shown at cost of acquisition net of accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment loss if any.

 Subsequent measurement (amortisation)
 Intangible assets are amortised on written down value over the useful life of the asset up to a maximum of �ve years commencing 

from the month when the asset is �rst put to use. The Company provides pro-rata depreciation from the day the asset is put to use 
and for any asset sold, till the date of sale.

5.7 Operating leases

 Company as lessee
 Assets acquired on leases where a signi�cant portion of risk and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classi�ed as 

operating leases. Lease rental are charged to statement of pro�t and loss on straight line basis except where scheduled increase 
in rent compensate the lessor for expected in�ationary costs.

5.8 Impairment of non-�nancial assets

 At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, based on internal or 
external factors. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset or the cash generating unit is estimated. If such 
recoverable amount of the asset or cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. The reduction is treated as an impairment loss and is recognised in the statement of 
pro�t and loss. If, at the reporting date there is an indication that a previously assessed impairment loss no longer exists, the 
recoverable amount is reassessed and the asset is re�ected at the recoverable amount. Impairment losses previously recognized 
are accordingly reversed in the statement of pro�t and loss.

5.9  Financial instruments

 A �nancial Instrument is any contract which give rise to a �nancial asset of one entity and a �nancial liability or equity instrument 
of another entity.

 Recognition, initial measurement and de-recognition

 Financial assets and �nancial liabilities are recognised and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs, 
except for those carried at fair value through pro�t or loss which are measured initially at fair value.

 Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash �ows from the �nancial asset expire, or when the 

Kwality Limited
Notes to standalone �nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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�nancial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A �nancial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, 
discharged, cancelled or expired. When an existing �nancial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modi�ed such an exchange or modi�cation is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the statement of pro�t or loss.

Classi�cation and subsequent measurement of �nancial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, �nancial assets are classi�ed into the following categories upon initial recognition:
· Amortised cost
· Financial assets at fair value through pro�t or loss (FVTPL)
· Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

 All �nancial assets except for those at FVTPL are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date.

 Amortised cost 

 A �nancial asset shall be measured at amortised cost using effective interest rates if both of the following conditions are met: 

 • the �nancial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold �nancial assets in  order to collect    contractual cash 
   �ows; and  

 • the contractual terms of the �nancial asset give rise on speci�ed dates to cash �ows that are solely payments of principal and
   interest on the principal amount outstanding.

 The Company's cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables fall into this category of �nancial instruments.

 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

 FVTOCI �nancial assets are either debt instruments that are managed under hold to collect and sell business model or are non-     
trading equity instruments that are designated to this category.

 FVTOCI �nancial assets are measured at fair value. Gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income, except for 
interest and dividend income, impairment losses and foreign exchange differences on monetary assets, which are recognized in 
statement of pro�t or loss.

 Financial assets at fair value through pro�t or loss (FVTPL)

 Financial assets at FVTPL include �nancial assets that either do not meet the criteria for amortised cost classi�cation or FVTOCI or 
that meet certain conditions and are designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition. All derivative �nancial instruments also fall 
into this category. Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognized in pro�t or loss. The fair values 
of �nancial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique 
where no active market exists. 

 Classi�cation and subsequent measurement of �nancial liabilities

 Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method, except for �nancial 
liabilities held for trading or designated at FVTPL, that are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognized in 
pro�t or loss. All derivative �nancial instruments are accounted for at FVTPL.

 Financial guarantee contracts

 Financial guarantee contracts are those contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs 
because the speci�ed party fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial 
guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the amount of expected loss allowance 
determined as per impairment requirements of Ind AS 109 and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation.

 Derivative contracts

 A derivative forward contract is recognised as an asset or a liability on the commitment date. Outstanding forward derivative
 contracts as at reporting date are fair valued restated using the mark to market information and resultant gain/(loss) is recognised
 accounted in statement of pro�t and loss.

 Embedded Derivatives

 Derivative embedded in all other host (that is not an asset) are separated only if economic characteristics and risks of the
 embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host and are measured at fair value
 through pro�t and loss. Embedded derivatives closely related to the host contracts are not separated. 
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 Fair value hedges
 The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognised in the statement of pro�t and loss as �nance costs. 
 The Group has an interest rate swap that is used as a hedge for the exposure of changes in the fair value of its 8.25% �xed rate 
 secured loan. See Note 42 for more details.

 Offsetting of �nancial instruments
 Financial assets and �nancial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a currently 

enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

 Investment in subsidiary
 Investment in subsidiary is carried at cost in the separate �nancial statement.

5.10 Impairment of �nancial assets

 In accordance with Ind-AS 109, the Company applies expected credit loss (ECL) model for recognition and measurement of 
impairment loss for �nancial assets.

 ECL is the difference between all contractual cash �ows that are due to the Company in accordance with the contract and all the 
cash �ows that the Company expects to receive discounted at original effective tax rate (EIR). When estimating the cash �ows, the 
Company is required to consider –

· All contractual terms of the �nancial assets (including prepayment and extension) over the expected life of the assets.
· Cash �ows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

 Trade receivables
 The Company applies approach permitted by Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments (“Simpli�ed Approach”), which requires expected  
 ifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of receivables.

 Other �nancial assets
 For recognition of impairment loss on other �nancial assets and risk exposure, the Company determines whether there has been
 a signi�cant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition and if credit risk has increased signi�cantly, impairment loss is
 provided.

5.11 Inventories

 Inventory includes raw material, packing material, stores and spares, work in progress, traded and �nished goods. Inventories are 
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises cost of purchases and other cost incurred in bringing the 
inventories to present location and condition. Cost of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and 
discounts and excludes those taxes and duties subsequently recoverable from the revenue authorities. Cost of work-in-progress 
and �nished goods comprises direct material, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and �xed overhead 
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of 
inventory on the basis of �rst-in, �rst-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Inventory item held for use in production is not written down below cost, if 
the �nished product in which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost. 

5.12 Income taxes

 Tax expense recognized in statement of pro�t and loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax except the ones 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

 Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted at the reporting date. Current income tax 
relating to items recognised outside pro�t or loss is recognised outside pro�t or loss (either in other comprehensive income or in 
equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity.

 Minimum alternate tax ('MAT') credit entitlement is recognised as an asset only when and to the extent there is convincing 
evidence that normal income tax will be paid during the speci�ed period. In the year in which MAT credit becomes eligible to be 
recognised as an asset, the said asset is created by way of a credit to the statement of pro�t and loss and shown as MAT credit 
entitlement. This is reviewed at each balance sheet date and writes down the carrying amount of MAT credit entitlement to the 
extent it is not reasonably certain that normal income tax will be paid during the speci�ed period.

 Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in full for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss, unused tax 
credits or deductible temporary difference will be utilised against future taxable income. This is assessed based on the Company's 
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forecast of future operating results, adjusted for signi�cant non-taxable income and expenses and speci�c limits on the use of any 
unused tax loss or credit.  Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable pro�ts will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of pro�t and loss is recognised outside statement of pro�t or loss 
(either in other comprehensive income or in equity).

5.13 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term, highly liquid 
investments (original maturity less than 3 months) that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insigni�cant risk of changes in value and bank overdraft. Bank overdraft are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in 
balance sheet. 

5.14 Post-employment, long-term and short-term employee bene�ts

 Short-term employee bene�ts:
 Short-term employee bene�ts such as salaries, wages, bonus etc. are recognized as an expense at the undiscounted amount in 

the statement of pro�t and loss for the year in which employee renders the related service.

Post-employment bene�ts

 De�ned contribution plans:
 Company's contribution to Employees' Provident Fund Scheme, Employees' State Insurance Contribution Scheme and Staff 

welfare fund are charged to the revenue of the year when the contribution to the respective fund is due.

 De�ned bene�t plans:
 The Company's gratuity scheme is a de�ned bene�t plan. The present value of the obligation under such de�ned plan is 

determined based on actuarial valuation carried out at the end of the year by an independent actuary, using the Projected Unit 
Credit method, which recognizes each period of service as giving rise to additional unit of employee bene�t entitlement and 
measures each unit separately to build up the �nal obligation. The obligation is measured at the present value of the estimated 
future cash �ows. Actuarial gains and losses arising on such valuation are recognized immediately in the Other Comprehensive 
Income. Any interest expense is accounted as �nance cost in Statement of Pro�t and Loss. 

 Compensated absences:
 Bene�ts under the Company's leave encashment constitute other long-term employee bene�ts. The liability in respect of 

vacation pay is provided on the basis of an actuarial valuation done by an independent actuary at the year end. Actuarial gains 
and losses are recognized immediately in the statement of pro�t and loss. Termination bene�ts are recognized as an expense in 
the year in which they are incurred.

5.15 Share based payments

 The Employee Stock Option Plan (“the Scheme”) provides for grant of equity shares of the Company to the employees of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. The Scheme provides that employees are granted an option to acquire the equity shares of the 
Company that vests in a graded manner or as decided by Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee. The options 
may be exercised within a speci�ed period. The employee bene�ts expense is measured using the fair value of the employee 
stock options and is recognised over vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity. The vesting period is the period over 
which all the speci�ed vesting conditions are to be satis�ed. On the exercise of the employee stock options, the employees of the 
Company will be allotted equity shares.

5.16 Segment Reporting

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
maker. 

 The Board of Directors assesses the �nancial performance and position of the Company and make strategic decision. The Board of 
Directors, has been identi�ed as being the chief operating decision maker. Refer Note 44 for segment information presented.

5.17 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

 Provisions and contingent liabilities: 
 A Provision is recognised when the Company has present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is 

probable that an out�ow of resources will be required to settle the obligation in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made. 
Provisions are discounted to their present value, where the time value of money is material.

 When some or all of the economic bene�ts required to settle, a provision is expected to be recovered from a third party, the 
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receivable is recognised as a separate asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.

 Contingent liability is a possible obligation arising from past events and the existence of which will be con�rmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company or a present 
obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because it is not possible that an out�ow of resources embodying 
economic bene�t will be required to settle the obligations or reliable estimate of the amount of the obligations cannot be made. 
The Company discloses the existence of contingent liabilities in Other Notes to Financial Statements.

 In cases where the possible out�ow of economic resources as a result of present obligation is considered improbable or remote, 
no Provision is recognised or disclosure is made

 Contingent assets: 
 Contingent assets usually arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an in�ow of 

economic bene�ts. Contingent Assets are not recognised though are disclosed, where an in�ow of economic bene�ts is 
probable.

5.18 Dividends 

 Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the 
entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

5.19 Earnings per share

(I) Basic earning per share
 Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing:
 • The pro�t attributable to the shareholder
 • By the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the �nancial year, adjusted for bonus element in equity

 shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares

(ii) Diluted earnings per share
 Diluted earnings per share adjusts the �gures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:
 • The after income tax effect of interest and other �nancial costs associated with dilutive potential equity shares, and
 •  The weighted average number of additional equity shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all

 dilutive potential equity shares.

5.20 G overnment Grant

 Import duty waivers for capital assets purchased under Export Promotion Credit Guarantee (EPCG) schemes are recorded as 
deferred revenue and recognized in Statment of Pro�t and Loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the related 
performance obligations are ful�lled.

5.21 Signi�cant judgement and estimates in applying accounting policies

 The preparation of the Company's �nancial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the related disclosures.

 Signi�cant management judgements
 The following are signi�cant management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Company that have the most 

signi�cant effect on the �nancial statements:

 Recognition of deferred tax assets – The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognized is based on an assessment of the 
probability of the Company's future taxable income against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. In addition, signi�cant 
judgement is required in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits.

 Recoverability of advances/receivables – At each balance sheet date, based on historical default rates observed over expected 
life, the management assesses the expected credit loss on outstanding receivables and advances.

 Classi�cation of Leases – The Company enters into leasing arrangements for various assets.  The classi�cation of the leasing 
arrangement as a �nance lease or operating lease is based on an assessment of several factors, including, but not limited to, 
transfer of ownership of leased asset at end of lease term, lessee's option to purchase and estimated certainty of exercise of such 
option, proportion of lease term to the asset's economic life, proportion of present value of minimum lease payments to fair value 
of leased asset and extent of specialized nature of the leased asset.

 De�ned bene�t obligation (DBO) – Employee bene�t obligations are measured on the basis of actuarial assumptions which 
include mortality and withdrawal rates as well as assumptions concerning future developments in discount rates, medical cost 
trends, anticipation of future salary increases and the in�ation rate. The Company considers that the assumptions used to 
measure its obligations are appropriate.  However, any changes in these assumptions may have a material impact on the 
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resulting calculations.

 Fair value measurements – The Company applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of �nancial instruments 
(where active market quotes are not available) and non-�nancial assets (Share based payment). This involves developing 
estimates and assumptions consistent with the market participants to price the instrument. The Company's assumptions are 
based on observable data as far as possible, otherwise on the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the 
actual prices that would be achieved in an arm's length transaction at the reporting date.

 
 Inventories – The Company estimates the cost of inventories taking into account the most reliable evidence, such as cost of 

materials and overheads considered attributable to the production of such inventories including actual cost of production, etc. 
Management also estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence available at 
each reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected by future technology or other market-driven 
changes that may reduce future selling prices.

 Provision and contingencies – The assessments undertaken in recognising provisions and contingencies have been made in 
accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 37, 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets'. The 
evaluation of the likelihood of the contingent events is applied best judgement by management regarding the probability of 
exposure to potential loss.

 Useful lives of depreciable/amortisable assets – Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable/ 
amortisable assets at each reporting date, based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to 
technical and economic obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software, customer relationships, IT equipment and 
other plant and equipment.
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As at
31 March 2017

Recognised in
statement of
Profit & Loss 

 

Recognised in
Equity

As at
31 March 2018

Deferred tax assets/(liability)

Property, plant and equipment

Provision for employee benefit expenses

Provision for doubtful debts

Provision for deferred revenue ( EPCG)

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings

Total

                  723.94

64.24

-

-

34.49 

822.67

(1,436.03)

27.95

138.43

255.70

86.24

(927.71)

-

12.05

-

-

-

(712.09)

104.24

138.43

255.70

120.73

12.05 (92.99)

Particulars
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Particulars
Amount Outstanding

31 March 2018 31 March 2017 Terms of  repayment 
Security

Non- Current Borrowings 

Secured Loans

Non Convertible Debentures- KKR India 
Financial Services Private Limited

9,768.38 9,674.96 Repayable in 18 equal 
quarterly installments 
starting from 5 April 2018

Vehicle Loan 

From Bank

- HDFC Bank

- ICICI Bank

- Bank of  India

From Others - Volkswagen Finance Pvt. Ltd.

External commercial borrowings - Union Bank 
of  India (UK) Ltd.  

243.85

16.67

1.69

12.42

8,622.45

212.78

12.45

3.68

26.37

9043.07

 Monthly equated
installments 

Repayable in 12 half  yearly 
installments which has already
started from 30 September 
2017

Terms Loans from others 

-KKR Indian Financial Services Private Limited 19,530.72 19,341.49 Repayable in 18 equal quarterly
installments of  INR starting 
from 5 April 2018

Annexure to Note 19 (In Lakhs)
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Breakup of  total borrowing :-
Long term borrowing (Note 19A)                                     46,549.98              49,999.61 
Current maturity of  long term borrowing (Note 22B)        18,427.75               7,155.86 
Short term borrowing (Note 19B)                                    104,897.40              93,694.30 
Total borrowings                                                            169,875.13             150,849.77 
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II   Disclosures in respect of  material transactions with related parties during the year

Related Party Nature of  Transactions 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Kwality Dairy Products FZE
- Corporate Guarantee Given
- Repayment of  advance

-
- 

    -
14.43

Pashupati Dairies Private Limited -Rent Paid

-Royalty Paid

-Reimbursement of  expenses

-Dividend Paid

-Collateral Security/guarantee  Taken

JTPL Private Limited -Collateral Security/guarantee  Taken

Sanjay Dhingra -Guarantee for Long Term Loans
-Managerial Remuneration (Short term)
-Dividend Paid
-Shares Pledge/release for Loan
-Post employee benefits

Sidhant Gupta -Dividend Paid
-Allotment of  equity shares
-Meeting Fee

Sidhant and sons HUF -Allotment of  equity shares
-Dividend Paid

Sonika Gupta -Dividend Paid

Rattan Sagar Khanna -Meeting Fee

Arun Srivastava -Meeting Fee

Ankita Mehrotra -Meeting Fee

Ashok Kumar Gupta -Meeting Fee

S.K. Bhalla -Managerial Remuneration (Short term)
-ESOP ( Net of  difference of  FMV)

Manjit Dahiya -Managerial Remuneration (Short term)
-Post employee benefits
-ESOP ( Net of  difference of  FMV)

Sunit Shangle -Remuneration

Satish Kumar Gupta -Remuneration (Short term)
-Post employee benefits
-ESOP ( Net of  difference of  FMV)

Pradeep Kumar Srivastava -Remuneration (Short term)
-Post employee benefits
-ESOP ( Net of  difference of  FMV)

Ved Prakash Gupta -Dividend Paid

Kuldeep Sharma -Remuneration (Short term)
-Post employee benefits

60.00                           

10.55                           

98.58                           

11.03                      

1,000.00 

13,500.00

                    22,280.38
                         130.20
                         152.15
                     51,945.44
                           38.98 

                           2.77
                               -                              
                           0.60 

                           -                              
                          0.78 

0.47

0.50

                           -                              
                          0.60

                           -                              
                                                    13.81              

             34.50 

                          44.00      
                     26.13    
                         -   

                         -   

                          24.53                     
       0.57           

                 7.20 

                          12.31                
            0.84                    

           -   
                         -   

                           6.27            
                0.31 

                          60.00                  
         10.35               
                -                

             15.54
                               -   

                  142,643.00 

                    33,725.79              
           130.20             
            152.15        

             66,409.94               
                -   

                            5.18              
         2,500.00                

             0.80 

                      2,500.00           
                  5.18 

5.18

0.80

0.20

0.70

0.30

40.00
-

                  
        21.17                
            -          

                   32.84 

8.32

                          17.36
                             0.84           

                    -   

                          12.32               
              0.96                 

          12.19 

5.83

           -   
                         -   

III   Balances  with related parties    

Related Party Nature of  Transactions 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Kwality Dairy Products FZE
Investment in Subsidiary
Corporate Guarantee Given

1902.75
20488.89

Pashupati Dairies Private Limited Amount Payable in respect of  Services /Rent
Amount Payable in Respect of  Royalty
Amount Payable in Respect of  expenses
Guarantee taken for Financial Limits

JTPL Private Limited Collateral Security/guarantee taken

Sanjay Dhingra Guarantee  taken for Long Term Loans
Guarantee taken for Financial Limits
Guarantee taken for ECB
Shares Pledge for Loan
Payable to employee
Employee benefit provision

Satyender Kumar Bhalla Payable to employee

Kuldeep Sharma

                          13.73                
            2.43                
            8.10         

          113,643.00 

Payable to employee

Employee benefit provision

Satish Kumar Gupta Payable to employee

Employee benefit provision

Manjit Dhaiya Payable to employee

Employee benefit provision

Pradeep Kumar Srivastava Payable to employee

Employee benefit provision

Ankita Mehrotra Payable to employee

Sidhant Gupta Payable to employee

Rattan Sagar Khanna Payable to employee

Arun Srivastava Payable to employee

(31.5 million USD)

1902.75
20424.16

(31.5 million USD)

                  165,643.00 

                    74,900.00        
           113,643.00             

         9,106.17        
             73,463.43                

           19.79            
               38.98 

                            2.49 

-

-

0.03

0.84

1.50

-

1.69

0.96

-

1.65

0.27

0.09

                  179,143.00 

-

1.08

0.31

1.85

1.41

2.75

26.13

1.35

1.79

0.38

1.73

0.46

0.09

                          25.00              
            8.61                

            -         
112643.00 

                    53,000.00       
           112,643.00

         9,725.79
             104,773.44

           6.52
- 

Terms and Conditions
Transactions relating to dividends, subscriptions for new equity shares were on the same terms and conditions that apply to other shareholders
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Note 38
Summary of  contingent liabilities and commitments (to the extent not provided for)

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

1. Milk cess disputed by the company relating to issue of  applicability of  the act namely Haryana 
Murrah Buffalo & Other Milch Animal Breed(Prevention & Development of  Animal 
Husbandry & Dairy Development Sector) Act, against which the company  has preferred an 
SLP against the order of  Punjab & Haryana High Court before Hon'ble Supreme Court of   
India. A liability of  Cess principal amounting INR 421.84 lakhs from which a sum of  INR 
212.96 lakhs (previous year INR 187.65 lakhs) deposited under protest and a sum of   INR 
3293.15 lakhs on account of  interest liability raised by Semen Bank officer, of  Haryana 
Livestock Development Board for which the matter is  already before Hon'ble Supreme Court.

                     3,714.99 

Contingent liabalities 

                      2,761.82 

2. A civil recovery suit has been filed by  S.M. Milkose Limited regarding dispute in supply of  
material which is disputed by the Co. & is pending before The Hon'ble High Court of  Delhi.

                        156.97                         156.97 

3. Appeal under Food Safety Act, 2006 , Kwality Limited and others versus Food Safety 
officer, Sh. Chander Veer Singh Jadon, Kota, Rajasthan

0.50 0.50

4. ADM Bulandshahr had decided a matter under Food Safety Act, 2006 read with Regulations 
2011 and imposed a penalty of  INR. 4 lakhs on the Company. The Compnay had preferred 
and appeal against the order before FSSAI Appellate Authority, Meerut and the Appellate 
Court had stayed the impugned order subject to deposit of  50% of  the penalty amount.

4.00 -

5. The said case pertains to FSSAI penalty case by ADM Surajpur Court , Before, ASDM, 
Surajpur, Gautam Budh Nagar (U.P)

2.00 -

6. DEPB Credit matter in CESTAT, Mumbai Nava Shavah                           69.44                           69.44 

7. Contingent liabilities on account of  sales tax matters                         488.67                           72.74 

8. Contingent Liability for Bank Guarantee                         441.37                         587.44 

9. Contingent Liability under EPCG License (Refer note 23) -                         647.24 

10. Corporate Guarantee given on behalf  of  wholly owned subsidiary for loan taken by 
subsidiary (Being one of  the condition from lender bank hence no separate benefit drawn hence 
fair value is estimated as nil)

                    20,488.89                     20,424.16 

11. Other Income tax matters refer note no.48 - -

Commitments
1. Estimated amount of  Contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not 
provided for

                           5.02                       2,538.28 

Note 39
Operating leases – lessee
The Company has taken various premises on operating leases and lease rent of  INR 462.77 (31 March 2017: INR 327.68) in respect of  the same 
has been charged to Statement of  Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2018. The underlying agreements are executed for a period 
generally ranging from three to five years, renewable on mutual consent and are cancellable in some cases, by either party giving notice generally of  
30 to 90 days. There are no restrictions imposed by such leases and there are no subleases. The future minimum lease rentals payable in respect of  
such operating leases are as under.

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Within one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years

                        273.87               
          410.13           

              179.21 

                        188.29            
             529.56         

                786.86 

Note 40
Gratuity and compensated absences

Compensated absences

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/loss, net on account of:
-Changes in financial assumptions
-Changes in experience adjustment

                          59.50                   
         9.00 

                          20.56                
            6.28 

Amount recognised in the Statement of  Profit and Loss is as under:

Cost recognized during the year

                          41.09          
                   6.15

 
                            4.23               

           (11.28)

                         95.34                           40.19 

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Present value of  defined benefit obligation at the beginning of  the year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/loss, net
Benefits paid

                        120.03              
             59.50               
             9.00              

             26.83            
               (3.65)

Movement in the liability recognized in the balance sheet is as under:

Present value of  defined benefit obligation at the end of  the year
-Current
-Non-current

                        211.71                
           46.32            

             165.38 

                          81.97            
               41.09                 

            6.15             
               (7.05)              
             (2.13)

                        120.03               
            19.87            

             100.16 
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For determination of  the liability of  the Company, the following actuarial assumptions were used:

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Discount rate
Salary escalation rate
Withdrawal rate 18 to 58 years
Mortality table

7.50%
7.00%

16.00%
Indian Assured Lives 
Mortality (2006 -08)

7.50%
5.00%
2.00%

Indian Assured Lives 
Mortality (2006 -08)

These assumptions were developed by management with the assistance of  independent actuarial appraisers. Discount factors are determined close to each 
year-end by reference to government bonds of  relevant economic markets and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of  the related 
obligation. Other assumptions are based on management’s historical experience.

Sensitivity analysis for compensated absences liability

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Impact of  the change in discount rate
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %

Impact of  the change in withdrawal rate
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %

Impact of  the change in salary increase
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %

202.37
221.94

211.93
211.46

221.89
202.24

108.10
134.48

123.60
115.90

134.71
107.74

Gratuity

The Company provides for gratuity for employees in India as per the Payment of  Gratuity Act, 1972, as amended. Employees who are in continuous 
service for a period of  5 years are eligible for gratuity. The amount of  gratuity payable on retirement/termination is the employee's last drawn basic 
salary per month computed proportionately for 15 days salary multiplied for the number of  years of  service. Gratuity plan is a non-funded plan.

Amount recognised in the Statement of  Profit and Loss is as under:

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Current Service Cost
Interest Cost
Actuarial (gain)/loss, net on account of:
-Changes in financial assumptions
-Changes in experience adjustment
Cost recognized during the year

Particulars

66.96
13.92

37.95
(3.15)

115.68

54.81
9.02

7.13
(4.73)
66.23

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Present value of  defined benefit obligation at the beginning of  the year
Current service cost
Past service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/loss, net
Benefits paid

Particulars

Movement in the liability recognized in the balance sheet is as under

185.62
66.96
9.85

13.92
34.81
(9.96)

120.24
54.81

-
9.02
2.40

(0.85)

Present value of  defined benefit obligation at the end of  the year
-Current
-Non-current

                        301.20              
             52.67           

              248.53 

                        185.62            
               15.55           
              170.07 

For determination of  the liability of  the Company, the following actuarial assumptions were used:

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Discount rate
Salary escalation rate
Mortality table

Particulars

7.50%
7.00%

Indian Assured Lives 
Mortality (2006 -08)

7.50%
5.00%

Indian Assured Lives 
Mortality (2006 -08)

These assumptions were developed by management with the assistance of  independent actuarial appraisers. Discount factors are determined close 
to each year-end by reference to government bonds of  relevant economic markets and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of  
the related obligation. Other assumptions are based on management’s historical experience.
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Note 41
Share based payments

Particulars

Company has reserved issuance of  1,00,00,000 (Previous Year: 1,00,00,000) Equity Shares of  INR 1 each for offering to the eligible employees of  the 
Company and its subsidiaries under Employees Stock Option Plan 2014 (ESOP 2014). During the year the Company has granted 27,36,000 (Grant IV)
Options at a price of  INR 50 and 5,00,000 Options (Grant V) at a price of  INR 10 per option (Previous Year 43,000 option at a price of  INR 38 per 
option) plus all applicable taxes. The options would vest over a period of  1 year. Once vested, the options remains exercisable for a period of  5 years. 
The other disclosure in respect of  the ESOP Scheme are as under:

Option issued
Grant date
Vesting Period
Exercise Price
Fair market value of  options on grant date*
Option outstanding as at 31 March 2018
Weighted average remaining contractual life of  
options outstanding as at 31 March 2018 (in years)
Option outstanding as at 31 March 2017
Weighted average remaining contractual life of  
options outstanding as at 31 March 2017 (in years)

Grant I Grant II Grant III Grant IV Grant V 

                1,937,000 
23 July 2015

 1 year 
38.00
67.28

                     13,500 
                        5.46

4.40

                     50,000 
 8 October 2015 

 1 year 
38.00
76.18

                           -   
 - 

                        4.40 

                        43,000 
 1 August 2016 

 1 year 
38.00

                          90.63 
                              -   

 - 

                           4.40 

                    2,736,000 
 28 August 2017 

 1 year 
50.00

                          92.44 
                    2,736,000 
                            5.46 

                              -   

              500,000 
 10 January 2018 

 1 year 
10.00

               105.56 
              500,000 
                   5.46 

                   568,900                      50,000                         43,000                               -                         -   

                      -   

*The fair value of  the options has been determined using the Black Scholes model, as certified by an independent valuer.

The following table illustrates the numbers and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options during the year:

Particulars

Opening balance
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Expired during the year
Forfeited during the year

No of  options WEAP No of  Options WEAP

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

661,900
 3,236,000                   
(614,000)           

                -                       
(34,400)

                          38.00                
           43.82              

             38.00               
                -                

             38.00 

1,987,000
 43,000            

        (1,270,100)    
                          -              

            (98,000)

                 38.00          
        38.00              

    38.00                 
      -     

               38.00 

Closing Balance                 3,249,500                          43.80                       661,900                  38.00 

Exercisable as at year end                      13,500                          38.00                       661,900                  38.00 

 The following table list the inputs used for the year ended :  

Dividend yield (%) on face value of  share  
Expected Volatility (%) 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 
Expected life of  share option (in years)  
Weighted average share price (INR)  
Module used 

31 March 2018            31 March 2017
 10.00%                                   10.00%

51.95% - 134.08%                  71.79%
6.66% - 7.63%                        7.625%                                

                  6                                     6 
            43.82                                  38  
Black Scholes                 Black Scholes 

Sensitivity analysis for compensated absences liability

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Impact of  the change in discount rate
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %

Impact of  the change in withdrawal rate
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %

Impact of  the change in salary increase
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %

288.26
315.18

299.27
303.14

314.20
289.03

166.89
208.34

189.22
181.06

208.69
166.32

The estimates of  future salary increases, inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors, considered in actuarial valuation such as supply and and 
in the employment market. The rate used to discount post employment benefit obligations (both funded and unfunded) should be determined by reference
to market yields at the balance sheet date on government bonds. The currency and term of  the government bonds should be consistent with the currency 
and estimated term of  the post employment benefit obligations.
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Note 42
Financial risk management

Financial instruments by category

Particulars

Financial Assets

Trade receivable

Security deposits and loans

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank Deposits

Interest recoverable

Investments 

31 March 2018

 FVTPL  FVOCI  Amortised 
cost 

 FVTPL  FVOCI  Amortised 
cost 

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

-

-

-

-
-

15.66

-

-

-

-
-

-

        170,081.33 

               127.65 

            6,234.48 

            1,992.97 

               670.97 

-

-

-

-

-
-

-

-

-

-

-
-

-

     137,347.48 

              95.56 

         8,028.29 

            896.53 

            488.79 

-

Total financial assets 15.66 -         179,107.40 - -      146,856.65 

Particulars

Financial liabilities

Borrowings

Trade payables

Security deposits

Others

31 March 2018

 FVTPL  FVOCI  Amortised 
cost 

 FVTPL  FVOCI  Amortised 
cost 

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

-

-
-

350.72

        169,875.13 -

-
-

-

-
-

-

     150,849.77 

         9,115.93 

            608.74 

         1,755.79 

Total financial assets -         187,521.88 -      162,330.23 

-

-
-

-

          13,029.24 

               545.93 
            4,071.58         1,027.56 

350.72         1,027.56 

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk - Foreign exchange

Market risk -  Interest rate

Market risk - Security prices

Cash and cash equivalent, trade 
receivables, financial assets measured 

Borrowings and other financial 
liabilities

Future commercial transactions
Recognised financial assets and 
liabilities not denominated in Indian 
rupee (INR)

Long-term borrowings at variable 
rates

Investment in equity securities

Ageing analysis

Rolling cash flow forecasts

Cash flow forecasting and 
Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis

Bank deposits, diversification of  
asset base and credit limits

Availability of  committed credit lines 
and borrowing facilities

Forward contract/hedging

Interest rate swaps

Portfolio diversifications

The Company’s activities expose it to market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. This note explains the sources of  risk which the entity is exposed to how 
the entity manages the risk and the related impact in the financial statements.
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The Company’s risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (of  the group) under policies approved by the board of  directors.  The board of  
directors provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of  excess liquidity.

A Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that counter party will not meet it's obligation under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. Credit risk arises 
from cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, investments carried at amortised cost and deposits with banks and financial institutions. 

Credit risk management

The finance function of  the Company assesses and manages credit risk based on internal credit rating system. Internal credit rating is performed for 
each class of  financial instruments with different characteristics. The Company assigns the following credit ratings to each class of  financial assets based 
on the assumptions, inputs and factors specific to the class of  financial assets.

A: Secured, negligible
B: Partly secured
C: Unsecured
D: Doubtful
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Credit Rating

A: Secured, negligible

Particulars 31 March 2018

D: Doubtful

31 March 2017

B: Partly secured

C: Unsecured Trade receivables

Security deposits

Loans to employees

Other financial assets

Bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Investment

Trade receivables

-

-

      170,081.33 

            105.15 

              22.50 

            670.97 

          1,955.47 

          6,234.48 

              15.66 

            400.00 

-

-

-

-

   137,347.48 

           70.61 

           24.95 

         488.79 

         849.72 

       8,028.29 

As at 31 March 2018

Particulars
Estimated gross

carrying amount at default
Expected probability of

 default
Expected credit

losses
Carrying amount net of  
impairment provision

Loans to employee

Security deposit 

Bank deposit

Cash and cash equivalents 

                        22.50 

                      105.15 

                    1,955.47 

                    6,234.48 

0%

0%

0%

0%

-

-

-

-

                        22.50 

                      105.15 

                    1,955.47 

                    6,234.48 

As at 31 March 2017

Particulars
Estimated gross

carrying amount at default
Expected probability of

 default
Expected credit

losses
Carrying amount net of  
impairment provision

Loans 

Security deposit 

Bank deposit

Cash and cash equivalents 

24.95

70.61

849.72

8028.29

0%

0%

0%

0%

-

-

-

-

24.95

70.61

849.72

8028.29

Expected credit loss for trade receivables under simplified approach

Ageing 0-3 months 
old

03-06 months 
old

06-12 
months old

more than 12 
months old

Total

As at 31 March 2018
Gross carrying amount
Expected loss rate
Expected credit loss provision
Carrying amount of  trade receivables

      147,255.53 
0.00%

-

               9,881.18 
0.00%

-

                     7,032.90 
3.00%

         211.00 

                               6,311.72 
2.99%

                     189.00 

                                  170,481.33 

                              400.00 

      147,255.53          9,881.18       6,821.90           6,122.72    170,081.33 

Ageing 0-3 months 
old

03-06 months 
old

06-12 
months old

more than 12 
months old

Total

As at 31 March 2017
Gross carrying amount
Expected loss rate
Expected credit loss provision
Carrying amount of  trade receivables

      121,811.12

0.00%

- 

                       14,660.12  
0.00%

-

                     716.99
0.00%

         -

                               159.24
0.00%

                     - 

                                     137,347.48 

                         - 

       121,811.12         14,660.12          716.99             159.24    137,347.48 
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1.65

(1.65)

-

400.00

400.00

B Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of  funding through an adequate amount 
of  committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due. Due to the nature of  the business, the Company maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining 
availability under committed facilities. Management monitors rolling forecasts of  the Company’s liquidity position and cash and cash equivalents on the basis 
of  expected cash flows. The Company takes into account the liquidity of  the market in which the entity operates. In addition, the Company’s liquidity 
management policy involves projecting cash flows in major currencies and considering the level of  liquid assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance 
sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements and maintaining debt financing plans.

Maturities of  financial liabilities
The tables below analyse the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual maturities for all non-derivative 
financial liabilities. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying 
balances as the impact of  discounting is insignificant.

C Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of  future cash flows of  a financial instrument will fluctuate because of  change in market price. Market risk comprises 
three  type of  risk: Interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and price risk.

Foreign exchange risk
The Company operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from foreign currency transactions (imports of  materials), primarily 
with respect  to the US Dollar, Euro etc. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in 
a currency that is not the company’s functional currency. The Company does not hedge its foreign exchange receivables/payables.

Foreign currency risk exposure:
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Note - 45
The matter between Hindustan Unilevel Limited (HUL) and Company regarding entry into each others business areas under the brand name involving the word 
' Kwality' is sub judice in Kolkata High Court. The subject matter took place after the Balance Sheet date.

Note - 46
The Company has in past couple of  years invested in development of  new manufacturing facility for production of  ‘Value Added Products’ at Softa (Palwal). In 
view of  the said expansion and to part fund the working capital requirements there has been a delay in payment of  Income Tax and interest thereon.

Note - 47
Trade payables includes foreign currency balances INR 2,54,86,696 outstanding for a more than six months from the date of  goods receipt note (GRN). 
Similarly  Trade receivables includes foreign currency balances INR 87,81,77,366 which is pending for collection more than nine months from the date of  the 
invoices. The Company believes that there will be no significant penalty on account of  foreign exchange payable and receivable delay.

Note - 48
Income Tax search u/s 132 of  Income Tax Act, 1961 was conducted on 22 August 2017. Subsequently, Company has received notices u/s 148 and 153A. 
Further the proceedings in this matter are yet to start. At this point of  time it is not possible to predict the outcome or ascertain the demand of  Tax, if  any from 
the Income Tax Department accordingly no adjustments have been recorded in the financial statements. In addition to above notices, Company has also 
received two notices under section 276 (2) and 277 of  Income tax Act,1961 for Assessment year 2016-17 and 2017-18 dated 12 March 2018 and 27 March 2018 
for penalty on non- payment of  taxes for aforesaid assessment years. However, at this stage no penalty has been imposed by department, therefore, it is not 
possible to predict the outcome in near future.

Note - 49
Having regard to enhanced production facility and planned funding, management is confident of  meeting all its liabilities accordingly the financial statements 
have been prepared on a ‘going concern’ basis.

Note - 50
The figures for the previous year have been regrouped/ rearranged wherever necessary.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To The Members of Kwality Limited
 Report on the Consolidated Ind ASFinancial Statements

 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements of  Kwality Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Holding Company”), its subsidiary (the Holding Company and its subsidiary together referred to as “the Group”) comprising the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at  March 31, 2018, the Consolidated Statement of Pro�t and Loss (including Other Comprehensive 
Income), the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and a 
summary of signi�cant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as “the consolidated Ind AS 
�nancial statements”).

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements

The Holding Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements in 
terms of the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as “the Act”) that give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated �nancial position, consolidated �nancial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated cash �ows 
and consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 
prescribed under Section 133 of the Act read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and the accounting principles generally accepted in India. The respective Board of 
Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the 
selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal �nancial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated Ind AS 
�nancial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have 
been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements by the Directors of the Holding Company, as 
aforesaid.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements based on our audit.  While conducting 
the audit, we have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and matters which are required 
to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing speci�ed under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the disclosures in the consolidated Ind AS
�nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

 misstatement of the consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
 auditor considers internal �nancial control relevant to the Holding Company's preparation of the consolidated Ind AS �nancial 

statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by 

 the Holding Company's Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated Ind AS �nancial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports 
referred to in the sub-paragraph (a) of the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements.

Opinion 
 In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS

�nancial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with 
the accounting principles generally accepted in India including the Ind AS, of the consolidated �nancial position of the Group as at 
March 31, 2018, and its consolidated �nancial performance including other comprehensive income, their consolidated cash �ows and 
consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to the following matters in the Notes to the consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements: 

a) Note 47 of the �nancial statement regarding delays in payment of direct taxes as per requirements of Income Tax Act, 1961. 
Tax amounting to INR 17,929.09 lakhs includes income tax payable for earlier years. The amounts along with interest have 
been fully provided in the books of accounts of the Holding Company.

b) Note 48 of the �nancial statement regarding foreign currency receivables and payable outstanding over the respective time 
limit prescribed under the Foreign Exchange Management Act (FEMA), 1999. The Holding Company is currently in process of 
initiating settlement proceedings in respect of such dues. Pending outcome of such proceedings, we are unable to 
comment on its impact on the �nancial statements.
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c) Note 49 of the �nancial statement regarding proceedings initiated under section 132 of Income Tax Act, 1961 on the Holding 
Company and some Directors. As part of routine process the Holding Company has received notices under section 153 and 
section 148. Since the assessment proceedings have not yet started, the Holding Company currently is not in a position to 
evaluate consequential impact, if any of possible tax adjustments.

Our opinion is not quali�ed in respect of these matters. 

Other Matters 

a. We did not audit the �nancial statements of the subsidiary company, whose �nancial statements re�ect total assets of INR 
30,633.73 lakhs and net assets of INR 15,937.40 lakhs as at March 31, 2018, total revenues of INR 59,448.85 lakhs and net cash 
out�ows amounting to INR 111.02 lakhs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated Ind AS �nancial 
statements. This Ind AS �nancial statements have been audited by the other auditor whose report have been furnished to us 
by the management, and our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts 
and disclosures included in respect of the subsidiary, and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the Act, in so 
far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiary, is based solely on the report of other auditors.

b. The consolidated IND AS �nancial statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2017, were audited by another 
auditor whose report dated May 26, 2017 expressed an unmodi�ed opinion on those statements.

 Our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements, is not modi�ed in respect of the above matter.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of report of the other auditor on  separate 
�nancial statements and other �nancial information of subsidiary, as noted in the 'Other Matters' paragraph above, we report, 
to the extent applicable that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements.

(b) In our opinion proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS 
�nancial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports of the other 
auditors.

(c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Pro�t and Loss, the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant 
books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements.

(d) In our opinion the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards 
prescribed under Section 133 of the Act read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended.

(e) The matters described in Annexure A to this report under 'Material Weaknesses' paragraph, in our opinion, may have an 
adverse effect on the functioning of the Holding Company.

(f) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company as on March 31, 2018 
taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company none of the directors is disquali�ed as on March 31, 
2018 from being appointed as a director of the Holding Company in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

 (g) With respect to the adequacy of the internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting of the Holding Company and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate report in 'Annexure A’

(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us and based on the consideration of the report of the other auditor on separate �nancial statements as also the other 
�nancial information of the subsidiary, as noted in the 'Other Matters' paragraph:

 
i. The consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated �nancial      

position of the Group– Refer Note 39 and 49 to the consolidated Ind AS �nancial statements.
ii. The Group did not have any material foreseeable losses on long-term contracts including derivative contracts during the 

year ended March 31, 2018.
iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the Investor Education and ProtectionFund 

by the Holding Company during the year ended March 31, 2018.

For MSKA & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 105047W

Sd/-
Amit Mitra
Partner
Membership No. 094518
Place : New Delhi
Date  : May 28, 2018
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 ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON THE CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
OF KWALITY LIMITED
  
[Referred to in paragraph 1(g) under 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' in the Independent Auditor's Report of 
even date to the Members of Kwality Limited on the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2018] 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 
(“the Act”)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated �nancial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended  March 31, 2018, 
we have audited the internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting of Kwality Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the Holding 
Company”) as of that date.
           
Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Board of Directors of the Holding company, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal �nancial controls based on 
the internal control over �nancial reporting criteria established by the company considering the essential components of internal 
control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal �nancial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including 
adherence to the respective Company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable �nancial information, as required 
under the Act.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting of the Holding company based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) issued by the ICAI and the Standards on Auditing prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the 
extent applicable to an audit of internal �nancial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal �nancial 
controls over �nancial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal �nancial controls system 
over �nancial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, 
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the �nancial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our quali�ed audit opinion 
on the internal �nancial controls system over �nancial reporting of the Holding company.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal �nancial control over �nancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of �nancial reporting and the preparation of �nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal �nancial control over �nancial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly re�ect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of �nancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the �nancial statements.
           
Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or 
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that 
the internal �nancial control over �nancial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Material Weaknesses

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit, the following material weaknesses have 
been identi�ed as at March 31, 2018:

           a) The Holding Company did not have a mechanism to reconcile the 'cheque receipt and deposit register' with  bank book. In 
the absence of such reconciliation, actual date of receipt of cheques cannot be ascertained (Cut Off). We have veri�ed the 
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date of receipt of cheque from date of posting in the bank book further their subsequent clearance veri�ed from bank 
statement. 

        b) Debit/ credit note pertaining to procurement of material, recording of trading sales and journal entries are not authorised 
in the automated system. Further no competitive quotations are obtained for purchase of �xed assets. Absence of above 
controls may have an impact on the accuracy of relevant account balance. Absence of comparative quotation may have 
impact on the purchase price. We have performed other corroborative procedures such as veri�cation of manual 
authorisation along with necessary supporting document besides obtaining independent year end balance con�rmation 
from select vendors.

 A 'material weakness' is a de�ciency, or a combination of de�ciencies, in internal �nancial control over �nancial reporting, 
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company's annual or interim �nancial 
statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

 In our opinion, and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the Holding company, 
have, in all material respects, maintained adequate internal �nancial controls over �nancial reporting as of March 31, 2018, 
based on the internal control over �nancial reporting criteria established by respective companies considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note and except for the possible effects of the material 
weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the internal �nancial controls 
over �nancial reporting of the Holding company, were operating effectively as of March 31, 2018.  

 We have considered the material weaknesses identi�ed and reported above in determining the nature, timing, and extent 
of audit tests applied in our audit of the March 31, 2018 consolidated �nancial statements of the Company, and these 
material weaknesses does not affect our opinion on the consolidated �nancial statements of the Company.      

Other Matters

Our aforesaid reports under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal �nancial 
controls over �nancial reporting is not applicable insofar as it relates to subsidiary company which is incorporated outside India.

 

For MSKA & Associates
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No. 105047W

Amit Mitra
Partner
Membership No. 094518

Place : New Delhi
Date  : May 28, 2018
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(Satish Kumar Gupta)
Chief Financial Officer
PAN : AEUPG2708P

(Pradeep K. Srivastva)
Company Secretary
M No. FCS6763

Amit Mitra
Partner
Membership No. 094518 
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As at
31 March 2017

(Satish Kumar Gupta)
Chief Financial Officer
PAN : AEUPG2708P

(Pradeep K. Srivastva)
Company Secretary
M No. FCS6763
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Kwality Limited 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR Lakh, unless otherwise stated)

1.  Nature of principal activities 

 Kwality Limited ('Kwality' or 'the Parent' or 'the Company'), a public limited Group, together with its subsidiary (collectively 
referred to as the 'Group'). The Group is engaged in manufacture/processing and sale of milk, milk products and dairy products. 
The Group operates both in domestic and international markets  The registered office of the Parent is situated at KDIL House, F-82, .  
Shivaji Place, Rajouri Garden, Delhi 110027, India.   

2.  General information and statement of compliance with Ind AS

 The �nancial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards as noti�ed under 
section 133 of the Companies Act 2013 read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 as amended from 
time to time. The Group has uniformly applied the accounting policies during the periods presented. 

 The consolidated �nancial statements are presented in Indian rupees ('INR') and all values are rounded to two decimal places of 
lakhs, except when otherwise indicated.

 The �nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 were authorized and approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 
28 May 2018.

   
3.  Basis of Accounting
 
 The �nancial statements have been prepared on going concern basis under the historical cost basis except for the following –

· Certain �nancial assets and �nancial liabilities which are measured at fair value; and
· Share based payments which are measured at fair value of the options; 

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiary

 The Group combines the �nancial statements of the parent and its subsidiary line by line adding together like items of assets, 
liabilities, equity, income and expenses. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between 
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

4. Standards issued but not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group

 Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the �nancial statements 
is provided below. 

 Ind AS 115 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' (Ind AS 115)

 The new standard on revenue recognition overhauls the existing revenue recognition standards and will replace Ind AS 18 – 
Revenue and Ind AS 11 – Construction contracts. The new standard provides a control-based revenue recognition model and 
provides a �ve step application principle to be followed for revenue recognition:

 
 i.  Identi�cation of the contracts with the customer
 ii.  Identi�cation of the performance obligations in the contract
 iii.  Determination of the transaction price
 iv.  Allocation of transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract (as identi�ed in step ii)
 v.  Recognition of revenue when the Group satis�es a performance obligation.

-133-

Annual Report 2017 - 18



Appendix B to Ind AS 21, Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration: 
 
On March 28, 2018, Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") has noti�ed the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment 
Rules, 2018 containing Appendix B to Ind AS 21, Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration which clari�es the date of 
the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income, 
when an entity has received or paid advance consideration in a foreign currency. The amendment will come into force from April 1, 
2018. The Group has evaluated the effect of this on the �nancial statements and the impact is not material.

The effective date of the new standards has been noti�ed by the MCA as 1 April 2018. The management is yet to assess the impact of 
these new standards on the Group's �nancial statements.

5.   Summary of signi�cant accounting policies

The �nancial statements have been prepared using the signi�cant accounting policies and measurement bases summarised below. 
These were used throughout all periods presented in the �nancial statements, except where the Group has applied certain accounting 
policies and exemptions upon transition to Ind AS.

5.1  Current versus non-current classi�cation
 
Ÿ  The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/non-current classi�cation. 
Ÿ  An asset is classi�ed as current when it is:
Ÿ  Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
Ÿ   Held primarily for the purpose of trading
Ÿ   Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
Ÿ   Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the

 reporting period
  All other assets are classi�ed as non-current.

 A liability is classi�ed as current when:
Ÿ  It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
Ÿ   It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
Ÿ   It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
Ÿ   There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period

Ÿ  All other liabilities are classi�ed as non-current.

Ÿ  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classi�ed as non-current assets and liabilities.

 The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash equivalent.
 The Group has identi�ed twelve month as it's operating cycle.

5.2   Foreign currency

 Functional and presentation currency
 The �nancial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR'), which is the Group's functional and presentation currency.

 Transactions and balances
 Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the functional currency, by applying to the exchange rate between the functional 

currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction. 

 Foreign currency monetary items are converted to functional currency using the closing rate. Non-monetary items denominated 
in a foreign currency which are carried at historical cost are reported using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

 Exchange differences arising on monetary items on settlement, or restatement as at reporting date, at rates different from 
those at which they were initially recorded, are recognized in the statement of pro�t and loss in the year in which they arise.

5.3 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic bene�ts will �ow to the Group and it can be reliably measured. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received/receivable inclusive of excise duty net of rebate and other 
taxes. The Group applies the revenue recognition criteria to each separately identi�able component of the sales transaction as set 
out below.

 Sale of goods
 Sale is recognized when the signi�cant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the customer. Sales are 

recorded inclusive of excise duty and net of sales returns, sales tax, goods and service tax (GST), rebates, trade discounts and price 
differences.

Kwality Limited 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR Lakh, unless otherwise stated)
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S. No. Head of Assets Particulars Useful life

1. Plant & Machinery 

2. Plant & Machinery 

Storing and handling units

Automatic milk collection units

2 Years

3 Years

 Income from services
 Revenue from milk processing and other services, if any, are recognized as and when services are rendered and are accounted on 

an accrual basis.

 Interest income
 Interest income is recorded on accrual basis using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.

 Export bene�ts
 Exports bene�ts are recognized on accrual basis in the Statement of Pro�t and Loss when the reasonable right to receive the same 

is established.

5.4  Borrowing costs

 General and speci�c borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. 
Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. Other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

 Borrowing cost also include exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded 
as an adjustment to interest cost.

5.5 Property, plant and equipment (PPE)

 Recognition and initial measurement
 Freehold land is carried at historic cost. Other properties plant and equipment are stated at their cost of acquisition less 

depreciation. The cost of acquisition comprises purchase price, borrowing cost if capitalization criteria are met and directly 
attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use. 

 Any trade discount and rebates are deducted in arriving at the purchase price.
 Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 

probable that future economic bene�ts associated with the item will �ow to the Group. All other repair and maintenance costs 
are recognised in statement of pro�t and loss as incurred.

 Subsequent measurement (depreciation and useful lives)
 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to the extent of depreciable amount on the Written down value 

(WDV). The depreciation rates are based on useful life of the assets as prescribed in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013 except 
in respect of the following assets where based on the internal technical assessment of the estimated economic useful lives of the 
property, plant and equipment, the useful life is different than those prescribed in Schedule II are used as:

 The assets residual value and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

 De-recognition
 An item of property, plant and equipment and any signi�cant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no 

future economic bene�ts are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised in statement of pro�t 
and loss when the asset is derecognised.

5.6 Investment properties

 Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the group, is 
classi�ed as investment property. Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs and 
where applicable borrowing costs. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset's carrying amount only when it is probable 
that future economic bene�ts associated with  the expenditure will �ow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other  repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. When part of an investment property is replaced, 
the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.  Investment properties are depreciated using straight line method.

5.7 Intangible assets

 Recognition and initial measurement
 Acquired computer software are capitalized at cost of acquisition (Including License fees paid), net of accumulated amortization 

and accumulated impairment losses if any and are disclosed as intangible assets.

Kwality Limited 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR Lakh, unless otherwise stated)
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Other intangible assets (copyrights) are shown at cost of acquisition net of accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
loss if any.

Subsequent measurement (amortisation)
Intangible asset are amortised on written down value over the useful life of the asset up to a maximum of �ve years commencing from 
the month when the asset is �rst put to use. The Group provides pro-rata depreciation from the day the asset is put to use and for any 
asset sold, till the date of sale.

5.8  Operating leases

Group is lessee
Assets acquired on leases where a signi�cant portion of risk and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classi�ed as 
operating leases. Lease rental are charged to statement of pro�t and loss on straight-line basis except where scheduled increase in rent 
compensate the lessor for expected in�ationary costs.

Group is lessor
Lease income from operating lease where the group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
unless the receipts are structured to increase in line with expected general in�ation to compensate for the expected in�ationary cost 
increases. The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature. 

5.9  Impairment of non-�nancial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, based on internal or external 
factors. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset or the cash generating unit is estimated. If such recoverable 
amount of the asset or cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. 

The reduction is treated as an impairment loss and is recognised in the statement of pro�t and loss. If, at the reporting date there is an 
indication that a previously assessed impairment loss no longer exists, the recoverable  amount is reassessed and the asset is re�ected 
at the recoverable amount. Impairment losses previously  recognized are accordingly reversed in the statement of pro�t and loss.

5.10  Financial instruments

A �nancial Instrument is any contract which gives rise to a �nancial asset of one entity and a �nancial liability or equity instrument 
of another entity.

Recognition, initial measurement and de-recognition

Financial assets and �nancial liabilities are recognised and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs, except for 
those carried at fair value through pro�t or loss which are measured initially at fair value. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
contractual rights to the cash �ows from the �nancial asset expire, or when the �nancial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are 
transferred. A �nancial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. When an existing �nancial 
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modi�ed such an exchange or modi�cation is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 
a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of pro�t or loss. 

Classi�cation and subsequent measurement of �nancial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, �nancial assets are classi�ed into the following categories upon initial recognition:
• Amortised cost
• Financial assets at fair value through pro�t or loss (FVTPL)
• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
All �nancial assets except for those at FVTPL are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date.

Amortised cost 

A �nancial asset shall be measured at amortised cost using effective interest rates if both of the following conditions are met:
• the �nancial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold �nancial assets in order to collect contractual cash 

�ows; and
• the contractual terms of the �nancial asset give rise on speci�ed dates to cash �ows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of  �nancial instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

FVTOCI �nancial assets are either debt instruments that are managed under hold to collect and sell business model or are non-trading 
equity instruments that are designated to this category.

Kwality Limited 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR Lakh, unless otherwise stated)
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FVTOCI �nancial assets are measured at fair value. Gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income, except for interest 
and dividend income, impairment losses and foreign exchange differences on monetary assets, which are recognized in statement of 
pro�t or loss. 

Financial assets at fair value through pro�t or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets at FVTPL include �nancial assets that either do not meet the criteria for amortised cost classi�cation or FVTOCI or that 
meet certain conditions and are designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition. All derivative �nancial instruments also fall into this 
category. Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains  or losses recognized in pro�t or loss. The fair values of �nancial 
assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no active 
market exists.

Classi�cation and subsequent measurement of �nancial liabilities

Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method, except for �nancial liabilities 
held for trading or designated at FVTPL, that are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognized in pro�t or loss. All 
derivative �nancial instruments are accounted for at FVTPL.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are those contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs 
because the speci�ed party fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee 
contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of 
the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the amount of expected loss allowance determined as per 
impairment requirements of Ind AS 109 and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Derivative contracts

A derivative forward contract is recognised as an asset or a liability on the commitment date. Outstanding forward derivative contracts 
as at reporting date are fair valued restated using the mark to market information and resultant gain/(loss) is recognised accounted in 
statement of pro�t and loss.

Embedded Derivatives: 

Derivative embedded in all other host (that is not an asset) are separated only if economic characteristics and risks of the embedded 
derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host and are measured at fair value through pro�t and 
loss. Embedded derivatives closely related to the host contracts are not separated. 

Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognised in the statement of pro�t and loss as �nance costs.  The Group has an 
interest rate swap that is used as a hedge for the exposure of changes in the fair value of its 8.25% �xed rate secured loan. See Note 43 
for more details.

Offsetting of �nancial instruments

Financial assets and �nancial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a  currently enforceable 
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously.

5.11 Impairment of �nancial assets

In accordance with Ind-AS 109, the Group applies expected credit loss (ECL) model for recognition and measurement of impairment 
loss for �nancial assets.

ECL is the difference between all contractual cash �ows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash �ows 
that the Group expects to receive discounted at original effective tax rate (ETR). When estimating the cash �ows, the Group is required 
to consider –
 • All contractual terms of the �nancial assets (including prepayment and extension) over the expected life of the assets.
 • Cash �ows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

Trade receivables
The Group applies approach permitted by Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised 
from initial recognition of receivables.

Other �nancial assets
For recognition of impairment loss on other �nancial assets and risk exposure, the Group determines whether there has been a 
signi�cant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition and if credit risk has increased signi�cantly, impairment loss is provided.

Kwality Limited 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement for the year ended 31 March 2018
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5.12   Inventories

Inventory includes raw material, packing material, stores and spares (not covered under property, plant and equipment),  work in 
progress, traded and �nished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises cost of 
purchases and other cost in curred in bringing the inventories to present location and condition. Cost of purchased inventory are 
determined after deducting rebates and discounts and excludes those taxes and duties subsequently recoverable from the  
revenue authorities. Cost of work-in-progress and �nished goods comprises direct material, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of variable and �xed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are 
assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of �rst-in, �rst-out basis. 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary  to make the 
sale. Inventory item held for use in production is not written down below cost, if the �nished product in which they will be 
incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost. 

5.13   Income taxes

Tax expense recognized in statement of pro�t and loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax except the ones recognized 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted for the reporting period. Current income tax 
relating to items recognised outside pro�t or loss is recognised outside pro�t or loss (either in other comprehensive income or in 
equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity.

Minimum alternate tax ('MAT') credit entitlement is recognised as an asset only when and to the extent there is convincing evidence 
that normal income tax will be paid during the speci�ed period. In the year in which MAT credit becomes eligible to be recognised as 
an asset, the said asset is created by way of a credit to the statement of pro�t and loss and shown as MAT credit entitlement. This is 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and writes down the carrying amount of MAT credit entitlement to the extent it is not reasonably 
certain that normal income tax will be paid during the speci�ed period.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised in full for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss, unused tax 
credits or deductible temporary difference will be utilised against future taxable income. This is assessed based on the Group's forecast 
of future operating results, adjusted for signi�cant non-taxable income and expenses and speci�c limits on the use of any unused tax 
loss or credit.  Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable pro�ts will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax 
relating to items recognised outside statement of pro�t and loss is recognised outside statement of pro�t or loss (either in other 
comprehensive income or in equity).

5.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term, highly liquid investments 
(original maturity less than 3 months) that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insigni�cant 
risk of changes in value and bank overdraft. Bank overdraft are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in balance sheet.

5.15 Post-employment, long-term and short-term employee bene�ts

Short-term employee bene�ts:
Short-term employee bene�ts such as salaries, wages, bonus etc. are recognized as an expense at the undiscounted amount in the 
statement of pro�t and loss for the year in which employee renders the related service.

Post-employment bene�ts

De�ned contribution plans:
Group's contribution to Employees' Provident Fund Scheme, Employees' State Insurance Contribution Scheme and Staff welfare fund 
are charged to the revenue of the year when the contribution to the respective fund is due.

De�ned bene�t plans:
The Group's gratuity scheme is a de�ned bene�t plan. The present value of the obligation under such de�ned plan is determined 
based on actuarial valuation carried out at the end of the year by an independent actuary, using the Projected Unit Credit method, 
which recognizes each period of service as giving rise to additional unit of employee bene�t entitlement and measures each unit 
separately to build up the �nal obligation. The obligation is measured at the present value of the estimated future cash �ows. Actuarial 
gains and losses arising on such valuation are recognized immediately in the Other Comprehensive Income. Any interest expense is 
accounted as �nance cost in Statement of Pro�t and Loss. 

Kwality Limited 
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Compensated absences:
Bene�ts under the Group's leave encashment constitute other long-term employee bene�ts. The liability in respect of vacation pay is 
provided on the basis of an actuarial valuation done by an independent actuary at the year end. Actuarial gains and losses are 
recognized immediately in the statement of pro�t and loss. Termination bene�ts are recognized as an expense in the year in which 
they are incurred.

Bonus plans:
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonus. The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where 
there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

5.16   Share based payments

The Employee Stock Option Plan (“the Scheme”) provides for grant of equity shares of the Group to the employees of the Parent and its 
subsidiaries. The Scheme provides that employees are granted an option to acquire the equity shares of the Group that vests in a 
graded manner or as decided by Remuneration, Compensation and Nomination Committee. The options may be exercised within a 
speci�ed period. The employee bene�ts expense is measured using the fair value of the employee stock options and is recognised 
over vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity. The vesting period is the period over which all the speci�ed vesting 
conditions are to be satis�ed. On the exercise of the employee stock options, the employees of the Group will be allotted equity shares.

5.17   Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

The Board of Directors assesses the �nancial performance and position of the company and make strategic decision. The Board of 
Directors, has been identi�ed as being the chief operating decision maker. Refer Note 45 for segment information presented.

5.18 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions and contingent liabilities: 
A Provision is recognised when the Group has present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that 
an out�ow of resources will be required to settle the obligation in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made. Provisions are 
discounted to their present value, where the time value of money is material.

When some or all of the economic bene�ts required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable 
is recognised as a separate asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be 
measured reliably.

Contingent liability is a possible obligation arising from past events and the existence of which will be con�rmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group or a present 
obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because it is not possible that an out�ow of resources embodying 
economic bene�t will be required to settle the obligations or reliable estimate of the amount of the obligations cannot be made. The 
Group discloses the existence of contingent liabilities in Other Notes to Financial Statements.

In cases where the possible out�ow of economic resources as a result of present obligation is considered improbable or remote, no 
Provision is recognised or disclosure is made

Contingent assets: 
Contingent assets usually arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an in�ow of economic 
bene�ts. Contingent Assets are not recognised though are disclosed, where an in�ow of economic bene�ts is probable.

5.19   Dividends: 

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the 
entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period,.

5.20  Earnings per share

(i)    Basic earning per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing:

The pro�t attributable to the shareholder
By the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the �nancial year, adjusted for bonus  element in equity shares 
issued during the year and excluding treasury shares
(ii)      Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the �gures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:
The after income tax effect of interest and other �nancial costs associated with dilutive potential equity shares, and�The weighted 
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average number of additional equity shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential 
equity shares.

5.21  Government Grant

Import duty waivers for capital assets purchased under Export Promotion Credit Guarantee (EPCG) schemes are recorded as deferred 
revenue and recognized in Statment of Pro�t and Loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the related performance 
obligations are ful�lled.

5.22   Signi�cant judgement and estimates in applying accounting policies

The preparation of the Group's �nancial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the related disclosures.

Signi�cant management judgements
The following are signi�cant management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Group that have the most signi�cant 
effect on the �nancial statements.

Recognition of deferred tax assets – The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognized is based on an assessment of the 
probability of the Group's future taxable income against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. In addition, signi�cant 
judgement is required in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits.

Recoverability of advances/receivables – At each balance sheet date, based on historical default rates observed over expected life, 
the management assesses the expected credit loss on outstanding receivables and advances.

Classi�cation of Leases – The Group enters into leasing arrangements for various assets. The classi�cation of the leasing arrangement 
as a �nance lease or operating lease is based on an assessment of several factors, including, but not limited to, transfer of ownership of 
leased asset at end of lease term, lessee's option to purchase and estimated certainty of exercise of such option, proportion of lease 
term to the asset's economic life, proportion of present value of minimum lease payments to fair value of leased asset and extent of 
specialized nature of the leased asset.

De�ned bene�t obligation (DBO) – Employee bene�t obligations are measured on the basis of actuarial assumptions which include 
mortality and withdrawal rates as well as assumptions concerning future developments in discount rates, medical cost trends, 
anticipation of future salary increases and the in�ation rate. The Group  considers that the assumptions used to measure its obligations 
are appropriate.  However, any changes in these assumptions may have a material impact on the resulting calculations.

Fair value measurements – The Group applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of �nancial instruments (where active 
market quotes are not available) and non-�nancial assets (Share based payment). This involves developing estimates and 
assumptions consistent with the market participants to price the instrument. The Group's assumptions are based on observable data 
as far as possible, otherwise on the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that would be 
achieved in an arm's length transaction at the reporting date.

Inventories – The Group estimates the cost of inventories taking into account the most reliable evidence, such as cost of materials and 
overheads considered attributable to the production of such inventories including actual cost of production, etc. Management also 
estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence available at each reporting date. The 
future realisation of these inventories may be affected by future technology or other market-driven changes that may reduce future 
selling prices.

Provision and contingencies – The assessments undertaken in recognising provisions and contingencies have been made in 
accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 37, 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets'. The evaluation of 
the likelihood of the contingent events is applied best judgement by management regarding the probability of exposure to potential 
loss.

Useful lives of depreciable/amortisable assets – Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable/ amortisable 
assets at each reporting date, based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical and 
economic obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software, customer relationships, IT equipment and other plant and 
equipment.
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8     Intangible assets 

Copyright Software Total

Gross carrying amount

At 1 April 2016

Addition
Disposals  / assets written off

100.00

-
-

77.94

16.88
-

177.94

16.88
-

Balance as at 31 March 2017  100.00 94.82 194.82

At 1 April 2017 100.00 94.82 194.82

Addition - 22.12 22.12

Disposals  / assets written off - - -

Balance as at 31 March 2018  100.00 116.94 216.94

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 April 2016

Charge for the year

Disposals / assets written off 

-

-

-

39.26

21.34

-

39.26

21.34

-

Balance as at 31 March 2017  - 60.60 60.60

At 1 April 2017

Charge for the year

Disposals / assets written off 

-

20.03

-

60.60

5.27

-

60.60

25.30

-

Balance as at 31 March 2018  20.03 65.87 85.90

Net book value as at 31 March 2018 79.97 51.07 131.04

Net book value as at 31 March 2017 100.00 34.22 134.22
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In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of  dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue 
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of  the following gearing ratio.  

The group has compiled with these covenants throughout the reporting period. As at 31 March 2018, the ratio of  net finance cost to EBITDA was 2.19 times 
(31 March 17-2.58 times)
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Related Party

Pashupati Dairies Private Limited

Nature of  Transactions  31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Amount payable in respect of  Services/ Rent
Amount payable in Respect of  royalty
Amount payable in Respect of  expenses
Guarantee taken for financial limits

                     13.73           
             2.43          
              8.10      

       113,643.00 

                                 25.00   
                                 8.61     

                                   -   
                        112,643.00 

JTPL Private Limited Collateral Security/guarantee taken             179,143.00                         165,643.00 

Sanjay Dhingra Guarantee  taken for long term loans
Guarantee taken for financial limits
Guarantee taken for ECB
Shares pledge for loan
Payable to employee
Employee benefit provision

              74,900.00          
   113,643.00    

             9,106.17   
            73,463.43   
                   19.79      

                38.98 

                          53,000.00          
               112,643.00             

                9,725.79      
                   104,773.44       
                             6.52          

                              -   

Satyendra Kumar Bhalla Payable to employee - 2.49

Kuldeep Sharma Payable to employee

Employee benefit provision  

-1.08

0.31 -

Satish Kumar Gupta Payable to employee 1.85 0.03

Employee benefit provision 1.41 0.84

Manjit Dhaiya Payable to employee 2.75 1.50

Employee benefit provision 26.13 -

Pradeep Kumar Srivastava Payable to employee 1.35 1.69

Employee benefit provision 1.79 0.96

Ankita Mehrotra Payable to employee 0.38 -

Sidhant Gupta Payable to employee 20.30 -1.65

Rattan Sagar Khanna Payable to employee 0.46 0.27

Arun Srivastava Payable to employee 0.09 0.09
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For determination of  the liability of  the Company, the following actuarial assumptions were used:

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Discount rate
Salary escalation rate
Withdrawal rate 18 to 58 years
Mortality table

7.50%
7.00%

16.00%
Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2006 -08)

7.50%
5.00%
2.00%

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2006 -08)

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Impact of  the change in discount rate
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %
Impact of  the change in withdrawal rate
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %
Impact of  the change in salary increase
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %

202.37

                   221.94 

211.93

211.46

221.89

202.24

108.10

134.48

123.60

115.90

134.71

107.74

Gratuity
The Group provides for gratuity for employees in India as per the Payment of  Gratuity Act, 1972 as amended. Employees who are in continuous service for a 
period of  5 years are eligible for gratuity. The amount of  gratuity payable on retirement/termination is the employee's last drawn basic salary per month 
computed proportionately for 15 days salary multiplied for the number of  years of  service. Gratuity plan is a non-funded plan.

Amount recognised in the Statement of  Profit and Loss is as under:

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/loss, net on account of:
-Changes in financial assumptions
-Changes in experience adjustment
Cost recognized during the year

                     66.96          
            13.92

 
                     37.95         

             (3.15)         
           115.69 

                                 54.81
                 9.02

7.13
                      (4.73)

                66.23

Movement in the liability recognized in the Balance Sheet is as under:

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Present value of  defined benefit obligation at the beginning of  the year
Current service cost
Past service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/loss, net
Benefits paid

Present value of  defined benefit obligation at the end of  the year
-Current
-Non-current

                   185.62     
                 66.96              

          9.85     
                 13.92    

                  34.81    
                  (9.96)

301.20
52.67

248.53

                               120.24                            
      54.81        

                                -          
                            9.02          

                          2.40  
                                (0.85)

185.62
15.56

170.08

For determination of  the liability of  the Company, the following actuarial assumptions were used:

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Discount rate
Salary escalation rate
Mortality table

7.50%
7.00%

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2006 -08)

7.50%
5.00%

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2006 -08)

These assumptions were developed by management with the assistance of  independent actuarial appraisers. Discount factors are determined close 
to each year-end by reference to government bonds of  relevant economic markets and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms 
of  the related obligation. Other assumptions are based on management’s historical experience.

These assumptions were developed by management with the assistance of  independent actuarial appraisers. Discount factors are determined close to each
year-end by reference to government bonds of  relevant economic markets and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of  the related obligation. 
Other assumptions are based on management’s historical experience.

Sensitivity analysis for compensated absences liability
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Particulars 

Option issued

Grant date 

Vesting period

Exercise price

Fair market value of  options on grant date*

Option outstanding as at 31 March 2018

Weighted average remaining contractual life of  options outstanding as at 
31 March 2018 (in years)

Option outstanding as at 31 March 2017 

Weighted average remaining contractual life of  options outstanding as at 
31 March 2017 (in years)

Grant I Grant II Grant III Grant IV Grant V 

     1,937,000 50,000 43,000 2,736,000 500,000

23 July 2015  8 Oct 2015  1 Aug 2016  28 Aug 2017 10 Jan 2018 

 1 year  1 year  1 year  1 year  1 year 

38.00 38.00 38.00 50.00 10.00

67.28 76.18 90.63 92.44 105.56

13,500 - - 2,736,000 500,000

5.46 - - 5.46 5.46

568,900 50,000 43,000 - -

4.40 4.40 4.40 - -

*The fair value of  the options has been determined using the Black Scholes model, as certified by an independent valuer.

The following table illustrates the numbers and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options during the year:

Particulars 

Opening balance

Granted during the year

Exercised during the year

Expired during the year

Forfeited during the year

No. of  options

                  38.00 

WAEP No. of  options WAEP

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

661,900 1,987,000                   38.00 

3,236,000                   43.82 43,000                   38.00 

               (614,000)                   38.00               (1,270,100)                  38.00 

- - - -

                 (34,400)                   38.00                    (98,000)                  38.00 

Closing Balance               3,249,500                   43.80                    661,900                   38.00 

Exercisable as at year end                    13,500                   38.00                    661,900                   38.00 

 The following table list the inputs used for the year ended :  

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

 Dividend yield (%) on face value of  share

 Expected volatility (%)  

 Risk-free interest rate (%)  

 Expected life of  share option (in years)  

 Weighted average share price (INR)  

 Module used 

10.00% 10.00%

51.95% - 134.08% 71.79%

6.66% - 7.63% 7.625%

6 6

43.82 38

 Black Scholes  Black Scholes 

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Impact of  the change in discount rate
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %
Impact of  the change in withdrawal rate
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %
Impact of  the change in salary increase
Present value of  obligation at the end of  the year
Impact due to increase of   1 %
Impact due to decrease of   1 %

288.26

                   315.18

299.27

303.14

314.20

289.03

166.89

208.34

189.22

181.06

208.69

166.32

Sensitivity analysis for compensated absenses liability
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Note- 42

Share based payments

The Group has reserved issuance of  10,000,000 (Previous Year: 10,000,000) Equity Shares of  INR 1 each for offering to the eligible employees of  the Group 
under Employees Stock Option Plan 2014 (ESOP 2014). During the year the Company has granted 2,736,000  Options at a price of  INR 50 and 500,000 Options 
at a price of  INR 10 per option (Previous Year 43,000 option at a price of  INR 38) plus all applicable taxes. The options would vest over a period of  1 years. Once 
vested, the options remains exercisable for a period of  5 years. The other disclosure in respect of  the ESOP Scheme are as under:

The estimates of  future salary increases, inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors, considered in actuarial valuation such as supply and 
demand in the employment market. The rate used to discount post employment benefit obligations (both funded and unfunded) should be determined 
by reference  to market yields at the balance sheet date on government bonds. The currency and term of  the government bonds should be consistent 
with the currency and estimated term of  the post employment benefit obligations.
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Note 43
Financial risk management

Financial instruments by category

Particulars 

Financial assets

Trade receivables

Security deposit and loans

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank deposits

Other recoverable

Investments

 FVTPL  Amortised cost 

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

 FVOCI  Amortised cost  FVTPL  FVOCI 

- -         189,768.24 - -         157,918.59 
- -                127.65 - -                113.94 
- -             6,484.11 - -             8,402.94 
- -             3,222.67 - -             3,188.67 
- -                676.29 - -                488.79 

                 15.66 - - ---
Total financial assets                  15.66 -         200,278.98 --          170,112.94 

Particulars 

Financial liabilities

Borrowings 

Trade payables 

Security deposits 

Others

 FVTPL  Amortised cost 

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

 FVOCI  Amortised cost  FVTPL  FVOCI 

- -         182,231.57 - -         166,169.73 
- -           15,309.76 - -           10,127.96 
- -                545.93 - -                608.74 
350.72 -             4,130.95           1,027.56 -             1,828.05 

Total financial liabilities -         202,218.21 --         178,734.49 350.72           1,027.56 

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. This note explains the sources of  risk which the entity is exposed to and 
how the entity manages the risk and the related impact in the financial statements.

Risk

Credit risk

Exposure arising from Measurement Management

Cash and cash equivalent, trade 
receivables, financial assets measured 
at amortised cost

Ageing analysis Bank deposits, diversification of  asset base 
and credit limits

Liquidity risk Borrowings and other financial 
liabilities

Rolling cash flow forecasts Availability of  committed credit lines and 
borrowing facilities

Market risk – Foreign 
exchange

Future commercial transactions
Recognised financial assets and 
liabilities not denominated in Indian 
rupee (INR)

Cash flow forecasting and sensitivity 
analysis

Forward contract/hedging

Market risk – Interest 
rate

Long-term borrowings at variable 
rates

Sensitivity analysis Interest rate swaps

Market risk – Security 
prices

Investment in equity securities Sensitivity analysis Portfolio diversifications

The Group’s risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (of  the group) under policies approved by the board of  directors. 
The board of  directors provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of  excess liquidity.

A  Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that counter party will not meet it's obligation under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. Credit risk arises 
from cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, investments carried at amortised cost and deposits with banks and financial institutions. 

Credit risk management

The finance function of  the Group assesses and manages credit risk based on internal credit rating system. Internal credit rating is performed for each class of  
financial instruments with different characteristics. The Group assigns the following credit ratings to each class of  financial assets based on the assumptions, 
inputs and factors specific to the class of  financial assets.

A: Secured, negligible
B: Partly secured
C: Unsecured
D: Doubtful

Credit rating 

A: Secured, negligible

Assets under credit risk –

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

-

B: Partly secured

-

- -

C: Unsecured - -Trade receivables

Security deposits

Loans to employees

Bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Investment

Trade receivables

        189,768.24         

       105.15        

          22.50     

        3,185.16      

       6,484.11         

         15.66   

             400.00 

        157,918.59          

        88.99          

        24.95       

      3,141.86      

       8,402.94 

                      -

-   D: Doubtful
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           Credit risk exposure

Provision for expected credit losses
The Group provides for expected credit loss based on lifetime expected credit loss mechanism for loans, deposits and other investments –

Particulars Estimated gross
carrying amount at default

Expected probability of
 default

As at 31 March 2018

Expected credit
losses

Carrying amount net of  
impairment provision

Loans to employees

Security deposit

Bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

                           22.50 

                         105.15 

                      3,185.16 

                      6,484.11 

0%

0%

0%

0%

-

-

-

-

                           22.50 

                         105.15 

                      3,185.16 

                      6,484.11 

Particulars Estimated gross
carrying amount at default

Expected probability of
 default

As at 31 March 2017

Expected credit
losses

Carrying amount net of  
impairment provision

Loans

Security deposit

Bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

                           24.95

                         88.99

                      3,141.86 

                      8,402.94

0%

0%

0%

0%

-

-

-

-

                           24.95

                         88.99

                      3,141.86 

                      8,402.94

Ageing 0-3 months old

Expected credit loss for trade receivables under simplified approach

Total

As at 31 March 2018

Gross carrying amount

Expected loss rate

Expected credit loss provision

Carrying amount of  trade receivables

03-06 months 
old

06-12 months 
old

more than 12 
months old

        151,048.84 

0.00%     

                 -      

     151,048.84 

          22,356.34 

0.00%      

                -        

     22,356.34 

        10,451.34 

2.02%        

     211.00    

     10,240.34 

            6,311.72 

2.99%

               189.00    

          6,122.72 

        190,168.24 

               

400.00    

     189,768.24 

Ageing 0-3 months old Total

As at 31 March 2017

Gross carrying amount

Expected loss rate

Expected credit loss provision

Carrying amount of  trade receivables

03-06 months 
old

06-12 months 
old

more than 12 
months old

        140,144.02 

0.00%     

                 -      

             140,144.02  

          16,489.37 

0.00%      

                -        

               16,489.37 

            159.24

0.00%

               -    

                          159.24 

        157,918.59

               

-

             157,918.59 

          1,125.96

0.00%      

                -        

               1,125.96 

Reconciliation of  expected credit loss provision

Particulars

As at 1 April 2016
Changes in provision
As at 31 March 2017
Changes in provision
As at 31  March 2018

Amount

1.65         
        (1.65)          

            -            
      400.00   

             400.00 

B. Liquidity Risk
 Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of  funding through an adequate amount 

of  committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due. Due to the nature of  the business, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining 
availability under committed facilities.

 Management monitors rolling forecasts of  the Group’s liquidity position and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of  expected cash flows. The Group takes 
into account the liquidity of  the market in which the entity operates. In addition, the Group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows in 
major currencies and considering the level of  liquid assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external 
regulatory requirements and maintaining debt financing plans.

 Maturities of  financial liabilities
 The tables below analyse the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual maturities for all non-derivative financial 

liabilities. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the 
impact of  discounting is insignificant.

31 March 2018 Less than 1 
year

Total

Non-derivatives

Borrowings (including interest)

Trade payable

Other financial liabilities

Security deposits

Total

Between 1 and 
2 years

Between 2 and
 3 years

More than 
3 years

        141,215.45  

         15,309.76 

            1,016.92     

           545.93

        158,088.05  

          21,683.26            
           -                
         -                 
        -

-
   21,683.26    

          15,739.96           
           -                

         -                 
        -

-
          15,739.96    

      22,419.28          
           -                
         -                 
        -

-
        22,419.28    

         201,057.94        

    15,309.76        

      1,016.92      

          545.93

         217,930.55  

Kwality Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

The risk parameters are same for all financial assets for all period presented. The Group considers the probability of  default upon initial recognition of  
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an on-going basis throughout each reporting period. In general, it is presumed 
that credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition if  the payments are more than 30 days past due. A default on a financial asset is when the 
counter party fails to make contractual payments when they fall due. This definition of  default is determined by considering the business environment in
which entity operates and other macro-economic factors.
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31 March 2017 Less than 1 
year

Total

Non-derivatives

Borrowings

Trade payable

Other financial liabilities

Security deposits

Total

Between 1 and 
2 years

Between 2 and
 3 years

More than 
3 years

                117,114.26       

    10,127.96      

          753.05  

              608.74 

               128,604.01 

          14,884.69            
           -                

         -                 
        -

-
             14,884.69   

          15,248.50           
           -                
         -                 
        -

-
          15,248.50   

      28,363.50      
           -                
         -                 
        -

-
        28,363.50    

         175,610.94      

      10,127.96     

           753.05        

        608.74        

  187,100.70 

C Market Risk
 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of  future cash flows of  a financial instrument will fluctuate because of  change in market price. Market risk comprises of  

three type of  risk namely foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and price risk.

 Foreign exchange risk
 The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from foreign currency transactions (imports of  materials), primarily

with respect to the US Dollar, Euro etc. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the company’s functional currency. The Group does not hedge its foreign exchange receivables/payables.

Foreign currency risk exposure:

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

USD INR USD INR

Export trade receivable

Balance with banks - Export Earner in Foreign Credit (EEFC)

Trade Advance received

Import trade payable

Buyers credit payable

Import capital creditors payable

Foreign currency loan (Union Bank of  India - UK)

   23,030,845.42     

        2,854.87       

    68,964.40   

      391,837.17     

                  -      

                   - 

     13,295,698.50 

        14,980.21       

           1.86        

        44.86    

          254.87 

                    -      

                 -      

       8,648.07 

   29,648,212.26      

   372,756.21    

       68,964.40    

                    -      

                    -        

                  -   

   13,999,997.62 

          19,223.49

                241.69

               44.72

                    -

            -

                   -

       9,077.40

Sensitivity
The sensitivity of  profit or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly from foreign currency denominated financial instruments.

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

USD sensitivity

INR/USD- increase by 5% (31 March 2017 5%)

INR/USD-decrease by 5% (31 March 2017  5%)
               306.20       

        (306.20)
               519.39   
           (519.39)

Interest rate risk
The Group’s fixed rate borrowings are carried at amortised cost. They are therefore not subject to interest rate risk as defined in Ind AS 107, since neither 
the carrying amount nor the future cash flows will fluctuate because of  a change in market interest rates.

The Group’s variable rate borrowing is subject to interest rate. Below is the overall exposure of  the borrowing:

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Variable rate borrowing

Fixed rate borrowing

Total borrowings

        176,261.97      

       5,969.60

         182,231.57  

        110,552.59     

      55,617.15

        166,169.74  

Sensitivity
Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest expense from borrowings as a result of  changes in interest rates.

Particulars 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Interest rate sensitivity

Interest rates – increase by 50 basis points (previous year 50 bps)

Interest rates – decrease by 50 basis points (previous year 50 bps)

               911.16     

          (911.16)

               830.85    

          (830.85)

Under the Group risk management policy, the management closely monitor the viable options and accordingly discontinued the interest rate swap agreement in 
the current year as it became loss scenario.

Price risk
Group does not have any price risk as it does not hold any material investment.

Kwality Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)
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Note 44
Fair value measurements
(i)Fair value hierarchy
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of  financial position are grouped into three Levels of  a fair value hierarchy. The three 
Levels are defined based on the observability of  significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for financial instruments.
Level 2:  The fair value of  financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use
 of  observable market data rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
Level 3:  If  one or more of  the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

(ii) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value – recurring fair value measurements

iii) Financial instruments measured at amortised cost
•  The carrying amounts of  Trade receivables, Trade payables, capital creditors and cash and cash equivalents are considered to be the same as their fair values, 

due to their short-term nature.
•  The fair value of  security deposits were calculated based on cash flows discounted using current lending rate which is not materially different from the rates at 

which they were initially measured. Therefore the carrying value is considered to be fair value of  the security deposits.
•  The fair value of  non-current borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using current borrowing rate which is not  materially different from the rates at 

which they were initially measured. Therefore the carrying value is considered to be fair value of  the non-current borrowings.

iv) Valuation process and technique used to determine fair value
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

(a) The use of  quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments
(b) The fair value of  the remaining financial instruments is determined based on adjusted net assets method.

 -  Risk adjustments specific to the counterparties (including assumptions about credit default rates) are derived from credit risk grading determined by 
the Company’s internal credit risk management group.
All of  the resulting fair value estimates are included in level 2.

Note 1 :
The fair value of  derivative financial instrument pertains to upside interest payable to lenders of  the Company has been certified by a practicing chartered 
accountant. The fair value of  derivative financial instruments is based on quoted prices and inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

31 March 2018 Classification

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instrument

Financial assets

Investment in mutual funds*

 Notes  Level 1 

 FVTPL 

 Level 2  Level 3 Total

Note 1 350.72 350.72

 FVTPL 15.66 15.66

31 March 2017 Classification

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instrument

 Notes  Level 1 

 FVTPL 

 Level 2  Level 3 Total

Note 1         1,027.56 

*There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

        1,027.56 

- -

-

- -
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Kwality Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
(All amount in INR lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Note 45
The Group is primarily engaged in the business of  processing, manufacturing and trading of  milk, milk products & dairy products, which as per Indian Accounting 
Standard – 108 on ‘Operating Segments’ is considered to be the only reportable business segment.

A Revenue from external customers

India (Domiciled Country)

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

UAE

Other foreign countries

             655,118.38 

Total

               59,448.85 

               16,460.05 
             731,027.28 

        572,167.87 

          72,827.98 

          42,126.75 
        687,122.59 

B   The Group does not have revenue transactions with a single external customer amounting to 10 percent or more of  total group revenue.

C   The total of  non-current assets other than financial instruments, investments accounted for using equity method and deferred tax assets, broken down by 
      location of  the assets, is shown below:

India 

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Other foreign countries

               65,522.60 

Total non-current assets

                   686.72 

              66,209.32 

          71,099.08 

              622.06 

          71,721.14 

Note 46
Disclosure under Part III of  the Schedule III of  the Companies Act, 2013

Name of  the entity 
in the Group

Net assets i.e total assets 
- total liabilities

Share in profit and loss Share in other comprehensive 
income

Share in total comprehensive 
income

As a % of  
consolidated 

net assets

Amount
As a % of  

consolidated 
profit & loss

Amount
As a % of  

consolidated other 
comprehensive 

income

Amount
As a % of  

consolidated total 
comprehensive 

income

Amount

Kwality Limited - Parent

31 March 2018

31 March 2017

Subsidiary - Foreign

- Kwality Dairy Products FZE

31 March 2018

31 March 2017

Total 2018

Total 2017

88.83%

89.37%

   111,624.78

     99,852.92  

77.01%

84.63%

   7,111.11

  16,430.06 

-203.83%

0.97%

      (22.76)    

   (1.57)

76.67%

85.33%

            7,088.35     

      16,428.49 

11.17%

10.63%

     14,034.65 

     11,877.24 

22.99%

15.37%

   2,123.49

    2,984.84 

303.83%

99.03%

       33.93    

 (160.55)

23.33%

14.67%

            2,157.42    

         2,824.29 

100.00%

100.00%

   125,659.43  

  111,730.17 

100.00%

100.00%

  9,234.59

  19,414.91 

100.00%

100.00%

       11.17   

  (162.12)

100.00%

100.00%

           9,245.76 

          19,252.79 

Note 47
The Company has in past couple of  years invested in development of  new manufacturing facility for production of  ‘Value Added Products’ at Softa (Palwal). 
In view of  the said expansion and to part fund the working capital requirements there has been a delay in payment of  Income Tax and interest thereon. Also 
refer below note for details on delay on payment  of  undisputed taxes:

Name of  the statute Remarks, if  anyNature of  the 
dues

Net amount 
payable

Financial Year Due date

Income tax Act,1961

Income tax Act,1961

Income tax Act,1961

Income tax Act,1961

Income tax 

Income tax 

Payment of  advance tax

Interest on Income tax

4,255.79

4,902.93

2,854.50

47.45

2015 - 16

2016 - 17

2017 - 18

2014 - 15

 30 November 2016 

 30 November 2017 

 Represents advance tax payable 
till 15 September 2017.  

 7 March 2018 

Refer Note 1

Refer Note 1

Net tax payable for the 
year INR 6,343.32 
lakhs. Refer Note 1

Rectification application 
under section 154 has 
been filed on 12 April 
2018. 

Note 1: Excludes interest on unpaid income tax amounting to INR 2,379.60 lakhs.

Note 48
Trade payables includes foreign currency balances INR 254.87 lakhs outstanding for a more than six months from the date of  goods receipt note (GRN). Similarly 
trade receivables includes foreign currency balances INR 8,781.77 lakhs which is pending for collection more than nine months from the date of  the invoices. The 
Company believes that there will be no significant penalty on account of  foreign exchange payable and receivable delay.

Note 49
Income tax search u/s 132 of  Income Tax Act, 1961 was conducted on 22 August 2017. Subsequently, Company has received notices u/s 148 and 153A. Further 
the proceedings in this matter are yet to start. At this point of  time it is not possible to predict the outcome or ascertain the demand of  tax, if  any from the Income 
Tax Department accordingly no adjustments have been recorded in the financial statements. In addition to above notices, Company has also received two notices 
under section 276 (2) and 277 of  Income tax Act,1961 for Assessment year 2016-17 and 2017-18 dated 12 March 2018 and 27 March 2018 for penalty on non- 
payment of  taxes for aforesaid assessment years. However, at this stage no penalty has been imposed by department, therefore, it is not possible to predict the 
outcome in near future.
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Note 50
Having regard to enhanced production facility and planned funding, management is confident of  meeting all its liabilities, accordingly the financial statements 
have been prepared on a ‘going concern’ basis.

Note 51
The matter between Hindustan Unilevel Limited (HUL) and Company regarding entry into each others business areas under the brand name involving the 
word 'Kwality' is sub judice in Kolkata High Court. The subject matter took place after the Balance Sheet date.

Note 52
The figures for the previous periods have been regrouped/ rearranged wherever necessary.

For MSKA & Associates                                                                                                  For and on behalf  of  the Board of  Directors of  
Chartered Accountants                                                                                                        Kwality Limited
Firm's Registration No. : 105047W                                                                                     CIN No.:  L74899DL1992PLC255519

Amit Mitra                                                                                                                          (Sanjay Dhingra)  (Sidhant Gupta)

Membership No. 094518      
Managing Director                 DirectorPartner                                                                                                                           
[DIN:00025376]               [DIN:00555513]

Place: New Delhi
Date: 28 May 2018                                                                                                               (Satish Kumar Gupta)    (Pradeep K. Srivastava)
                                                                                                                                             Chief  Financial Officer        
                                                                                                                                              PAN : AEUPG2708P             

                                                                                                                                             Place: New Delhi
                                                                                                                                             Date: 28 May 2018

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-

Sd/-Sd/-
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Form AOC-I

(Pursuant to �rst provison to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)
Statement containing salient features of the �nancial statement of subsidiaries/ associate companies/ joint ventures

Par “A” : Subsidiaries

(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in ` ) Lakhs Lakhs

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

SI. No.

Name of the subsidiary

Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from the 
holding company’s reporting period

Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of the relevant 
Financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries.

Share capital

Reserves & surplus

Total assets

Total Liabilities

Investments

Turnover

Pro�t before taxation

Provision for taxation

Pro�t after taxation

Proposed Dividend

% of shareholding

1

Kwality Dairy Products FZE

Same 01- April 2017 to 31-Mar-18

AED exchange Rate 17.74

                                                       1,902.75 

                                                     14,034.65 

                                                     30,633.73 

                                                     14,696.33 

-

                                                     59,472.78 

                                                       2,123.49 

-

                                                       2,123.49 

-

                                                          100.00 

Notes  The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations

2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year.
NIL

NIL

 As per our Report of even date 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Kwality Limited 
CIN No:. L74899DL1992PLC255519 

FOR MSKA & ASSOCIATES  

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS  

Firm's Registration No. 105047W 

Sd/-
Sanjay Dhingra
Managing Director
DIN :- 0025376

Sd/-
(Satish Kumar Gupta)
Chief Financial Officer
PAN :- AEUPG2708P

Sd/-
Sidhant Gupta 
Director
DIN :- 00555513

Sd/-
Pradeep K. Srivastava
Company Secretary
M.No. :- FCS6763

Place : New Delhi
Date: May 28, 2018

Amit Mitra
Membership No:- 94518
Partner                       

Sd/-
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